MAYOR PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR

Riley Ramsey Michael Hurff Jr.
POLICE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER/CITY CLERK
Paul M. George Jr. Andrew Lehr

The City of Hardin is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting.

Council Meeting
of Tuesday, January 20, 2026

Held by virtual meeting and the Public is invited to attend in person.

Topics:
City of Hardin
Council Meeting — 01/20/2026 6:30 p.m.

Start Time: 6:30 p.m. Mountain Time
The meeting will open at 6:15 p.m.

If you will be logging into the Council meeting by:
Comguter: Please identify yourself by submitting your first and last name by using the “Chat” function.
Phone: Please identify yourself by stating your First and Last Name.

Join Zoom Meeting
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/9897104479?0mn=88222211362

Meeting ID: 989 710 4479
One tap mobile

+17193594580,,9897104479# US

+12532050468,,9897104479# US

Dial by your location

*+1 719 359 4580 US
* +1 253 205 0468 US

* +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma)

* +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston)
*+1 669 444 9171 US

* +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose)
*+1 309 205 3325 US

*+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago)
* +1 360 209 5623 US
* +1 386 347 5053 US
* +1 507 473 4847 US
*+1 564 217 2000 US

* +1 646 558 8656 US (New York)
* +1 646 931 3860 US
*+1 689 278 1000 US

*+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC)
* +1 305 224 1968 US
Meeting ID: 989 710 4479

Meetings are Audio Recorded ONLY
Montana Legislature House Bill 890

City of Hardin | 406 N. Cheyenne | Hardin, MT 59034 | 406-665-9260 Ext. 104 | hardinmt.com


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/9897104479?omn=88222211362
tel:+17193594580,,9897104479
tel:+12532050468,,9897104479

The City of Hardin
AGENDA 406 N. Cheyenne Avenue

Hardin, MT 59034
January 20, 2026

AUDIO RECORDING BEGINS
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 6:30 P.M.
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
ROLL CALL: Mayor:
Alderpersons: Steven Hopes Clayton Greer Chris Sharpe
George Toyne Jeremy Krebs Antonio Espinoza
CONSENT AGENDA:
Council Meeting  01/06/2026 Public Hearing  01/06/2026 Claims
PUBLIC COMMENT (agenda items only):
MAYOR:
o] City of Hardin 2026 Council Committee Appointments
COMMITTEE REPORTS:

e Personnel Committee/City Policy: Mayor
e Sewer & Water: Hopes
¢ Law Enforcement: Espinoza
e Streets & Alleys: Hopes
¢ Parks & Playgrounds: Krebs
¢ Finance/Landfill: Greer
¢ Resolutions and Ordinances: Sharpe
e Economic Development: Greer
SPECIAL COMMITTEES:
PETITIONS & COMMUNICATIONS:
o] City-County Planning Board Minutes
UNFINISHED BUSINESS:
O Adoption of Updates and Revisions to the City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations
O Geotechnical Bids - Visitor Center Site
0 City-County Planning Board Recommendation - Newcombe & Somes Variance
NEW BUSINESS:
0 Big Horn County - Project Presentation
Big Horn County Road Department - Peritsa Creek $30,595.32
Northcon, Inc. Pay App #6 - $521,507.25
Northcon, Inc. Change Order #2 - $71,800
Koehn - Request to waive portion of sewer bill - $1,080.15
Water Treatment Plant Preliminary Engineering Report (PER)

©O O 0 O o0 oo

RFQ - General Contractor/Construction Manager (GCCM) for Visitor Information Center

STAFF REPORTS

Public Works:

Finance: © First Interstate Bank Investment Account update

Police:

Legal: o Meeting with Big Horn County - Rocky Mountain Power

Economic Development:

RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES:

Resolution NO. 2428 - Adopting the City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations, January 2026

Resolution NO. 2429 - Adopting the Preliminary Engineering Report Evaluating the Water System for the City of Hardin

Resolution NO. 2430 - Authorizing Submission of Montana Department of Commerce Coal Board Application in Support
of the Purchase of a Dump Truck

PUBLIC COMMENT:

ANNOUNCEMENTS:
Local Government Review Study Commission Meetings: 3r4 Wednesday of each month, TBD Council Chambers

Business Licenses & Pet Licenses: Due by February 1,2026
Letters of Interest: City-County Planning Board due February 4, 2026
City of Hardin Job Openings: Full-time positions: Police Officer, Utility Billing Clerk / Cashier, & General Laborer - Landfill

Meeting adjourned at P.M.
AUDIO RECORDING ENDS

Additions to the Agenda can be voted on by Council to add to the Agenda for the next Council meeting.
Agenda items will need to be submitted by Wednesday noon before a Tuesday Council meeting.

Page 1 of 1



January 6, 2026 - Minutes

THE COMMON COUNCIL
CITY of HARDIN, MONTANA

PUBLIC HEARING: Adoption of Updates and Revisions to the City of Hardin Subdivision
Regulations was opened at 6:07 p.m. by Mayor Riley Ramsey.

Present at the hearing were:
Council Members: Steven Hopes, Clayton Greer, Chris Sharpe, George Toyne, and Jeremy Krebs

City Staff: Finance Officer/City Clerk Andrew Lehr, Public Works Director Michael Hurff, Jr.,
Deputy City Clerk Angela Zimmer, and City Attorney Jordan.

Also present physically and by virtual meeting: Several members of the public
Mayor Ramsey asked if there were any questions.

Corrina Kirschenmann-Kuntz reported Forrest Mandeville, Planning Advisor for the City-County
Planning Board, is online to go over the draft Subdivision Regulations.

Knudsen commended Mr. Forrest Mandeville for going through them. He noted from his overview
it does seem to be legally sufficient.

Greer asked about the age of mobile homes, 1976 is written in the regulations (page 6 of the draft);
adding Council adopted a twenty- year limit. Mandeville noted it can be replaced.

Laurie Tschetter voiced her thoughts about the age of mobile homes than can be brought into the
City and noted she thinks the twenty-year rule is a little bit outdated now.

Knudsen referenced City Code 11-1-2-36 subsection E.16 — 20 year limit on manufactured houses.
The subdivision regulations and city code should match, be congruent. There was discussion about
having read the document. Ramsey asked what supersedes what. Mandeville noted a clause can
be put in if there is a conflict between the Subdivision Regulations and City Code that the City
Code definition would trump it. Knudsen recommended to cover the entire set of regulations, not
just the one problem on page 6. Generally, City code controls, Subdivision Regulations are
secondary. Krebs asked if the City would have to have an additional public hearing if more time is
needed to make the decision. Knudsen suggested it is not a minor change; if there is an amendment,
it should be put on the next agenda to give the public a chance to review and make comment prior
to the action item on the agenda.

Mayor Ramsey asked if there was any comments or questions. There being no further discussion,
the Public Hearing adjourned at 6:22 p.m.

COUNCIL MEETING: The Regular Council Meeting for January 6, 2026 was called to order
at 6:30 p.m. with Mayor Riley Ramsey presiding by reciting the Pledge of Allegiance.

The following Aldermen were present: Steven Hopes, Clayton Greer, Chris Sharpe, George Toyne,
and Jeremy Krebs. Antonio Espinoza was excused.

Also present: Finance Officer/City Clerk Andrew Lehr, Public Works Director Michael Hurff, Jr.,
and Deputy City Clerk Angela Zimmer, and City Attorney Jordan Knudsen. Police Chief Paul
George, Jr. joined the meeting at 6:35 p.m.

Also present physically and by virtual meeting: Several members of the public
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS & CLAIMS: Sharpe made the motion to approve

the Council minutes as written for December 16, 2025. Motion seconded by Hopes. On a voice
vote the motion was unanimously approved.

1of5



January 6, 2026 - Minutes

Greer made a motion to approve the claims for January 6, 2026.

CLAIM No. Monthly Total

October, 2025 33202 $ 5,369.70

November, 2025 33203-33206, 33215-33216, 332 534,968.85
December, 2025 33200, 33207-33214, 33218-33219,

33241-33275 128,781.40

January, 2026 33220-33240 2,355.12

Claims Total (Expenditures) $ 671,475.07

December, 2025 249,570.80

TOTAL Submitted $ 921,045.87

Sharpe seconded. On a voice vote, the motion was unanimously approved.
PUBLIC COMMENT: N/A

MAYOR:
Mayor Ramsey read aloud a letter voicing he is excited about taking on the
responsibility as Mayor of Hardin.

COMMITTEE REPORTS:
Personnel Policy/City Policy:
Mayor Ramsey reported the City will be updating committee assignments.

Sewer & Water:
Law Enforcement:

Streets & Alleys:
Hopes reported Alley Clean Up started yesterday.

Parks & Playgrounds:
Krebs reported the City is currently waiting to hear back on the delivery and
installation date for the pavilion. (Police Chief Paul George, Jr. joined the meeting.)

Finance/Landfill:

Resolutions & Ordinances:

SPECIAL COMMITTEES:

PETITIONS & COMMUNICATIONS:
Mayor Ramsey reported the City received information for Newly Elected Officials
Training and a Newsletter form the Montana Department of Transportation.

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: N/A

NEW BUSINESS:

Council Committee Appointments were reviewed. Sharpe noted he would like to
step down as the Chairperson for the Impact Fee Advisory Committee since he is no
longer Chairperson for the Sewer and Water Committee. Krebs motioned to approve the
following committee appointments (read by Mayor Ramsey): Hopes as Chairperson of
Sewer and Water, Streets and Alleys — add Toyne, No change to Resolutions or
Ordinances, Landfill - Replace Massine with George Toyne, Law Enforcement — add
Toyne, Parks and Playgrounds, Finance and City Policy Manual — No Changes, and
Sharpe is stepping down as Chairperson of the Impact Fee Advisory Committee with

20f5



January 6, 2026 - Minutes

Clayton Greer as new Chairperson and add Toyne. Hopes seconded. On a voice vote the motion
was unanimously approved.

Greer nominated Krebs as President of the Board. Greer motioned for approval. Sharpe
seconded. On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved.

Mayor Ramsey noted the City is a member of the 500 Club. Tina Toyne reported she attended
the most recent meeting and the next meeting is January 12" at noon. Greer volunteered to be the
City representative to attend the 500 Club meetings. Knudsen reported the intent is to have a
standing committee for Economic Development upon Council approval. Sharpe motioned to create
an Economic Development Committee with Toyne as Chairperson, Greer, and Hopes as standing
members. Krebs seconded. On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved.

Mayor Ramsey reported there was a Public Hearing on Draft City of Hardin Subdivision
Regulations. Krebs motioned to table and look at it further. Toyne seconded. Corrina
Kirschenmann-Kuntz noted Mandeville is available to go over the document either by phone or in
person. Mandeville reported he used The Montana Association and Counties 2023 updated model
document, making changes specific to the City of Hardin and updating to 2025 legislative changes.
He provided a brief overview of subdivisions. There was further discussion about the draft. On a
voice vote the motion passed. (4/1) Sharpe voting Nay.

Lehr reviewed the Sewer Loan, Resolution NO. 2425, for the Wastewater Treatment Plant
Project. The loan from Rural Development (RD) will pay off the short-term State Revolving Fund
(SRF) with the long-term fixed loan from RD that will be paid for forty years. This long-term loan
is from the original round of funding from RD that was received in 2019. Krebs motioned to
approve. Sharpe seconded. On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved.

Mayor Ramsey reported three bids were submitted for Geotechnical report for the Visitor’s
Information Center site. Lehr reported the purpose of report is to test the soil conditions on the
property. Big Horn County contributed $15,000 to the project. His request is to go with SK
Geotechnical, lowest bidder at $9,200, for the project. Krebs motioned to approve the lowest bid
of $9,200 with SK Geotechnical. Greer asked about the travel fees. Sharpe noted there was a
difference in the letter and the recommendation. Lehr noted he will have to look into it. Krebs
withdrew his motion. Sharpe motioned to table the bids. Hopes seconded. On a voice vote the
motion was unanimously approved.

STAFF REPORTS:
Public Works:

Hurff reported: Landfill - The new water truck is being repaired under a safety recall and
the County will be dumping the canisters at the canister site. Water Treatment Plant - They are
working on intake meters; he received the Draft Preliminary Engineering Report adding copies will
be available at his office for review; and the hill tank liner is doing good. Hurff reviewed a letter
that was sent by the water treatment plant to all residents. He noted the letter was required to be
sent by the state and referenced unregulated contaminants the state doesn’t currently regulate.
Streets — the crew has been working on the 300-gallon trash cans. The City has not currently
received a bill from the County for the blacktop work that was done on Peritsa Creek. Wastewater
Treatment Plant — Weekly meetings continue to be held on Tuesday mornings regarding the
project. Garbage - The new garbage truck was repaired under a safety recall. Parks — The crew
Is working to replace broken benches and he is looking into concrete cornhole boards for South
Park.

Finance:

Lehr reported the next pay application from Northcon, Inc. will be presented at the next
meeting along with a change order for the Wastewater Treatment Plant Project. The City received
$15,000 from Big Horn County and money from the Pilot Grant for the Geotechnical report. The
Lodge Grass Project is currently shut down for the winter season. The City will by applying for a
Coal Board Grant to help pay for the Visitor Center and a Community Development Block Grant
(CDBG) grant to help pay for an updated Capital Improvement Plan. City applied for a Montana
Coal Endowment Program (MCEP) grant to complement the CDBG. The city started the ClearGov
program that will help with the budgeting process. Bamboo, the new HR software, is working
really well; it provides easier access for people to apply for job positions.

3of5



January 6, 2026 - Minutes

Police:

Police Chief Paul George, Jr. reported the police department started their new
reporting system mid-December; adding the new CAD and Central Square system is
already paying for itself. He provided a review of how the system works. Chief George
reviewed calls for service; he reported two candidates for Police Officer will go before
the Police Commission; and one officer has resigned. There was discussion about the
use, certifications, and training of the Police Department K-9.

Legal:

Knudsen reported there is a closed session at the end of the Council meeting. He
reviewed a report he provided to Council of the amount of cases that came through City
Court; eight hundred and eight-five cases in 2025. He noted it is due to the City Police
Department; the investment and work with the Police Department has produced a large
increase in the number of cases in City Court.

Economic Development:

Toyne reported her primary focus has been on coordination, planning, and
reporting related to tourism and downtown development. She attended several meetings
by zoom and in person. She attended the local 500 Club Meeting in Hardin and the
Southeast Montana Tourism Board meeting in Forsyth, MT; and several zoom meetings
that focused on tourism related topics that included wayfinding and the visitor center.
Toyne reported she has been working on completing the 4" quarter report for the
Montana Main Street Program and noted she will continue to support tourism initiatives,
coordination efforts, and reporting responsibilities and updates as projects move forward.

RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES:

Resolution NO. 2425 — Relating to $2,121,000 Sewer System Revenue Bond,
Series 2026; Confirming the Issuance Therof and Security Therefor and
Making Certain Designations and Covenants in Respect of the Bond. The
resolution was voted on in New Business. Krebs motioned to approve. Sharpe seconded.
On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved.

Resolution NO. 2426 — Granting A Certain Elected Official Authority to Sign for
Bank Account and Certificates. Greer motioned to approve the resolution. Hopes
seconded. On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved.

Resolution NO. 2427 — Granting A Certain Elected Official Authority to Sign for
Bank Account and Certificates. Sharpe motioned to approve the resolution. Krebs
seconded. On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved.

Resolution NO. 2428 - Adopting the City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations,
January 2026. The resolution was tabled under New Business with Krebs motioning to
table and look into it further. Toyne seconded. On a voice vote the motion passed.
(4/1) Sharpe voting Nay.

PUBLIC COMMENT:

Jose Funke, resident, asked questions about the Police Commission, a Police Policy
Book, and Police Officer s. Knudsen and Police Chief Paul George, Jr. addressed the
questions.

ANNOUNCEMENTS:

Mayor Ramsey reported Local Government Review Study Commission
Meetings are held the 3™ Wednesday of each month in Council Chambers; Letters of
Interest to serve on the City-County Planning Board are due January 9, 2026; a City-
County Planning Board Public Hearing for the Newcombe and Somes Variance is
scheduled for Monday, January 12, 2026 at 7:00 p.m. in Council Chambers; City Offices
are closed Monday, January 19, 2026 for Martin Luther King Day; and Business Licenses
are due by February 1, 2026. The City of Hardin has the following Job Openings: Full-
time positions for Police Officers, Utility Billing Clerk/Cashier, and General Laborer -
Landfill.

The Council Meeting Closed at 7:55 p.m. for a CLOSED SESSION - Legal.

4of 5



January 6, 2026 - Minutes

The Closed Session began at 8:02 p.m.

Greer motioned to adjourn the meeting at 8:15 p.m. Hopes seconded. On a voice vote the motion
was unanimously approved.

Riley Ramsey, Mayor

ATTEST:

Andrew Lehr, Finance Officer/City Clerk

50of5



























CITY OF HARDIN

2026
Council Committee Appointments
PRESIDENT OF THE BOARD
Jeremy Krebs

SEWER AND WATER LAW ENFORCEMENT
Steve Hopes — Chairperson Antonio Espinoza — Chairperson
Clayton Greer Chris Sharpe
Chris Sharpe Clayton Greer

George Toyne
STREETS AND ALLEYS PARKS AND PLAYGROUNDS
Steve Hopes — Chairperson Jeremy Krebs — Chairperson
Jeremy Krebs Steve Hopes
Clayton Greer Chris Sharpe
George Toyne
RESOLUTIONS OR ORDINANCES FINANCE
Chris Sharpe - Chairperson Clayton Greer- Chairperson
Steve Hopes Jeremy Krebs

Antonio Espinoza

LANDFILL CITY POLICY MANUAL
Clayton Greer — Chairperson Mayor— Chairperson
Steve Hopes Jeremy Krebs

Chris Sharpe Antonio Espinoza

George Toyne

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Clayton Greer — Chairperson
Steve Hopes

George Toyne

IMPACT FEE ADVISORY COMMITTEE (Sewer & Water)
Clayton Greer — Chairperson
Steve Hopes
George Toyne
Vacant — Community Representative

Mayor available as needed on all committees.

Updated 01/07/2026


















CITY OF HARDIN
SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

January 20, 2026

As Amended and Adopted by:
Hardin City Council

Prepared to comply with the

Montana Subdivision and Platting Act as set forth in Title 76, Chapter 3,
Montana Code Annotated (MCA)

EXHIBIT A




The City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Resolution of Adoption is kept on file at the Hardin City
Hall and the Office of the Big Horn County Clerk and Recorder.

Copies of the Resolutions will be provided upon request.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEFINITIONS ..o 1
. GENERAL PROVISIONS ... 12
I-A. TR s 12
I-B. AUENOTTEY <ottt r e 12
I-C. PUIDOSE L.ttt r e e nr e e e e nnne e 12
I-D. LU 1o T £ o] o PSSR 13
I-E. SEVEIADTIILY ...t 13
I-F. Public Hearing and NOLICE ........c.coveiiiiiiecse ettt s 13
I-G. CONSLIUCTION THMING...cutitiitiitiete ittt ere s 14
I-H. TranSTer OF THHIE.. ..o e 14
I-1. Permission t0 ENTEN .......cvoiiiiiiiiiie e 15
I-J. WAITANCES ..ttt ettt ettt e et se et e s s e st e be e s e s beete e beareeseenbesseesaesseeneenreeneeneas 15
[-J-1. VarianCes AULNOTIZEA ........viviiiiieieeee e 15
1-J-2. Variances from Floodway Provisions Not Authorized.............ccccovvieiiiiiiniinnnne 15
[-J-3. VArTANCE CIITEIIA. ... vevieiieiieiiii ettt se et nre s 15
I-J-4. PIOCRAUIE ...ttt 16
I-J-5. CONAITIONS ...ttt bbb 16
[-J-6. StAtEMENT OF FACTS.....eiviiieiiece et e 16
I-K. Amendment of REQUIATIONS...........coiiiiiiii s 16
I-L. AAMINISITALION.....etive et ereenis 16
[-L-1. ENTOICEMENT....ciiieeeee ettt enens 16
I-L-2.  Violation and PENAITIES ..........cceieiiveiiie e 17
[-L-3.  SChedUIE OF FEES: ..ot e 17
[-L-4. APPRAIS .. e 17

1. General ProCedures .........cuieiiiiiieieese e 19
I-A. PrElimINAry PIALS ........cooieiiiiicie s 19
[1-A-1. Pre-appliCation PrOCESS.......ccciviiiie ettt st 19
[1-A-2.  Subdivision Application and Preliminary Plat Submittal ...............ccccooeiiiiinne 21
[1-A-3. REVIBW PIOCESS ...ttt sttt sttt e e e nee e 23
I-A-4.  Amended APPIICALIONS ........cceiiiieeeee e 25
I1-A-5.  Amending Approved Preliminary Plats Before Final Plat Approval................... 26
I1-A-6.  Extension of Preliminary Plat Approval Period [Section 76-3-610, MCA]. ....... 27
11-B. Final Plats [Section 76-3-611, MCA]......cccooiiiiiiiiinie e 28
[1-B-1.  FiNal Plat CONTENTS........eoiiiiiieee et 28
[1-B-2.  Final Plat Initial REVIEW .........oooiiiiiiie e 28
[1-B-3.  Subdivision Improvements Agreement: GUAranty..........cccoceeervererenereneinsienens 30
[1-B-4.  Final Plat APProval ..........oooo oo 31
[1-B-5.  Final PIat FiliNg .....ccoviiiie e s 32

[1-B-6.  Amending Filed PIAtS..........cccvoiiiiiiice st 32



1. REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCEDURES FOR MINOR SUBDIVISIONS 34

I-A. First Minor SUDQIVISIONS .....ccvveiieiiieie ettt 34
[11-A-1.  First Minor SubdiviSion REVIEW ...........ccviiiiiiiiineieesse s 34
I1I-A-2.  First Minor Subdivision Application and Preliminary Plat Submittal ................. 34
I1I-A-3.  First Minor Subdivision Exceptions [Section 76-3-609(2)(d) and (e), MCA]..... 34
[11-A-4.  First Minor SubdiviSion REVIEW PrOCESS.........cccuveririerieinisisese e 34
I1I-A-5.  First Minor Planning Board Recommendation and Governing Body Consideration and

D= To] 1] T o SRR 36
I1I-A-6.  Amended Applications Prior to Governing Body DeciSion.............ccocvevervinnenne. 40
I1I-A-7. Subdivider’s Preference for Mitigation .........ccocervreriereneeneneeeneseese e 40
[11-A-8.  First Minor Subdivision Final PIat............cccccooiiiininiiies e 40

II-B.  Subsequent MinOr SUDAIVISIONS ...........oiiiieieiiisiriisie e 41

I11-C.  Administrative Minor SUDJIVISIONS .......c.cccviieiiiiiie i 41
[H1-C-1.  Criteria to BE MEL .. ..o e 41
I11-C-2. Exemptions for Administrative Minor SubdiviSion.............cccoovviiieieniiiinns 41
[11-C-3.  Subdivision AdmMINIStrator REVIEW..........ccciviiiiieriirieieisesesese e esneenens 41
I1I-C-4. Objections to Subdivision Administrator REVIEW ..........cccccvvevvevienenieeveseeieene 42
[11-C-5.  Other REQUITEIMENTS .......c.viiiiiieieiieieeeeeee et 42

V. REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCEDURES FOR MAJOR SUBDIVISIONS43

IV-A.  Review and Approval Procedures for Major Subdivisions ...........cccovvvvvveevcinenienne. 43
IV-A-2. Subdivision Application and Preliminary Plat Submittal ...............ccccooeiiiiinne 44
IV-A-3. Phased Subdivision and Preliminary Plat Submittals [Section 76-3-617, MCA].44
IV-A-4. Time Period for Approval, Conditional Approval, or Denial ..........c..ccccccevvennenee. 45
IV-A-5.  Amended Applications Prior to Public Hearing ...........cccccoovvvviininenenencens 46
IV-A-6. Planning Board Recommendation and Governing Body Consideration and

DT 1 o] SRS 46

IV-A-7. Subdivider’s Preference for Mitigation .........c.ccevvreeieieiienenieiesesee e 51

IV-A-8. Amended Applications Following the Public Hearing ..........cccccoocvvvviiiicinenenne. 51
IV-A-9. Governing Body Meeting — Consideration of New Information [Section 76-3-615,

1O OSSPSR 51

IV-A-10. Subsequent Public Hearing [Section 76-3-615(4), MCA]. .....cccccovvvvvieveieinene. 52

IV-B.  MaJOr FINAl PIALS ........ooviiiiiiiiie e e 52

V. EXPEDITED SUBDIVISION REVIEW ......cooiiiiiiiiiiiciee e 53

V-A. REGUITEMENTS. ...ttt ettt st et e e s eeeneebesneeeeseeeneeneas 53

V-B. (=] 1 ] 011 0] SRR 53

V-C. Subdivision AppliCatioN REVIEW ..........c.coviiiiiiiiiiie e 53

V-D. GOVErning BOY REVIBW .......c.oiuiiieiiieiee ettt et 54

V-E. T 1=] 015 1SS 55

V-F. UnIawTUul RESEIICTIONS. ... ..oviiiee et 55

V-G. Applicable MSPA REQUITEMENTS ......covviiiieieeieee et 55

VI. DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS .....ccooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie 56




VI-A.  Conformance With ReQUILIONS ...........ooiiiiiiiiireeee e 56

VI-B. Natural ENVIFONMENT ..ottt sne s 56
VI-C. Lands Unsuitable for SUDIVISION ..........ccooviiiiieiiiiee e 56
VI-D.  Floodplain Provisions [Section 76-3-504(1)(f), MCA]. ..o 56
VI-E. IMPrOVEMENT DESIGN ...evviiveciicie sttt st sr e s pe e e sresree e 57
VI-F. Lots [Section 76-3-504(1)(Q)(1), MCA]. oo 57
VI-G. BIOCKS. ...ttt 58
VI-H.  Streets and Roads [Section 76-3-504(1)(9)(i), MCA]. ..o, 58
VI-1. POSEAL SEIVICE ...ttt ettt saeeneenaeere e 64
VI-J. Stormwater Drainage FaCilitieS ..........cccooeiieiieiiiiic e 64
VI-K. Water SUPPIY SYSTEMS. ...t 64
VI-L.  Wastewater Treatment SYSIEMS .....ccoiiiiiiiiiie s e e snnee e 65
VI-M.  Utilities [Section 76-3-504(1)(g)(iV), MCA]. ... 66
VI-N.  Water Course and Irrigation Easements [Section 76-3-504(1)(k)and (I), MCA]....... 66
VI-O. Disposition of Water Rights [Section 76-3-504(1)(j), MCA]. ..c.ccoevveviiivciiieiren, 67

VI-P. Park Land Dedication — Cash in Lieu — Waivers — Administration [Sections 76-3-504(1)(h)
AN 76-3-621, MCA] ..ottt ettt e e st st sttt e e e neenn 67
VI-Q.  Fire Protection [Section 76-3-501(1)(i), MCA]. .cceoiiiiiieiicecee e 69
VI-R.  Fire Protection Water SUPPIIES. ..o 70
VI-S.  Special Requirements for Subdivisions Proposed in Areas of High Fire Hazard ...... 72
VI-T. NOXIOUS WEBUS. ...ttt te sttt ste st et srneseenbesnaenesteeneeneas 73
VI-U.  LandSCape BUFTEE .......oviiice e 73
VII. CONDOMINIUMS, TOWNHOMES OR TOWNHOUSES..........coooviiiiienee. 74
VIH-A.  EXEMPLIONS .....oiiiiiic ettt te e s be s be et e s beebe e besreesresteeneeras 74
RV L o o Tor =T [ -SSR 74
VI-C.  DEeSIGN SEANUAITS. ..ottt 75
VI1II. DIVISIONS OF LAND EXEMPT FROM SUBDIVISION REVIEW............. 76
VIHT=AL PUIPOSE ..ottt ettt r et nee et r e nre e reennes 76
VII-B. Exemption EXamination PrOCESS.........ccciviiiiiaiiieieesiesteeieste e svesre e ste e sre e e 76
VI1I-B-1. General Submittal and Administrative Procedures..........ccooevvrvevereseennsnennenns 76
VIHI-B-2. EXeMPion REVIEW CrItErIa.....cveveiieiiiiiiiiiie et 78
VI11-B-3. General Requirements for EXEMPLIONS .........cocvoveiiiieieneiie e 79
VIII-C. Requirements for Specific EXEMPLIONS .........coviiiiiiirieiecesse e 79

VI1I-C-1. Gift or Sale to a Member of the Immediate Family [Section 76-3-207 (1)(b),

1O ST 79

VI11-C-2. Divisions of Land for Agricultural Use Only [Section 76-3-207 (1)(c), MCA]:. 81
VI11-C-3. Relocation of Common Boundaries and Aggregation of Lots [Section 76-3-207 (1) (a),

(d),(8), and (F), MCA]: ..o 83
VI11-C-4. Exemption to Provide Security for a Construction Mortgage, Lien or Trust Indenture
[Section 76-3-201 (1)(10), MCA it 84

VI1I-C-5. Division for Rights-of-way or Utility Site [Section 76-3-201 (1)(h), MCA]: ..... 86



VI111-C-6. Court Ordered Divisions [Section 76-3-201 (1)(a), MCA]: ..o, 87

VI1I-C-7. Condominiums, Townhomes, or Townhouses [Section 76-3-203, MCA]. ......... 87
VI111-C-8. Exemptions not requiring action by the subdivision administrator. .................... 88
VIHI-C-9. IdentifiCation COUBS .......cveieeiitiie ettt sb e e s eareas 89

APPENDIX A: UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR MONUMENTATION, CERTIFICATES
OF SURVEY, AND FINAL SUBDIVISIONPLATS ..o 91

SUPPLEMENT 1: REQUEST FOR PREAPPLICATION MEETING

SUPPLEMENT 2: LIST OF POTENTIAL AGENCY CONTACTS

SUPPLEMENT 3: ELEMENT CHECKLIST

SUPPLEMENT 4: FINAL PLAT APPROVAL FORM

SUPPLEMENT 5: MODEL SUBDIVISION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT

SUPPLEMENT 6: ACCEPTABLE FORMS OF IMPROVEMENTS GURANTEES

SUPPLEMENT 7: IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT

SUPPLEMENT 8: SUBDIVISION AND PRELIMINARY PLAT APPLICATION
SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

SUPPLEMENT 9: ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT

SUPPLEMENT 10: SUMMARY OF PROBABLE IMPACTS



SUPPLEMENT 11: COMMUNITY IMPACT REPORT

SUPPLEMENT 12: SUBDIVISION EXEMPTION CLAIM APPLICATOIN

SUPPLEMENT 13: SAMPLE AGRICULTURAL COVENANT REMOVAL

SUPPLEMENT 14: FEE SCHEDULE



DEFINITIONS

Whenever the following words or phrases appear in these regulations, they shall have the meaning
assigned to them by this section. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the present
tense include the future; the singular, unless otherwise specifically defined in a particular section,
includes the plural, and the plural the singular; the word “shall” is always mandatory, and the word
“may” indicates use of discretion in making decisions.

1. ACCESS (LEGAL AND PHYSICAL):

a. Legal access means that each lot in a subdivision either abuts a public (city, county,
state, or federal) street or road, or that the subdivider has obtained adequate and appropriate
easements across all necessary properties, from a public road to each lot in the subdivision,
whether a road has been constructed on that property and has dedicated the easement or
private road for public use or for the use of the subdivision.

b. Physical access means that a street or road conforming to the subdivision design
standards provides vehicular access to each lot in the subdivision, either from a public
street or road, from a road constructed to local road standards in the obtained easements
which is dedicated to public use, or from a private road improved to local road standards
which has been dedicated to public use or for the use of the subdivision.

2. ADJOINING LANDOWNER (ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNER): The owner of
record of a parcel of land that is contiguous, at any point, or land that is separated from the
parcel by a road, watercourse, or deeded right-of-way.

3. AGRICULTURE: All aspects of farming, including the cultivation and tillage of the soil;
dairying; and the production, cultivation, growing, and harvesting of any agricultural or
horticultural commodities, including commodities defined as agricultural commodities in
the federal Agricultural Marketing Act and the raising of livestock, bees, fur-bearing
animals, or poultry; and any practices, including forestry or lumbering operations,
performed by a farmer or on a farm as an incident to or in conjunction with farming
operations, including preparation for market or delivery to storage, to market, or to carriers
for transportation market, excluding any consideration of whether the proposed subdivision
will result in a loss of agricultural soils.

4. AGRICULTURAL COVENANT: A covenant running with the land approved by the
governing body which restricts the land to agricultural uses only [Section 76-3-207(1)(c),
MCA] and can only be removed pursuant to Section 76-3-211, MCA|].

5. AGRICULTURAL WATER USER FACILITIES: Those facilities which provide water
for agricultural land as defined in 15-7-202, MCA, or which provide water for the
production of agricultural products as defined in 15-1-101, MCA including, but not limited
to ditches, pipes, and head gates.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 1 of 149



. ARM: Administrative Rules of Montana.

BASE FLOOD ELEVATION: The computed elevation to which floodwater is anticipated
to rise during a flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given
year. A base flood is the same as a flood of 100-year frequency. [36.15.101(4) ARM].

BLOCK: A group of lots, tracts, or parcels within well-defined and fixed boundaries. Such
boundaries may include streets, railroads, irrigation ditches, streams, platted lands, or a
combination thereof.

. CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY: A drawing of a field survey prepared by a professional
land surveyor for the purpose of disclosing facts pertaining to boundary locations. [Section
76-3-103 (1), MCA].

10. CLUSTER DEVELOPMENT: A subdivision with lots clustered in a group of five or more
lots that is designed to concentrate building sites on smaller lots while allowing other lands
to remain undeveloped. [Section 76-3-103 (2), MCA].

11. COMMERICIAL USE: The purchase, sale, or transaction involving the disposition or
storage of any article, substance, commodity, or service, maintenance or conduct of offices,
professionals, or recreational or amusement enterprises conducted for profit and including
renting of rooms, business offices, and sale display rooms, and premises, which includes
mobile home and recreational vehicle parks.

12. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, MASTER PLAN, OR GROWTH POLICY: means a
comprehensive development plan, master plan, or comprehensive plan that was adopted
pursuant to Title 76, Chapter 1, MCA, before October 1, 1999, or a policy that was adopted
pursuant to Title 76, Chapter 1, MCA, on or after October 1, 1999. When a growth policy
has been approved, subdivision regulations must be made in accordance with the growth
policy. [Section 76-1-606, MCA].

13. CONDOMINIUM: A form of individual ownership with unrestricted right of disposal of
one or more units in a multiple unit project, with the land and other parts of the project held
in common ownership or use with owners of the other units, pursuant to Title 70, Chapter
23, MCA.

14. CONSOLIDATED LAND USE BOARD: Commonly called the City of Hardin-Big Horn
County City-County Planning Board, the Board operates as a Consolidated Land Use Board
pursuant to 76-1-114, MCA, having the roles and duties of a planning board, zoning
commission, and board of adjustment.

15. COVENANT (RESTRICTIVE COVENANT): A limitation contained in a deed or other
document that restricts or regulates the use of the real property.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 2 of 149



16.

17.
18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

DEDICATION: The deliberate appropriation of land by an owner for any general and
public use, reserving to the landowner no rights that are incompatible with the full exercise
and enjoyment of the public use to which the property has been devoted. [Section 76-3-103
(3), MCA].

DEQ: The Montana Department of Environmental Quality.

DIVISION OF LAND: The segregation of one or more parcels of land from a larger tract
held in single or undivided ownership by transferring or contracting to transfer title to or
possession of a portion of the tract or properly filing a certificate of survey or subdivision
plat establishing the identity of the segregated parcels pursuant to the MSPA. The
conveyance of a tract of record or an entire parcel of land that was created by a previous
division of land is not a division of land. [Section 76-3-103 (4), MCA].

DWELLING UNIT: Any structure or portion thereof providing complete, independent,
and permanent living facilities for one household.

[This definition is from 76-3-621(10)(b), Park Land Dedication: dwelling unit™ means
a residential structure in which a person or persons reside.]

[This definition is from the Residential Landlord Tenant Act, 70-24-103(6): "'Dwelling
unit™ means a structure or the part of a structure that is used as a home, residence, or
sleeping place by a person who maintains a household or by two or more persons who
maintain a common household. Dwelling unit, in the case of a person who rents space
in a mobile home park and rents the mobile home, means the mobile home itself.]

EASEMENT: Authorization by a property owner for another to use, or restriction on the
right of the owner to use, all or a portion of the owner’s property for a specified purpose.

ENGINEER (PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER): A person licensed and registered in
conformance with the Montana Engineers' and Land Surveyors' Act [Title 37, Chapter 67,
MCA] to practice engineering in the State of Montana.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: A component of a subdivision application for
major subdivisions that provides information needed for the assessment of impacts from
subdivision on agriculture, agricultural water users’ facilities, local services, national
environment, wildlife, wildlife habitat, and public health and safety. The contents of an
environmental assessment shall be pursuant to Section 76-3-603, MCA.

EXAMINING LAND SURVEYOR: A registered land surveyor appointed by the
governing body to review surveys and plats submitted for filing. [Section 76-3-103(5),
MCA].

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 3 of 149



24. EXPEDITED SUBDIVISION REVIEW: An expedited review process for subdivisions
that meet the requirements for the review process. The governing body must opt into this
statutory review process by resolution. [Section 76-3-628, MCA].

25. FINAL PLAT: The final drawing of the subdivision and dedicate required by the MSPA
to be prepared for filing for record with the county clerk and recorder and containing all
elements and requirements set forth in the MSPA and these subdivision regulations.
[Section 76-3-103(6), MCA].

26. FLOOD: The water of any watercourse or drainway that is above the bank or outside the
channel and banks of such watercourse or drainway [Section 76-5-103 (8), MCA].

27. FLOOD HAZARD AREA: The area at and below the base flood elevation.

28. FLOOD OF 100 YEAR FREQUENCY: A flood magnitude expected to recur on the
average of once every 100 years or a flood magnitude that has a 1% chance of occurring in
any given year. [Section 76-5-103 (9), MCA].

29. FLOODPLAIN: The area adjoining the watercourse or drainway that would be covered by
the floodwater of a flood of 100-year frequency [Section 76-5-103 (10), MCA].

30. FLOODWAY: The channel of a watercourse or drainway and those portions of the
floodplain adjoining the channels that are reasonably required to carry and discharge the
floodwater of any watercourse or drainway [Section 76-5-103 (11), MCA].

31. GOVERNING BODY: The governing authority of the City of Hardin (City Council) or
Big Horn County (County Commissioners) as appropriate and as organized pursuant to law
[Section 76-3-103 (7), MCA].

32. HOUSING DEDICATION: A dedication of real property is prohibited, which includes a
payment or other contribution to a local housing authority or the reservation of real property
for future development of housing for specified income levels or specified sale prices. [See,
Section 76-3-514, MCA].

33. IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT: A contractual agreement that may be required by the
governing body to ensure the construction of such improvements as required by local
subdivision regulations. The improvement agreement may require collateral to secure the
construction of such improvements, such as the deposit of certified funds, irrevocable letters
of credit, performance, or property bonds, private or public escrow agreements, or similar
financial guarantees. [See, Section 76-3-507, MCA].

34. INDUSTRIAL USE: The manufacture, fabrication, processing or reduction of any article,

substance, or commodity or any other treatment thereof in such a manner to change the form
character or appearance thereof. It shall include trucking facilities, rail facilities, mining,

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 4 of 149



35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

warehousing, and product, materials or equipment storage, and businesses serving primarily
industry and similar enterprises.

LANDOWNER: All individuals, groups, or parties with a title interest in the property. For
purposes of Section 76-3-207, MCA, when a parcel of land for which an exemption from
subdivision review is claimed is being conveyed under a contract-for-deed, the terms
“property owner,” “landowner,” and “owner” mean the seller of the parcel under the
contract-for-deed (24.183.1104 ARM). For all other purposes of these regulations, the terms
“property owner,” “landowner,” and “owner” mean both the seller and the purchaser under
a contract for deed.

LOCAL FIRE AUTHORITY: A local fire district, fire service area, or the county
fire marshal. [See Title 7, Chapter 33, MCA].

LOCAL SERVICES: Any and all services or facilities that local government entities are
authorized to provide.

LOT: A parcel, plot, or other land area created by subdivision.

LOT MEASUREMENT:

a. Lot Depth -- The length of a line drawn perpendicularly to the front lot line and
extending to the rear lot line.

b. Lot Width -- The average width of the lot.
c. Lot Frontage -- The width of the front lot line.

d. Net Lot Area -- The gross lot area less the area within any existing or proposed
public or private street, road or easement for ingress and egress, and less the area
within any existing or proposed easement wherein the owner of the lot is prohibited
from using the surface of the land. Included in the net area is the area lying within
public utility easements, sanitary sewer easements, landscaping easements, and
other such easements wherein the owner of the lot is not prohibited from using the
surface of the land.

e. Gross Lot Area -- the total area, measured in a horizontal plane, within the
boundary lines of a lot.

LOT TYPES:
a. Corner Lot: A lot located at the intersection of two streets.

b. Interior Lot: A lot with frontage on only one street.

¢c. Through or Double-Frontage Lot: A lot whose front and rear lines both abut on
streets.

d. Flag Lot: A lot of irregular shape, the bulk of which is normally situated to the rear
of other lots, having as its frontage and access a drive connecting it to a street.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 5 of 149



41.

42.

43.

44,

45.

46.

MAJOR SUBDIVISION: A subdivision that creates six or more lots from a tract of record.
Subsequent minor subdivisions are also reviewed as major subdivisions.

MCA: Montana Code Annotated.

MINOR SUBDIVISION: A subdivision that creates five or fewer lots from a tract of
record. [Section 76-3-103(9), MCA].

a. ADMINISTRATIVE MINOR SUBDIVISION: A subdivision meeting the
requirements of subsection 76-3-609(6), MCA.

b. FIRST MINOR SUBDIVISION: A proposed subdivision of a tract of record that:
i has not been subdivided or created by a subdivision; or

I has not resulted from a tract of record that has had more than five parcels
created from that tract of record under Section 76-3-201 or 76-3-207, MCA
since October 1, 2003. [Section 76-3-609(2), MCA].

c. SUBSEQUENT MINOR SUBDIVISION: A proposed subdivision which is the
second or subsequent minor subdivision that does not result in a total of more than
five parcels created by subdivision or has not resulted from a tract of record that
has had more than five parcels created from that tract of record under 76-3-201 or
76-3-207 since October 1, 2003. [Section 76-3-609(2), MCA]. A subsequent minor
subdivision is reviewed as a major subdivision.

MOBILE (MANUFACTURED) HOME: A detached residential dwelling unit, which
may consist of two or more sections, designed to be towed on its own chassis to a building
site for occupation as a dwelling with or without a permanent foundation, which in the
traveling mode is eight body feet or more in width or forty body feet or more in length, or,
when erected on-site is 320 or more square feet in size. Mobile homes are designed to be
used as a dwelling for human occupancy upon connection to required utilities, including
plumbing, heating, and electrical systems. The term includes, but is not limited to, “trailer
homes,” “house trailers,” and “manufactured homes” whether the unit has been constructed
after July 1, 1976, in conformance with Federal Manufactured Home Construction and
Safety Standards. The term does not include “modular” or “factory-built buildings” that are
fabricated at a factory in accordance with the Uniform Building Code Standards applicable
to site-built homes and are transported to the site for final assembly on a permanent
foundation. [42 U.S.C. 3535(d), 5403, 5404, and 5424].

MOBILE (MANUFACTURED) HOME SPACE: A designated portion of a parcel of
land designed for the accommodation of one mobile home and its accessory buildings or
structures for the exclusive use of the occupants.

MOBILE (MANUFACTURED) HOME PARK: A tract of land that provides or will
provide two or more spaces for rent or lease in which a mobile home will be placed.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 6 of 149



47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

57.

MOBILE (MANUFACTURED) HOME PAD: That area of a mobile home space which
has been prepared for the placement of a mobile home.

MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY MINIMUM
STANDARDS: Minimum standards promulgated by the Montana Department of
Environmental Quality, pursuant to Title 76, Chapter 4, Part 1, MCA.

MONUMENT (PERMANENT MONUMENT): Any structure of masonry, metal, or
other permanent, durable material placed in the ground, which is exclusively identifiable as
a monument to a survey point, expressly placed for surveying reference. [24.183.1101(1)(a)
ARM].

MSPA: Montana Subdivision and Platting Act, Title 76, Chapter 3, MCA.

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT: The physical conditions which exist within a given area,
including land, air, water, minerals, flora, fauna, sound, light, and objects of historic and
aesthetic significance

NO BUILD ZONE: An area in which no building or structure may be constructed or
otherwise placed. A No Build Zone is generally intended to mitigate potentially adverse
impacts.

OPEN SPACE: Land or water areas retained for use as active or passive recreation areas
or for resource protection in an essentially undeveloped state.

ORDINARY HIGH-WATER MARK: The line that water impresses on land by covering
it for sufficient periods to cause physical characteristics that distinguish the area below the
line from the area above it. Characteristics of the area below the line include, when
appropriate, but are not limited to deprivation of the soil of substantially all terrestrial
vegetation and destruction of its agricultural vegetative value. [36.2.402(6) A.R.M.].

PHASED DEVELOPMENT: A subdivision application and preliminary plat that at the
time of submission consists of independently platted development phases that are scheduled
for review on a schedule proposed by the subdivider. [Section 76-3-103(10), MCA].

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (P.U.D.): A land development project consisting of
residential clusters, industrial parks, shopping centers, or office building parks that compose
a planned mixture of land uses built in a prearranged relationship to each other and having
open space and community facilities in common ownership or use [Section 76-3-103 (10),
MCA].

PLANNING BOARD: A planning board formed pursuant to Title 76, Chapter 1, MCA.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 7 of 149



58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

PLAT: A graphical representation of a subdivision showing the division of land into lots,
parcels, blocks, streets, alleys, and other divisions and dedications. [Section 76-3-103 (12),
MCA].

a. Preliminary Plat: A neat and scaled drawing of a proposed subdivision showing
the layout of streets, alleys, lots, blocks, and other elements of a subdivision that
furnish a basis for review by a governing body as more specifically set forth in these
regulations and the MSPA. [Section 76-3-103(13)].

b. Einal Plat: The final drawing of the subdivision and dedication required to be
prepared for filing for record with the county clerk and recorder containing all
elements and requirements set forth in these regulations and the MSPA. [Section
76-3-103(6), MCA.

c. Amended Plat: The final drawing of any change to a filed platted subdivision, or
any lots within a filed platted subdivision.

d. Vacated Plat: A plat which has been voided under the provisions of Sections 76-
3-305, 7-5-2501, 7-5-2502, 7-14-2616 (1) and/or (2), 7-14-2617, 7-14-4114 (1)
and/or (2), and 7-14-3115, MCA.

PRE-APPLICATION SKETCH (OR DRAWING): A legible drawing showing
approximate boundaries, dimensions, areas, distances, and other pertinent information of a
proposed subdivision, all as more particularly set forth in Section II-A-1 of these
regulations. [See Section 76-3-504(q), MCA].

PRIVATE IMPROVEMENT: Private improvements are the same types of improvements
as defined under PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS, except the structure or facility has not been
dedicated to the public or otherwise acquired by a government entity for public use.

PRIVATE ROAD: A road is private if its right-of-way has neither been dedicated nor
acquired for public use. A private road may be open to use by the public or public access
may be restricted.

PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY: condition of optimal well-being, free from danger,
risk, or injury for a community at large, or for all people, not merely for the welfare of a
specific individual or a small class of persons.

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT: Any structure or facility constructed to serve more than one
lot in a subdivision which is dedicated to the public, for the use of the subdivision, or
otherwise acquired by a government entity for public use. Examples of typical public
improvements include parks, streets or roads, sidewalks, curbs, gutters, and street lighting,
utilities, and systems for water supply, sewage disposal, drainage, or fire protection.

PUBLIC ROAD OR STREET: A road or street is public if its right-of-way has been
dedicated or acquired for public use.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 8 of 149



65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

PUBLIC USE: Easements or rights-of-way providing vehicular or pedestrian access to and
within a subdivision which are dedicated for full public use and access.

RECREATIONAL CAMPING VEHICLE: A vehicular type unit primarily designed as
temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use that either has its own
motor power or is mounted on or drawn by another vehicle. The basic types of RVs are
camping trailers, fifth wheel trailer, motor home, park trailer, travel trailer, and truck
camper. Recreational Camping Vehicles are designed to be used as a temporary living
quarter for human occupancy without connection to required utilities, including plumbing,
heating, and electrical systems. [See Section 50-60-101(16), MCA].

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE PAD: A designated location in a Recreational Vehicle
Space that identifies where recreational vehicles must park during occupation, and where
all other uses unless specifically authorized are prohibited.

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE PARK: A tract of land where two or more spaces for rent
or lease in which a recreational vehicle will be placed, that is available to and principally
used by the public for camping.

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE SPACE: A designated portion of a recreational vehicle
park designed for the placement of a single recreational vehicle, the exclusive use of its
occupants and their personal belongings including automobiles, outdoor storage etc.

RESIDENTIAL USE: A dwelling unit designed for permanent occupancy by a single-
family, two-family, or multifamily containing facilities for cooking, living, and sleeping.
These units include boarding or rooming houses. Residential use does not include transient
accommodations, such as: hotels, motels, dormitories, fraternity or sorority houses, or
tourist cabins.

REVIEWING AUTHORITY: The DEQ or local Board of Health or Sanitarian as
authorized under Title 76, Chapter 4, MCA.

RIGHTS-OF-WAY:: A linear public way established or dedicated for public purposes by
a duly recorded plat, deed, easement, grant, prescription, condemnation, governmental
authority or by operation of law, intended to be occupied by a street, non-motorized vehicle
path, railroad, electric transmission lines, water line, sanitary sewer line, storm sewer line,
or other similar uses.

STATE: The State of Montana.

STRUCTURE: A structure includes, but is not limited to, culverts, irrigation facilities,
earthen berms or dams, and fences.

SUBDIVIDER: Any person, firm or corporation, or other entity which causes land to be
subdivided or which proposes a subdivision of land [Section 76-3-103 (15), MCA]. When

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 9 of 149



76.

77.

78.

79.

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

used in these regulations, the term "subdivider” may also include the property purchaser on
a contract for deed or its agent, or the landowner's agent, if the landowner has provided the
subdivision administrator written notification that the landowner's agent is authorized to act
on the landowner's behalf and to receive notices regarding local government decisions
concerning the subdivision.

SUBDIVISION: A division of land or land so divided which creates one or more parcels
containing less than 160 acres that cannot be described as a one-quarter aliquot part of a
United States government section, exclusive of public roadways, in order that the title to or
possession of the parcels may be sold, rented, leased, or otherwise conveyed and includes
any re-subdivision and a condominium [Section 76-3-103 (16), MCA].

SUBDIVISION ADMINISTRATOR: The person or persons authorized by the governing
body to perform the duties of review and administration set forth in these regulations.

SURVEYOR (PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR): A person licensed in
conformance with the Montana Engineers' and Land Surveyors' Act (Title 37, Chapter 67,
MCA) to practice surveying in the State of Montana.

SURVEYOR (EXAMINING LAND SURVEYOR): A professional land surveyor duly
appointed by the governing body to review surveys and plats submitted for filing. [Section
76-3-103(5), MCA].

SWALE: A drainage channel or depression designed to direct surface water flow.

SUBDIVISION GUARANTEE: A report from an authorized title insurer or title insurance
producer on the condition of title to the property proposed for subdivision, which identifies
the owners of record of the property, lien holders, encumbrances, easements and restrictions
of record, and all other conditions of title of public record, and accompanied by a guarantee
of the accuracy of the report from the title insurance agent or its underwriter. [Section 76-
3-612, MCA].

TOPOGRAPHY:: General term to include characteristics of the ground surface such as
plains, hills, mountains, slopes, and other physiographic features.

TOWNHOME or TOWNHOUSE: Property that is owned subject to an arrangement
under which persons own their own units and hold separate title to the land beneath their
units, but under which they may jointly own the common areas and facilities. [Section 70-
23-102(18), MCA].

TRACT OF RECORD: An individual parcel of land, irrespective of ownership, that can
be identified by legal description, independent of any other parcel of land, using documents
on file in the records of the county clerk and recorder’s office [Section 76-3-103 (17)(a),
MCA].

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 10 of 149



85. U.S.C: United States Code.

86. VICINITY SKETCH: A map at a scale suitable to locate a proposed subdivision, showing
the boundary lines of all adjacent properties and streets and other information necessary to
determine the general location of the proposed subdivision all as more particularly set forth
in Subsection I1-A-1 of these regulations.

87. WATER AND SANITATION INFORMATION: The information required under 76-3-
622, MCA, and to be submitted with the subdivision application. [Section 76-3-601(1),
MCA].

88. WATERCOURSE: Any depression 2 feet or more below the surrounding land serving to
give direction to a current of water at least 9 months of the year and having a bed and well-
defined banks. [Section 76-4-103(16), MCA].

89. WILDLIFE: Living things which are neither human nor domesticated.

90. WILDLIFE HABITAT: Place or type of site where wildlife naturally lives and grows.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 11 of 149



|. GENERAL PROVISIONS

I-A. Title

These regulations will be known and may be cited as “The City of Hardin Subdivision
Regulations”; hereinafter referred to as “these regulations.”

I-B. Authority

Authorization for these regulations is contained in the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act
(“MSPA”) [Title 76, Chapter 3, MCA].

I-C. Purpose

The purposes of these regulations are to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare by
regulating the subdivision of land; to prevent the overcrowding of land; to lessen congestion in the
streets and highways; to provide for adequate light, air, water supply, sewage disposal, parks and
recreation areas, ingress and egress, and other public requirements; to require development in
harmony with the natural environment; to promote preservation of open space; to promote cluster
development approaches that minimize costs to local citizens and that promote effective and
efficient provision of public services; to protect the rights of property owners; and to require
uniform monumentation of land subdivisions and transferring interests in real property by
reference to a plat or certificate of survey, and provide for phased development. [Section 76-3-
102, MCA].

These regulations are intended to comply with MCA, Title 76, Part 5 of the MSPA, and are
intended to promote:

1. The orderly development of the jurisdictional area.

2. The coordination of roads within subdivided land with other roads, both existing and
planned.

3. The dedication of land for roadways and for public utility easements.
4. The improvement of roads.

5. The provision of proper physical and legal access, including obtaining necessary
easements.

6. The provision of adequate open spaces for travel, light, air, and recreation.
7. The provision of adequate transportation, water, drainage, and sanitary facilities.

8. The avoidance or minimizing of congestion.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 12 of 149



9. The avoidance of subdivisions which would involve unnecessary environmental
degradation.

10. The avoidance of danger or injury by reason of natural hazard or the lack of water, drainage,
access, transportation, or other public improvements.

11. The avoidance of excessive expenditure of public funds for the supply of public
improvements and services.

12. The manner and form of making and filing of any plat for subdivided lands.

13. The administration of these regulations by defining the powers and duties of approving
authorities, including procedures for the review and approval of all plats of subdivisions
covered by these provisions.

I-D. Jurisdiction

These regulations govern the subdivision of land within the jurisdictional area of the governing
body of the City of Hardin.

If a proposed subdivision lies partly within an incorporated city or town, the preliminary plat must
be submitted to, and approved by, both the city or town and the county governing body.

If a proposed subdivision is in a rural school district, the governing body shall provide a summary
of the information contained in the subdivision application and preliminary plat to school district
trustees.

When a proposed subdivision is also proposed to be annexed to a municipality, the governing body
of the municipality will combine public hearings and otherwise coordinate the subdivision review
process and annexation procedures whenever possible. [See Section 76-3-601(2), MCA].

These regulations supplement all other regulations, and where they are at variance with other laws,
regulations, ordinances, or resolutions, the more restrictive requirements apply. Other regulations
include, but are not limited to, zoning regulations, floodplain regulations, building codes,
development codes, buildings for lease or rent regulations, airport affected area regulations, lake
and lakeshore regulations, military affected area regulations and fire codes.

I-E. Severability

If a court of competent jurisdiction holds any word, phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, section,
or other part of these regulations invalid, that judgment will affect only the part held invalid.

I-F. Public Hearing and Notice

a. Hearing
I Public hearings for major subdivisions shall be held by the planning board.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 13 of 149



ii. When a hearing is required by these regulations, notice shall be posted
according to the requirements in Subsection I-F (b) below.

b. Notice

I. The planning board shall give notice of the time, dates, and location of the
hearing by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the county not
less than 15 days prior to the date of the hearing.

ii. At least 15 days prior to the date of the hearing, the planning board shall give
notice of the hearing by certified mail to the subdivider, each adjoining
landowner to the land included in the preliminary plat, and each purchaser under
contract for deed of property immediately adjoining the land included in the
preliminary plat.

I-G. Construction Timing

A person may not erect any facility for supply of water, disposal of sewage or solid waste, erect
any building or shelter that requires facilities for the supply of water, disposal of sewage, or solid
waste until the governing body has given conditional approval of the preliminary plat. In addition,
a person shall not begin construction on facilities to be used by the public such as roads, parks or
utilities until the governing body has given conditional approval of the preliminary plat.
Construction work undertaken prior to the preliminary plat approval subjects the subdivider to the
possibility the work will have to be redone or removed.

I-H. Transfer of Title

Except as noted below, a final subdivision plat must be filed for record with the county clerk and
recorder before title to the subdivided land can be sold or transferred in any manner. After the
preliminary plat of a subdivision has been approved or conditionally approved, the subdivider may
enter into contracts to sell lots in the proposed subdivision if all the following conditions are met
[Section 76-3-303, MCA]:

a. That under the terms of the contracts the purchasers of lots in the proposed subdivision
make any payments to an escrow agent, which must be a bank or savings and loan association
chartered to do business in the State of Montana;

b. That under the terms of the contracts and the escrow agreement the payments made by
purchasers of lots in the proposed subdivision may not be distributed by the escrow agent to the
subdivider until the final plat of the subdivision is filed with the county clerk and recorder;

C. That the contracts and the escrow agreement provide that if the final plat of the proposed
subdivision is not filed with the county clerk and recorder within two years of the preliminary plat
approval, the escrow agent shall immediately refund to each purchaser any payments made under
the contract;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 14 of 149



d. That the contracts contain the following language conspicuously set out therein: “The real
property which is the subject hereof has not been finally platted, and until a final plat identifying
the property has been filed with the county clerk and recorder, title to the property cannot be
transferred in any manner;” and

e. That the county treasurer has certified that no real property taxes assessed and levied on
the land to be divided are delinquent.

I-1. Permission to Enter

The governing body or its designated agent(s) or affected agencies identified during the pre-
application meeting may investigate, examine, and evaluate the site of the proposed subdivision to
verify information provided by the subdivider and to subsequently monitor compliance with any
conditions if the preliminary plat is approved conditionally. The submission of a subdivision
application constitutes a grant of permission by the subdivider for the governing body, its agents,
and affected agencies to enter the subject property. This consent applies to members of the public
attending a noticed public meeting being held by the planning board or governing body for a site
visit.

1-J. Variances

I-J-1. Variances Authorized

The governing body may grant variances from Section V1, Design and Improvement Standards, of
these regulations when due to the characteristics of land proposed for subdivision, strict
compliance with these standards would result in undue hardship and would not be essential to the
public welfare. A variance will not be granted if it would have the effect of nullifying the intent
and purpose of these regulations.

a. A public hearing is required to be held for variance requests for all major subdivisions. The
public hearing shall be held by the planning board pursuant to Subsection I-F (a). Notice of the
hearing on the variance request must be posted according to Subsection I-F (b). Public hearings
are not required for variance requests for minor subdivisions.

I1-J-2. Variances from Floodway Provisions Not Authorized

The governing body will not by variance permit subdivision for building purposes in areas located
within the floodway of a flood of 100-year frequency as defined by Title 76, Chapter 5, MCA.

1-J-3. Variance Criteria

The governing body will not approve a variance unless it finds that:

a. The granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or general
welfare or injurious to other adjoining properties;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 15 of 149



b. Due to the physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the property
involved, strict compliance with the regulations will impose an undue hardship on the owner.
Undue hardship does not include personal or financial hardship, or any hardship that is self-
imposed;

C. The variance will not cause a substantial increase in public costs; and
d. The variance will not place the subdivision in nonconformance with any adopted zoning
regulations.

[See Section 76-3-506, MCA].
I1-J-4. Procedure

The subdivider shall include with the submission of the preliminary plat a written statement
describing and justifying the requested variance. If during the review period a need for a variance
is identified, and the variance has not been specifically requested, the application can be deemed
insufficient, and the review period can be suspended until the issue is determined to be sufficiently
addressed. For applications being considered by the planning board, the planning board will
consider the requested variance and recommend its approval or denial to the governing body.
Variances will be considered before the analysis of the impacts of the subdivision on the primary
review criteria.

1-J-5. Conditions

In granting variances, the governing body may impose reasonable conditions to secure the
objectives of these regulations.

1-J-6. Statement of Facts

When a variance is granted, the motion to approve the proposed subdivision must contain a
statement describing the variance and the facts and conditions upon which the issuance of the
variance is based.

I-K. Amendment of Regulations

Before the governing body amends these regulations, it will hold a public hearing on the proposed
amendment. Notice of the time and place of the public hearing must be published in a newspaper
of general circulation in the county not less than 15 days or more than 30 days before the date of
the hearing.

I-L. Administration

I-L-1. Enforcement

Except as provided in Section 76-3-303, MCA, and Section I-H of these regulations, every final
subdivision plat must be filed for record with the county clerk and recorder before title to the

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 16 of 149



subdivided land can be sold or transferred in any manner. If unlawful transfers or uses are made,
the county attorney shall commence action to enjoin further sales or transfers and compel
compliance with all provisions of the MSPA and these regulations. The cost of this action shall be
imposed against the party not prevailing. [See Section 76-3-301, MCA].

I-L-2. Violation and Penalties

Any person, firm, corporation, or other entity who violates any of the provisions of the MSPA or
these regulations is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not less than $100 nor more
than $500 or by imprisonment in jail for not more than three months or by both fine and
imprisonment. Each sale, lease, or transfer, or offer of sale, lease, or transfer of each separate
parcel of land in violation of any provision of the MSPA or these regulations shall be deemed a
separate and distinct offense. [See Section76-3-105, MCA].

I-L-3. Schedule of Fees:

The required fee shall accompany the preliminary plat and final plat application. [Section 76-3-
604(1), MCA]. The review fee shall be paid to the governing body for each application reviewed
according to the fee schedule as approved and established by the governing body under a separate
document. No action shall be taken on applications or appeals until all application fees have been
paid in full. The governing body may require the subdivider to pay for third party review fees,
such as: Examining Land Surveying, Engineering, Montana Department of Environmental
Quality, and other planning consulting review fees and outside legal review if necessary.

I-L-4. Appeals

a. A person who has filed with the governing body an application for a subdivision under the
MSPA and these regulations may bring an action in district court to sue the governing body to
recover actual damages caused by a final action, decision, or order of the governing body or a
regulation adopted pursuant to the MSPA that is arbitrary, capricious or unlawful within 180 days
of the final action, decision, order or adoption of a regulation.

b. A party identified in Subsection (d) below who is aggrieved by a decision of the governing
body to approve, conditionally approve, or deny an application and preliminary plat for a proposed
subdivision or a final subdivision plat may, within 30 days after the written decision, appeal to the
district court in the county in which the property involved is located. The petition must specify the
grounds upon which the appeal is made. The governing body's decision, based on the record as a
whole, must be sustained unless the decision being challenged is arbitrary, capricious, or unlawful.

C. For the purposes of this section, “aggrieved” means a person who can demonstrate a
specific personal and legal interest, as distinguished from a general interest, who has been or is
likely to be specially and injuriously affected by the decision.

d. The following parties may appeal under the provisions of these regulations above in
Subsection (b):

I the subdivider;
City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 17 of 149



ii. a landowner with a property boundary contiguous to the proposed subdivision
or a private landowner with property within the county or municipality where
the subdivision is proposed if that landowner can show a likelihood of material
injury to the landowner's property or its value;

iii. the county commissioners of the county where the subdivision is proposed; and
Iv. one of the following municipalities:

A. a first-class municipality as described in Section 7-1-4111, MCA, if a
subdivision is proposed within 3 miles of its limits;

B. a second-class municipality, as described in Section 7-1-4111, MCA, if a
subdivision is proposed within 2 miles of its limits;

C. a third-class municipality, as described in Section 7-1-4111, MCA, if a
subdivision is proposed within 1 mile of its limits.

[Section 76-3-625, MCA].

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 18 of 149



1. General Procedures

*The provisions of this section apply to Sections 111, 1V, V, VI, VII, V111 and IX of these regulations.

11-A. Preliminary Plats

I1-A-1.Pre-application Process

a. Prior to submitting a subdivision application, the subdivider shall request a pre-application
meeting with the subdivision administrator. The meeting shall occur within 30 days after the
subdivider submits a written request for the meeting to the subdivision administrator. [Section 76-
3-504(1)(q)(i) and (iv), MCA].

b. At the time of the pre-application meeting request, the subdivider shall provide the
subdivision administrator a sketch of the proposed subdivision showing the layout of the proposed
features in relation to existing site conditions. It is recommended the representative and the
developer or landowner attend the pre-application meeting to avoid potential problems.

I The sketch may be a freehand sketch drawn directly on a print of a topographic
map of the area proposed for division at a scale of 1 inch to 400 feet or larger
that is adequate to show the property and must include the following:

A. Information on the status of the site, including:
1. location;
2. approximate tract and lot boundaries of existing tracts of record;
3. description of general terrain;
4. natural features on the land, including water bodies, floodplains

geologic hazards, and soil types;

5. existing structures and improvements;
6. existing utility lines and facilities serving the area to be subdivided;
and
7. existing easements and rights of way.
B. Documentation on the status of the site, including:
1. ownership information, such as a deed, option to buy or buy-sell

agreement, including permission to subdivide;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 19 of 149



C.

A
B.
C
D

E.

F.

G.
H.

2. water rights, including location of Agricultural Water User
Facilities;

3. any special improvement districts; and
4. rights of first refusal for the property
Information on the proposed subdivision, including:
tract and proposed lot boundaries;
proposed public and private improvements;
location of utility lines and facilities;
easements and rights of way;
parks and open space and proposed conservation easements;
existing zoning or development regulation standards;
existing conservation easements; and

existing covenants or deed restrictions.

At the pre-application meeting:

the subdivision administrator shall identify, for informational purposes, the
state laws, local regulations, and growth policy provisions that may apply to the
subdivision review process including but not limited to zoning regulations and
floodplain regulations; [Section 76-3-504(1)(q)(ii), MCA].

the subdivision administrator shall provide information on phasing, if
applicable;

the subdivision administrator shall provide the subdivider with a list of public
utilities, local, state, and federal agencies, and any other entities that have an
interest in the proposed subdivision and that may be contacted for comment by
the subdivision administrator or planning board on the subdivision application.
The subdivision administrator shall also identify the timeframes that the public
utilities, agencies, and other entities are given to respond; and [Section 76-3-
504(1)(q)(iii), MCA].

the subdivision administrator may identify additional information the
subdivision administrator anticipates will be required for review of the
subdivision application. This does not limit the ability of the subdivision
administrator to request additional information later.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 20 of 149



d. Unless the subdivider submits a subdivision application within 6 months of this pre-
application meeting, the subdivider must request a new pre-application meeting prior to submitting
the subdivision application. [Section 76-3-504(1)(q)(v), MCA].

11-A-2.Subdivision Application and Preliminary Plat Submittal

The subdivider shall provide the required copies of the preliminary plat and supplement materials
as determined by the subdivision administrator. All preliminary plats shall be 24 inch by 36-inch
size, 18 inch by 24 inch in size and/or 11 inch by 17-inch size as specified by the subdivision
administrator. The required copies of all supplemental materials shall be organized with a cover
sheet, table of contents identifying all the elements, identification tabs for each element listed
below and shall be bound in a three-ring binder for each set and ready for distribution. The
subdivider shall also provide the subdivision administrator with an electronic form (PDF format)
of all materials.

The subdivider shall submit to the governing body or to the agent or agency designated by the
governing body a subdivision application addressing these topics and containing the following
materials, all described in more detail in forms provided by the subdivision administrator, as
determined by the subdivision administrator: [See Sections 76-3-504(1), MCA].

1. A completed and signed Subdivision Application Form; [Section76-3-601(1),
MCA].

2. The required review fee; [Section 76-3-602, MCA].

3. A preliminary plat (and if applicable a preliminary site plan); [Section 76-3-
601(1), MCA].

4. A copy of the most current certificate of survey or subdivision plat pertaining to
the subject parcel to be subdivided; [Section 76-3-103(9), MCA].

5. A map showing the location of the nearest utilities; [Section 76-3-504(1)(g)(iv),

MCA].

6. A topographic map; [Section 76-3-504(1)(e), MCA].

7. A stormwater drainage plan developed by professional engineer; [Section 76-3-
504(1)(g)(ii), MCA].

8. If development is planned in phases, a phasing plan meeting the requirements of
Section IV-A-2; [Section 76-3-617, MCA].

9. Subdivision guarantee dated no more than 6 months prior to the date of

preliminary plat submittal; [Section 76-3-102(8), MCA].

10. Lienholder’s acknowledgement of the proposed subdivision;

11. Documentation of legal and physical access; [Section 76-3-608(3)(d), MCA].

12. Documentation of existing easements, including those for Agricultural Water User
Facilities; [Section 76-3-504(1)(k) and (I), MCA].

13. Existing covenants and deed restrictions; [Section 76-3-102(8), MCA].

14, Proposed covenants for the subdivision; [Section 76-3-102(8), MCA].

15. Existing water rights; [Section 76-3-504(1)(j), MCA].

16.  Existing mineral rights; [Section 76-3-102(8), MCA].

17. Names and addresses of all adjoining property owners, including purchasers under
contracts for deed; [Section 76-3-605(3), MCA].

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 21 of 149



18.

19.

20.
21.
22.
23.

24,
25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

Proposed road plans and profiles include the location and dimensions of the roads
developed by a professional engineer. [Section 76-3-504(1)(g)(i), MCA].
Approach/access/encroachment permits submitted to the Montana Department of
Transportation or the local jurisdiction; [Section 76-3-501(1)(d), (f) and (h),
MCA].

Proposed easements, including the location of nearest utilities; [Section76-3-
504(1)(g)(iv) and (m), MCA].

Proposed disposition of water rights; [Section 76-3-504(1)(j), MCA].

Proposed disposition of mineral rights; [Section 76-3-102(8), MCA].

Parkland dedication calculations, location of and description of proposed parkland,
or proposal for cash-in-lieu; [Section 76-3-621, MCA].

Environmental assessment for major subdivisions; [Section 76-3-603, MCA].
Summary of probable impacts for minor and major subdivisions; [Section 76-3-
603(1)(a)(ii) and (b), MCA].

Transportation impact analysis or traffic study developed by a professional
engineer (if identified during the preapplication meeting); [Section 76-3-501(1)(d),
(f) and (h), MCA].

Noxious Weed Management Compliance Plan; [Section 7-22-2152, MCA].
Narrative identifying the floodplain status of the subject property; [76-3-504(1)(f),
MCA].

Required water and sanitation information; [Section 76-3-622, MCA].

If applicable, will-serve letter from a municipal water and sewer service or by a
county water and/or sewer district created under 7-13-2203 that supplies both water
and sewer services; [Sections 76-3-609(6)].

Notice of intent to appropriate groundwater per DNRC rules or a completed
technical analysis for a permit or change application if new individual wells are
proposed and a water right has not yet been secured; [76-3-604(8)(c), MCA].
Letter requesting a revocation of agricultural covenants; [Sections 76-3-207(1)(c)
and 76-3-211, MCA].

Letter indicating locations of cultural or historic resources; [Section 76-3-621(7),
MCA].

Variance request; [Section 76-3-506, MCA].

Analysis and identification of the Base Flood Elevation (BFE) on the property
developed by a professional engineer (if identified during the preapplication
meeting); [Section 76-3-504(1)(f), MCA].

Letter identifying and proposing mitigation for potential hazards or other adverse
impacts as identified in the pre-application meeting and not covered by any of the
above required materials; [Section 76-3-504(1)(e), MCA].

If proposing a minor subdivision, a copy of each instrument of transfer for the
parcel or tract pertaining to the subject parcel filed or recorded since October 1,
2003. The instruments of transfer include but not limited to deed(s), certificate of
survey(s) or subdivision plat(s); and [Section 76-3-609(2), MCA].

Such additional relevant and reasonable information as identified by the
subdivision administrator that is pertinent to the required elements of this section.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 22 of 149



11-A-3.Review Process

For both minor and major subdivisions, the initial review process is as follows:

a. Element Review [Section 76-3-604(1)(b) and (3), MCA].

Within 5 working days of receipt of a subdivision application and fee, the
subdivision administrator shall determine whether the application contains all
the applicable materials required by Section I1-A-2 and shall give written notice
to the subdivider of the subdivision administrator's determination.

If the subdivision administrator determines that elements are missing from
the application, the subdivision administrator shall identify those elements
in the notification and take no further action until all the missing elements
have been submitted.

The subdivider shall submit additional information to correct the
deficiencies. The additional materials must be submitted in the form of one
paper copy and one electronic copy.

If the subdivider submits additional information to correct the deficiencies,
the subdivision administrator shall have 5 working days to notify the
subdivider whether the application contains all the materials required by
Section I1-A-2 Subdivision Application and Preliminary Plat Submittal as
applicable.

If the applicant does not submit information to correct the deficiencies
within 180 days following the subdivision administrator’s letter identifying
the missing elements, the application and file will be terminated. The
subdivision administrator shall notify the applicant 30 days prior to the
application being terminated.

This process shall be repeated until the subdivider submits an application
containing all the materials required by Section II-A-2, or the application is
terminated or withdrawn.

b. Sufficiency Review [Section 76-3-604(2) and (3), MCA].

Within 15 working days after the subdivision administrator notifies the
subdivider that the application contains all of the required elements as provided
in Subsection (a) above, the subdivision administrator shall determine whether
the application and required elements contain detailed, supporting information
that is sufficient to allow for the review of the proposed subdivision under these
regulations and shall give written notification to the subdivider of the
subdivision administrator's determination.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 23 of 149



A. If the subdivision administrator determines that the information in the
application is not sufficient to allow for review of the proposed subdivision,
the subdivision administrator shall identify specific required information in
its notification and no further action shall be taken on the application by the
subdivision administrator until all the materials identified as insufficient are
submitted.

B. The subdivider shall submit additional information to address the
insufficient items. The additional materials must be submitted in the form
of one paper copy and one electronic copy.

C. If the subdivider submits additional information to correct the deficiencies
in accordance with Subsection (i)(B) above, the subdivision administrator
shall have 15 working days to notify the subdivider whether the submitted
information and required elements contain detailed, supporting information
that is sufficient to allow for review of the proposed subdivision under these
regulations.

D. If the applicant does not submit information to correct the deficiencies
within 180 days following the subdivision administrator’s letter identifying
the insufficient items, the application and file will be terminated. The
subdivision administrator shall notify the applicant 30 days prior to the
application being terminated.

E. This process shall be repeated until the application contains detailed,
supporting information that is sufficient for review of the proposed
subdivision under the provisions of these regulations, or the application is
terminated or withdrawn.

ii. A determination that an application contains sufficient information for review
as provided in this Subsection (b) does not ensure that the proposed subdivision
will be approved or conditionally approved by the governing body and does not
limit the ability of the subdivision administrator, planning board, or the
governing body to request additional information during the review process. If
the subdivision administrator, planning board, or the governing body determine
there is not sufficient information to move forward with the review of the
subdivision, they shall notify the subdivider of the insufficient information and
the subdivision application shall be reviewed again for sufficiency when the
information is submitted pursuant to this section. All review periods are
suspended until the subdivision application is determined to be sufficient to
proceed.

iii. A determination of sufficiency by the subdivision administrator pursuant to this
subsection does not limit the DEQ from requiring additional water and

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 24 of 149



sanitation information as part of the DEQ review of water and sanitation
information.

C. Applicable Regqulations

Subdivision review and approval, conditional approval or denial shall be based on those
regulations in effect at the time a subdivision application and preliminary plat is deemed
to contain sufficient information for review. If regulations change during the element or
sufficiency review, the determination of whether the application contains the required
elements and sufficient information, and the subdivision review, shall be based on the new
regulations. [Section 76-3-604(9), MCA].

11-A-4. Amended Applications

a. If the subdivider changes the subdivision application or preliminary plat before the public
hearing for major subdivisions, or before the governing body makes its decision for minor
subdivisions, the subdivider shall submit the amended application or preliminary plat to the
subdivision administrator for review.

Within 5 working days of receiving the amended application or preliminary
plat, the subdivision administrator shall determine whether the changes to the
subdivision application or preliminary plat are material, as determined in
Subsection (c) below.

The applicable review period is suspended while the subdivision administrator
considers the amended application or preliminary plat.

If the subdivision administrator determines the changes are not material, the
applicable review period resumes when the subdivision administrator mails
notice of the decision to the subdivider.

If the subdivision administrator determines the changes are material, the
subdivision administrator shall either require the subdivider to schedule a new
pre-application meeting and resubmit the application and preliminary plat as a
new subdivision application or proceed with the applicable review period upon
certification from the subdivision administrator that the application is sufficient
for review.

b. By making changes to a pending subdivision application or preliminary plat, the subdivider
consents to suspension of the review period as provided above in Subsection (a)(ii).

C. The following changes, although not an exhaustive list, may be considered material:

configuration or number of lots;

road layout;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 25 of 149



configuration of park land or open spaces;

v, easement provisions;
V. designated access; or
Vi. changes to the proposed use of the lots.
d. A subdivider whose subdivision application or preliminary plat has been deemed materially

changed by the subdivision administrator may appeal the subdivision administrator’s decision to
the governing body. The subdivider may request a public meeting with the governing body for
first minor subdivision, or a public hearing with the governing body for major subdivisions and
may submit additional evidence to show that the changes to the preliminary plat are not material.

The applicable review period is suspended until the governing body’s decision
on the appeal is made.

If the governing body concludes that the evidence and information demonstrate
that the changes to the subdivision application or preliminary plat are material,
the governing body shall require the subdivision application and preliminary
plat to be resubmitted pursuant to Subsection (a)(iv) above.

If the governing body concludes that the evidence and information demonstrate
that the changes to the subdivision application or preliminary plat are not
material, the applicable review period resumes as of the date of the decision.

By appealing the decision of the subdivision administrator, the subdivider
agrees to suspension of the applicable review period provided in Subsection

(d)(@).

11-A-5. Amending Approved Preliminary Plats Before Final Plat Approval

a. If the subdivider proposes to change the preliminary plat after the preliminary plat approval
but before the final plat approval, the subdivider shall submit the proposed changes to the
subdivision administrator for review.

Within 5 working days of receiving the proposed changes, the subdivision
administrator shall determine whether the changes to the preliminary plat are
material pursuant to Subsection (b) below.

If the subdivision administrator determines the changes are material, the
subdivision administrator may either require a public hearing with the
applicable body for major subdivisions, or a meeting with the governing body
for minor subdivisions, or, if the changes are extensive, the subdivision
administrator may require the subdivider to begin the subdivision review
process again, starting with the pre-application meeting, and require payment
of a new application fee.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 26 of 149



iii. If the subdivision administrator determines the changes are not material, the
subdivision administrator shall accept the changes, notify the subdivider and
the governing body of that decision, and the governing body shall approve those
changes in a meeting for which notice has been given of non-material changes
to the preliminary plat.

b. The following changes, although not an exhaustive list, may be considered material:
i configuration or number of lots;
ii. road layout;

iii. configuration of park land or open spaces;

v, easement provisions;
V. designated access;
Vi, changes to the proposed use of the lots; or
vii.  changes to conditions of approval.
C. A subdivider whose proposed changes to the preliminary plat have been deemed material

by the subdivision administrator may appeal the subdivision administrator's decision to the
governing body by written notice within 10 working days. The subdivider may request a public
meeting with the governing body and may submit additional evidence to show that the changes to
the preliminary plat are not material.

d. If the subdivider and subdivision administrator determine that a condition of approval is
illegal or impossible to comply with due to circumstances outside the subdivider’s control,
economic hardship notwithstanding, the condition may be reviewed by the governing body through
a properly noticed public hearing for major subdivisions, or a public meeting with the governing
body for minors, to determine if the condition may be waived or amended.

11-A-6. Extension of Preliminary Plat Approval Period [Section 76-3-610, MCA.

a. At the end of the preliminary plat approval period the governing body may grant an
extension according to the following:

I The extension request is made by the subdivider in writing at least two weeks
prior to the expiration of the preliminary plat.

ii. All requests for extensions must be in writing and must provide responses to
the following criteria and supporting documentation, if any:

A. Progress to date in completing or demonstration and evidence of good
faith efforts to satisfy the required conditions of preliminary plat approval.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 27 of 149



B. Duration of the required extension and the ability of the subdivider to
meet the required conditions of preliminary plat approval within the
requested extension period.

C. Significant changes in the vicinity of the subdivision that have occurred
or are planned to occur within the requested extension period and whether
the preliminary plat conditions adequately mitigate the significant
changes. Significant changes constitute changes that may render the
subdivision non-compliant with current design standards, such as road
design, wildfire, or flood standards.

D. Consistency with adopted comprehensive planning documents, including
but not limited to, the jurisdiction's growth policy, annexation policy,
capital improvements plan, transportation plan, etc.

E. Impacts to public health, safety, and general welfare.

F. Planning and provisions of public facilities and services in the vicinity of
the subdivision and whether the requested extension conforms to those
plans and provisions.

iii. A public hearing must be held with notice published in accordance with Section 76-
3-605(3), MCA.

(\2 Any mutually agreed-upon extension must be in writing and dated and signed by
the members of the governing body and the subdivider or subdivider's agent.

b. The governing body may issue more than one extension.
11-B. Final Plats [Section 76-3-611, MCA].

11-B-1. Final Plat Contents

The final plat submitted for approval must conform to the preliminary plat as previously reviewed
and approved by the governing body and must incorporate all required modifications and comply
with all conditions imposed at the time of subdivision application and preliminary plat approval.
The final plat and accompanying documents must comply with the Montana Uniform Standards
for Final Subdivision Plats 24.183.1107, ARM (provided in Appendix A).

11-B-2. Final Plat Initial Review

a. Final Plat Submittal

A final plat is considered to be received on the date of delivery to the governing body or
the agent or agency designated by the governing body when accompanied by the review
fee submitted as provided in Section 76-3-602 MCA. The final plat approval application
form, which can be obtained from the subdivision administrator, and all supplementary

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 28 of 149



documents must be submitted to the subdivision administrator at least 60 working days
prior to the expiration of preliminary plat approval to accommodate for review time
according to Subsection 11-B-2 (b) and Section 11-B-5 of these regulations. The submittal
shall include, as applicable:

A complete final plat application and final plat meeting the requirements of the
Uniform Standards for Final Subdivisions Plats set forth in Appendix A;

the final plat review fee;

a written statement and full documentation from the applicant or their
representative outlining how each condition of approval has been satisfied;

b. Review by Subdivision Administrator

Within 20 working days of receipt of a final plat, the subdivision administrator
shall determine whether the final plat contains the information required in
Subsection 11-B-2 (a) and shall notify the subdivider or, with the subdivider's
written permission, the subdivider's agent of that determination in writing. If
the subdivision administrator determines that the final plat does not contain the
information required under subsections, the subdivision administrator shall
identify the final plat's defects in the notification.

The subdivision administrator may review subsequent submissions of the
final plat only for information found to be deficient during the original
review of the final plat under Subsection 11-B-2 (b)(i).

The time limits, provided in Subsection 11-B-2 (b)(i), apply to each
submission of the final plat until a written determination is made that the
final plat contains the information required under Subsection I1-B-2 (a). and
the subdivider or the subdivider's agent is notified.

Final plat applications will not be considered complete by the subdivision
administrator and will not be scheduled with the governing body until
materials demonstrating that all conditions of preliminary approval have
been satisfied are submitted.

If the subdivision administrator determines the final plat differs materially from
the approved or conditionally approved preliminary plat, the applicant shall be
required to submit the amendments pursuant to Section 11-A-5. The subdivider
may appeal the subdivision administrator’s decision according to the
procedures in Subsection 11-A-5 (d).

The subdivision administrator shall require that final subdivision plats be
reviewed for errors and omissions in calculation or drafting by an examining
land surveyor before recording with the Clerk and Recorder. When the survey
data shown on the plat meets the conditions pursuant to these regulations, the

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 29 of 149



examining surveyor shall certify the compliance in a printed or stamped signed
certificate on the plat.

The subdivision administrator may forward the application to the public works
director and/or county attorney, or county road department, requesting their
review. Any comments received shall be included in the subdivision
administrators’ report to the governing body.

Time periods for final plat review can be extended by mutual agreement in
writing.

11-B-3. Subdivision Improvements Agreement: Guaranty

a. As a condition of approval of the final plat, the subdivider must have installed all required
improvements or have entered into a subdivision improvements agreement guaranteeing the
construction, installation, and maintenance of all required improvements [Section 76-3-507,
MCA]. The governing body may require up to 100% completion of improvements related to public
health and safety, such as roads, firefighting facilities, and installation of utilities, before agreeing
to the use of a subdivision improvements agreement. If 100% completion is required, engineering
plans must be filed before approval of the final plat. A model subdivision improvements agreement
and alternative methods of guaranteeing required improvements, the procedures, and requirements
for securing an agreement, and suggested conditions for maintenance are available from the
subdivision administrator.

b. Security Guarantee

If the subdivider chooses to enter into a subdivision improvements agreement,
the subdivider shall submit estimated costs prepared by a professional engineer
licensed in the State of Montana for completing the required improvements.
The amount of the guarantee shall be 125 percent (125%) of the estimated cost.

The subdivider shall provide a monetary security guarantee for 125 percent
(125%) of the required improvements. Acceptable forms of guarantees are:

Irrevocable Letter of Credit from a financial institution or other reputable
institution subject to the approval of the governing body or designee;

A Surety Performance Bond to guarantee the funds to complete
improvements, subject to any requirements of the bonding company. The
bond shall be payable to the governing body and shall remain in effect until
the improvements have been completed and accepted by the governing
body; or

An Escrow Account where the subdivider has deposited cash, or collateral
readily convertible to cash at face value either with the governing body or
in escrow with a bank. The subdivider shall give the governing body an
agreement with the bank guaranteeing the following:

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 30 of 149



1. That the funds in the escrow account are to be held in trust until
released by the governing body and may not be used or pledged by
the subdivider as security for any obligation during that period,;

2. Should the subdivider fail to complete the required improvements,
the bank shall immediately make the funds in escrow available to
the governing body for completing these improvements.

C. Reduction and Release of Guarantee

I. Upon completion of the required improvements, the subdivider shall submit to
the governing body a statement certifying that:

A All required improvements are complete.

All required improvements follow the minimum standards specified by the
governing body for their construction if the governing body has standards.
If standards do not exist, the governing body may require improvements
following design plans prepared by a professional engineer licensed in the
State of Montana.

C. The developer knows of no defects in those improvements.
D. That these improvements are free and clear of any encumbrances or liens
E. All applicable fees and surcharges have been paid.

ii. In those cases where some improvement guarantees have been made in
Subsection I1-B-4 (b). above, the amount of the guarantee may be reduced upon
installation and acceptance by the governing body of the required
improvements. The amount of reduction shall correspond to 90 percent (90%)
of the value of the completed improvements. The reduction cannot include the
value of improvements that have not been completed.

iii. Upon completion of all the required improvements and certification of the items
in Subsection 11-B-4 (c). above, the governing body shall authorize the release
of any remaining portion of the improvement guarantee.

11-B-4. Final Plat Approval

a. Approval by the Governing Body

The governing body shall examine every final subdivision plat. If a determination is made
under Subsection I1-B-2 (b). that the final plat contains the information required under
Subsection 11-B-2 (a) the governing body shall review and approve or deny the final plat
within 20 working days.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 31 of 149



The governing body shall approve the final plat if it conforms to the conditions of
preliminary plat approval and to the terms of the MSPA and these regulations or deny it
pursuant to Subsection (ii) below.

I If the final plat is approved, the governing body shall certify its approval on the
face of the final plat. When applicable, a certificate of the governing body
expressly accepting any dedicated land, easements, or improvements will be
filed with the final plat.

ii. If the final plat is denied, the governing body shall write a letter stating the
reason for denial and forward a copy to the subdivider within 10 working days.
The governing body will return the final plat to the subdivider within 10
working days of the action. The subdivider may then make any necessary
corrections and resubmit the final plat for approval.

Time periods for final plat review may be extended by mutual agreement in writing.

b. Inaccurate Information

The governing body may withdraw approval of a final plat if it determines that material
information by the subdivider is inaccurate.

11-B-5. Final Plat Filing

After it is approved, the final plat may not be altered in any manner except as provided in Section
I1-B-7 below. The county clerk and recorder may not accept any plat for filing that does not bear
the governing body’s approval in proper form or that has been altered. The clerk and recorder may
file an approved plat only if it is accompanied by the documents specified in the Montana Uniform
Standards for Monumentation (24.183.1101, ARM), and Final Subdivision Plats (24.183.1107,
ARM), contained in Appendix A.

11-B-6. Amending Filed Plats

a. Changes that materially alter any portion of a filed plat, its land divisions, or improvements,
must be made by filing an amended plat showing all alterations. Any alteration which increases
the number of lots or modifies six or more lots or abandons or alters a public road right-of-way or
parkland dedication must be reviewed by the subdivision administrator and approved by the
governing body, and the amended plat shall be filed at the County Clerk & Recorder Office.

b. An amended plat that must be reviewed by the governing body is subject to the procedures
for reviewing major or minor subdivisions, as appropriate. The governing body may not approve
an amended final plat without the written consent of the owners and lienholders of all lots in the
subdivision which are affected or modified by the proposed amendment.

C. The governing body may not approve an amendment that will place a lot in non-
conformance with the standards contained in Section V1 of these regulations unless the governing

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 32 of 149



body holds a public hearing on the amendment and issues a written variance from the standards
pursuant to Section I-J, Variances.

d. The final amended plat submitted for approval must comply with the requirements for final
subdivision plats under the Uniform Standards for Final Subdivision Plats (refer to 24.183.1107,

ARM in Appendix A).

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 33 of 149



[11. REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCEDURES FOR MINOR
SUBDIVISIONS

11-A. First Minor Subdivisions

If the tract of record proposed to be subdivided has not been subdivided or created by a subdivision
or has not resulted from a tract of record that has had more than five parcels created from that tract
of record under Section 76-3-201 or 76-3-207, MCA since October 1, 2003, then the proposed
subdivision is a first minor subdivision. [Section 76-3-609, MCA].

I1-A-1. First Minor Subdivision Review

The pre-application process and initial review process set forth in Section 11, General Procedures,
apply to this section.

11-A-2. First Minor Subdivision Application and Preliminary Plat Submittal

The subdivider shall submit to the subdivision administrator a subdivision application containing
the materials identified in Section 11-A-2 and in the pre-application meeting.

11-A-3. First Minor Subdivision Exceptions [Section 76-3-609(2)(d) and (e), MCA].

The following do not apply to first minor subdivisions:

a. preparation of an environmental assessment;

b. public hearing requirements; and

C. parkland dedication.

11-A-4. First Minor Subdivision Review Process

a. Time Period for Approval, Conditional Approval, or Denial [Section 76-3-609(2)(a) and
(b), MCA].

Within 35 working days of receiving a complete and sufficient application, the governing
body shall approve, conditionally approve, or deny the proposed subdivision according to
Section 1l1-A-8 of these regulations, unless the subdivider and the subdivision
administrator agree to an extension or suspension of the review period, not to exceed one
year.

b. Public Agency and Utility Review [Section 76-3-504(1)(i) and (1)(q)(iii), MCA].

Review and comment by public agencies or utilities may not delay the governing body’s
action on the subdivision application beyond the 35-working day review period. The
governing body will make these comments available to the subdivider and to the public
upon request. If, during the review of the application, the Subdivision Administrator
City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 34 of 149



e

contacts a public utility, agency, or other entity that was not included on the list provided
during the pre-application meeting, the subdivision administrator shall notify the
subdivider of the contact and the timeframe for response.

Allowed Actions and Uses on a Subdivision Lot [Section 76-3-501(2), MCA].

Any action or land use that is not specifically prohibited in the conditions of subdivision
approval required by the governing body are specifically allowed unless otherwise subject
to additional restrictions that may be provided in the City’s subdivision and zoning
regulations.

Enforcement and Interpretation of Conditions of Approval [Section 76-3-501(3), MCA].

If the governing body has historically interpreted and enforced or chosen not to enforce a
condition of subdivision approval that has benefited a property owner, the governing body
may not undertake a different interpretation or enforcement action against a similarly
situated property owner located within the same subdivision.

Specific, Documentable and Defined Purpose or Objective for Conditions of Approval [76-

3-620(2), MCA].

f

If the governing body conditionally approves the proposed subdivision, each condition
required for subdivision approval must identify a specific, documentable, and clearly
defined purpose or objective related to the primary criteria set forth in the review criteria
found in 76-3-608(3) MCA and pursuant to Section Il11-A-7 that form the basis for the
conditions of approval.

Covenants and Homeowners Association Documents - Review and Approval [Section 76-

3-604(10)].

Unless otherwise provided by law, the governing body may review but does not have
approval authority of the governing documents (covenants and homeowners association
articles of incorporation) of the subdivision or amendments of these documents unless they
directly and materially impact a condition of subdivision approval for the subdivision.

Fees and Real Property Dedications for Housing [Section 76-3-514, MCA.

The governing body may not require, as a condition for approval of a subdivision:

I.  the payment of a fee for the purpose of providing housing for specified income
levels or at specified sale prices; or

ii.  the dedication of real property for the purpose of providing housing for specified
income levels or at specified sale prices.

Set Aside or Monetary Contribution for Agricultural Soils [Section 76-3-608(4), MCA].

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 35 of 149



The governing body cannot require a set-aside of land or monetary contribution for the loss
of agricultural soils under 76-3-608 MCA.

111-A-5.

First Minor Planning Board Recommendation and Governing Body

Consideration and Decision

The Planning Board consideration of the subdivision is the same process as followed by the
governing body. The Planning Board makes a recommendation to the governing body and the
governing body, after doing its own analysis, makes the final decision.

a. Prerequisites to Approval

The planning board may not recommend, and the governing body may not approve or
conditionally approve a subdivision application and preliminary plat unless the proposed
subdivision: [Section 76-3-608(3)(b), MCA].

Vi.

Vii.

provides easements for the location and installation of any planned utilities,
both on and off site;

provides legal and physical access to each parcel within the subdivision and the
notation of that access on the applicable plat and any instrument transferring
the parcel,

assures that all required public or private improvements will be installed before
final plat approval, or that their installation after final plat approval will be
guaranteed as provided by Section 11-B-4 of these regulations;

assures that the requirements of Section 76-3-504 (1)(j), MCA, regarding the
disclosure and disposition of water rights as set forth in Section VI-O, of these
regulations, have been considered and will be accomplished before the final plat
is submitted; and

assures that the requirements of Section 76-3-504 (1)(k) regarding watercourse
and irrigation easements as set forth in Section VI-N have been considered and
will be accomplished before the final plat is submitted.

For a proposed subdivision that will create one or more parcels containing less
than 20 acres, the subdivider shall obtain approval by the DEQ as a condition
of approval of the final plat. This approval applies to the development of lots at
the time of the approval and is no guarantee that a source of water or a location
for a septic system or drain fields will be available when the lots are developed.

For a proposed subdivision that will create one or more parcels containing 20
acres or more, the subdivider shall demonstrate in the preliminary plat
application that there is an adequate water source and at least one area for a
septic system and a replacement drain field for each lot. This information shall
be submitted to the local reviewing authority to complete the sanitation review

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 36 of 149



of parcels that do not fall under the review authority of DEQ. [Section 76-3-
622, MCA].

b. Consideration-Standards

In recommending or granting approval, conditional approval or denial of the subdivision
application and preliminary plat, the planning board or governing body shall base its
recommendation or decision on compliance of the subdivision application and preliminary
plat with the following:

I these regulations, including but not limited to the standards set forth in Section VI
Design and Improvements Standards;

ii. applicable zoning regulations;

iii. the MSPA, including but not limited to the following impacts under Section 76-3-
608(3)(a), MCA:

A. impact on agriculture, excluding a consideration of the loss of agricultural
soils;

B. impact on agricultural water user facilities;

C. impact on local services;

D. impact on the natural environment;

m

impact on wildlife;

F. wildlife habitat;

G. impact on public health and safety; and

H. proposed mitigation for the identified impacts.

(\2 other applicable regulations, such as, but not limited to Airport Affect Area
Regulations, Military Impact Zone Regulations, Lake and Lakeshore Regulations and
Floodplain Regulations.

Refer to the “Definitions” section at the beginning of these regulations for definitions for each of
the criteria listed above A. through G.

c. Consideration-Evidence

As the basis for recommending or granting approval, conditional approval or denial of the
subdivision application and preliminary plat, the planning board or governing body may
consider, without limitation, the following (as applicable): [Section 76-3-608(1), MCA].

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 37 of 149



i the subdivision application and preliminary plat;

ii. the summary of probable impacts and mitigation;

iii. an officially adopted growth policy;

v, subdivision administrator's staff report and recommendation;
V. relevant agency and public comments; and

Vi. any additional information authorized by law.

d. Written Recommendation of the Planning Board

Within 10 working days after the public meeting, the planning board shall submit the
following, in writing, to the subdivider and the governing body:

I recommended findings of fact based upon 76-3-620, MCA and the evidence in
subsection (a)(ii) above that discuss and consider the subdivision's compliance with and
impact on the items listed in subsection (a)(i) of these regulations;

ii. a recommendation for approval, conditional approval (including any recommended
conditions and/or mitigation measures), or denial of the subdivision application and
preliminary plat; and [Section 76-3-608(1), MCA].

iii. a recommendation for approval or denial of any requested variances (See Section
I-J). [Section 76-3-506, MCA\].

iv. The planning board or subdivision administrator shall collect public comment regarding
the water and sanitation information required by the MSPA and these regulations. The
water and sanitation information required to be submitted is detailed in 76-3-622, MCA.
The planning board shall forward all comments regarding water and sanitation to the
governing body. [Section 76-3-604(7)(a), MCA].

e. Documentation of Governing Body Decision

i. As the basis for its decision to approve, conditionally approve, or deny the proposed
subdivision [Section 76-3-608(1), MCA] the governing body shall issue written findings
of fact based upon 76-3-620, MCA that discuss and weigh the proposed subdivision’s
compliance with the above subsections, as well as the planning board’s recommendation.
Findings of fact by the governing body concerning whether the development of the
proposed subdivision meets the requirements of these regulations must be based on the
entire record. The governing body's findings of fact must be sustained unless they are
arbitrary, capricious, or unlawful. [Section 76-3-608(10), MCA].

ii. The governing body shall collect public comment on water and sanitation information
and shall make any comments submitted, or a summary of the comments submitted,

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 38 of 149



available to the subdivider within 30 days after conditional approval or approval of the
subdivision application and preliminary plat. [Section 76-3-604(7)(a), MCA].

A. The subdivider shall, as part of the subdivider's application for sanitation approval,
forward the comments or the summary provided by the governing body to the: [Section
76-3-604(7)(b), MCA].

1. reviewing authority provided in, Title 76, chapter 4, MCA for subdivisions
that will create one or more parcels containing less than 20 acres; or

2. the local reviewing authority for proposed subdivisions that will create one
or more parcels containing 20 acres or more and less than 160 acres.

iii. When the governing body approves, denies, or conditionally approves the proposed
subdivision, it shall, within 30 working days following the oral decision, send the
subdivider a letter, with the appropriate signature, and make the letter available to the
public. [Section 76-3-620, MCA]. The letter shall:

A. contain information regarding the appeal process for the denial or
imposition of conditions;

B. identify the regulations and statutes that are used in reaching the decision to
approve, deny, or impose conditions and explain how they apply to the basis
of the decision;

C. provide the facts and conclusions that the governing body relied upon in
making the decision and reference documents, testimony, or other materials
that form the basis of the decision;

D. identifies the conditions that apply to the preliminary plat approval and that
must be satisfied before the final plat may be approved;

E. each condition required for subdivision approval must identify a specific,
documentable, and clearly defined purpose or objective related to the
primary criteria set forth in the review criteria found in 76-3-608(3) MCA,

and
F. set forth the time limit for approval, pursuant to Subsection (f) below.
f. Subdivision Application and Preliminary Plat Approval Period

I. Upon approval or conditional approval of the preliminary plat, the governing
body shall provide the subdivider with a dated and signed statement of approval.
The approval shall be in force for no more than three calendar years. [Section
76-3-610, MCA].

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 39 of 149



A. At least 30 days prior to the expiration of the preliminary plat approval, the
governing body may, at the request of the subdivider, extend the approval
for a mutually agreed-upon period of time. Any mutually agreed-upon
extension must be in writing and dated and signed by the members of the
governing body and the subdivider or the subdivider’s agent. The governing
body may issue more than one extension.

B. The governing body may extend the approval for more than one year if that
approval period is included as a specific condition of a written subdivision
improvements agreement between the governing body and the subdivider,
provided for in Section 11-B-4.

ii. After the application and preliminary plat are approved, the governing body
may not impose any additional conditions as a prerequisite to final plat approval
unless the preliminary plat approval expires. [Section 76-3-610(2), MCA].

iii. The governing body may withdraw approval or conditional approval of an
application and preliminary plat if it determines that information provided by
the subdivider, and upon which the approval or conditional approval was based,
is inaccurate.

111-A-6. Amended Applications Prior to Governing Body Decision

If the subdivider changes the subdivision application or preliminary plat after the subdivision
administrator determines that the application is sufficient pursuant to Section I11-A-3 but before the
governing body decision, the subdivider shall submit the amended application to the subdivision
administrator for review according to the procedures in Section I1-A-4 Amended Applications.

11-A-7. Subdivider’s Preference for Mitigation

No later than two working days before the meeting at which the governing body is to consider the
subdivision application and preliminary plat, the subdivider is encouraged to submit in writing to
the subdivision administrator the subdivider's comments on and responses to the subdivision
administrator’s recommendations, as well as any proposed mitigation measures not already
discussed with the subdivision administrator. The governing body will consult with the subdivider
and will give due weight and consideration to the subdivider's expressed preferences regarding
mitigation [Section 76-3-608 (5)(b), MCA] and the mitigation approved by the governing body
shall be consistent with the written findings of fact required under 76-3-620, MCA.

111-A-8. First Minor Subdivision Final Plat

The final plat must include the contents and be submitted and reviewed in accordance with the
appropriate requirements contained in Section 11-B, Final Plats.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 40 of 149



11-B. Subsequent Minor Subdivisions

Subdivisions that do not meet the definition of a first minor subdivision are subsequent minor
subdivisions and must be reviewed as a major subdivision under Chapter IV of these Regulations.

11-C. Administrative Minor Subdivisions

11-C-1. Criteria to Be Met

First and subsequent minor subdivisions must be reviewed using the administrative process
provided for in 111-C-2 if the proposed subdivision:

a. islocated in an areathat 1is subject to and complies with zoning
regulations adopted pursuant to Title 76, chapter 2, part 2 or 3, that, at a minimum,
address development intensity through densities, bulk and dimensional requirements,
and use standards;

b. has a will-serve letter from a municipal water and sewer service or by a county water
and/or sewer district created under 7-13-2203 that supplies both water and sewer
services;

c. has existing legal and physical access to each lot; and

d. does not require a variance to any of the contents of the subdivision regulations required
in 76-3-504(1)(g), MCA.

11-C-2. Exemptions for Administrative Minor Subdivision

An administrative minor subdivision meeting the requirements of 111-C-1 is exempt from:

a. submitting the summary of probable impacts based on criteria described in 76-3-608(3)
and the environmental assessment required in 76-3-603, MCA,;

b. the review criteria described in 76-3-608(3)(a), MCA; and

c. the requirements of 76-3-209(2) through (5), MCA.

11-C-3. Subdivision Administrator Review

For administrative minor subdivisions, the subdivision administrator appointed by the
governing body shall:

a. assume all decision-making authority of the governing body provided in 76-3-608,
MCA;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 41 of 149



b. approve, conditionally approve, or deny an administrative minor subdivision and
issue a written statement pursuant to 76-3-620, MCA within 30 working days of a
determination by the reviewing agent or agency that the application contains
required elements and sufficient information for review as provided in 76-3-604(1)
through (3), MCA; and

C. immediately on a determination that the application meets the requirements of 76-

3-604(1) through (3), MCA, notify by first-class mail of the pending application:

I each property owner of record whose property is immediately adjoining the
land included in the preliminary plat; and

ii.  each purchaser under contract for deed of property immediately adjoining
the land included in the preliminary plat.

11-C-4. Obijections to Subdivision Administrator Review

If a party identified in 76-3-625(3), MCA objects to a subdivision administrator's decision
to approve, conditionally approve, or deny an administrative minor subdivision, the party
may request in writing that the subdivision administrator forward the application on to the
governing body. The governing body shall sustain the subdivision administrator's decision based
on the record as a whole unless the decision was arbitrary, capricious, or unlawful. The governing
body has 15 working days from the receipt of the request to review a decision to approve,
conditionally approve, or deny the administrative minor subdivision and make a final
determination.

111-C-5. Other Reqguirements

All the requirements of Title 76, chapter 3, except those exempted in I11-C-2 and 11I-C-
3, apply to an administrative minor subdivision.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 42 of 149



IV. REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCEDURES FOR MAJOR
SUBDIVISIONS

1V-A. Review and Approval Procedures for Major Subdivisions

The pre-application process and initial review process set forth in Section Il, General Procedures,
apply to this section.

a. Public Agency and Utility Review [Section 76-3-504(1)(i) and (1)(q)(iii), MCA].

Review and comment by public agencies or utilities may not delay the governing body’s
action on the subdivision application beyond the 60 or 80-working day review period. The
governing body will make these comments available to the subdivider and to the public
upon request. If, during the review of the application, the Subdivision Administrator
contacts a public utility, agency, or other entity that was not included on the list provided
during the pre-application meeting, the subdivision administrator shall notify the
subdivider of the contact and the timeframe for response.

b. Allowed Actions and Uses on a Subdivision Lot [Section 76-3-501(2), MCA].

Any action or land use that is not specifically prohibited in the conditions of subdivision
approval required by the governing body are specifically allowed unless otherwise subject
to additional restrictions that may be provided in the City’s subdivision and applicable
zoning regulations.

c. Enforcement and Interpretation of Conditions of Approval [Section 76-3-501(3), MCA].

If the governing body has historically interpreted and enforced or chosen not to enforce a
condition of subdivision approval that has benefited a property owner, the governing body
may not undertake a different interpretation or enforcement action against a similarly
situated property owner located within the same subdivision.

d. Specific, Documentable and Defined Purpose or Objective for Conditions of Approval [76-
3-620(2), MCA].

If the governing body conditionally approves the proposed subdivision, each condition
required for subdivision approval must identify a specific, documentable, and clearly
defined purpose or objective related to the primary criteria set forth in the review criteria
found in 76-3-608(3) MCA and pursuant to Section I11-A-7 that form the basis for the
conditions of approval.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 43 of 149



e. Covenants and Homeowners Association Documents - Review and Approval [Section 76-
3-604(10)].

Unless otherwise provided by law, the governing body may review but does not have
approval authority of the governing documents (covenants and homeowners association
articles of incorporation) of the subdivision or amendments of these documents unless they
directly and materially impact a condition of subdivision approval for the subdivision.

f. Fees and Real Property Dedications for Housing [Section 76-3-514, MCA].

The governing body may not require, as a condition for approval of a subdivision:

iili.  the payment of a fee for the purpose of providing housing for specified income
levels or at specified sale prices; or

iv.  the dedication of real property for the purpose of providing housing for specified
income levels or at specified sale prices.

g. Set Aside or Monetary Contribution for Agricultural Soils [Section 76-3-608(4), MCA].

The governing body cannot require a set-aside of land or monetary contribution for the loss
of agricultural soils under 76-3-608 MCA.

IV-A-2. Subdivision Application and Preliminary Plat Submittal

The subdivider shall submit to the governing body or to the agent or agency authorized by the
governing body a subdivision application containing the materials identified in Section 11-A-2 and
in the pre-application meeting, including water and sanitation information required under Section
76-3-622, MCA.. [Section 76-3-601(1), MCA].

1IV-A-3. Phased Subdivision and Preliminary Plat Submittals [Section 76-3-617,
MCA].

A subdivider applying for phased development review shall submit with the phased development
application an overall phased development preliminary plat on which independent platted
development phases must be presented. The phased development application must contain the
information required pursuant to Section I through Section 1V of these regulations for all phases
of a development and a schedule for when the subdivider plans to submit for review each phase of
the development.

The subdivider may change the schedule for the review of each phase of the development upon
approval of the governing body after a public hearing as provided below in Subsection (c) if the
change does not negate conditions of approval or otherwise adversely affect public health, safety,
and welfare.

a. Except as otherwise provided by Section IV-A-2, the phased development application must
be reviewed in conformity with Sections | through Section IV of these regulations. In addition,

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 44 of 149



each phase of the phased development must be reviewed as provided below in Subsection (c) and

(d).

b. The governing body may approve phased developments that extend beyond the time limits
set forth in these regulations in Subsection IV-A-2 (c)(ii) but all phases of the phased development
must be submitted for review and approved, conditionally approved, or denied within 20 years of
the date the overall phased development preliminary plat is approved by the governing body.

c. For any phase of the approved subdivision submitted for final plat approval within five (5)
years after the date of preliminary approval of the subdivision, no further public hearing is required
before submittal for final plat approval. Final plat approval shall be in accordance with Section
I1-B.

d. For any phase of the approved subdivision submitted for final plat approval more than five
(5) years after the date of preliminary plat approval of the subdivision, the subdivider shall provide
written notice to the governing body not more than one (1) year or less than 90 calendar days in
advance of submitting the final plat application and the governing body shall hold a public hearing
pursuant to Section I-F within 30 working days after receipt of the written notice from the
subdivider.

e. At the public hearing set forth in IV-A-3-d. the governing body shall determine whether
changed circumstances justify amending any conditions of approval. The governing body may
amend or impose additional conditions of approval only if it determines, based on a review of the
primary criteria, that the existing conditions of approval are inadequate to mitigate the potential
significant adverse impacts during the original review based on changed circumstances.

f. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section I1-A, the governing body shall issue supplemental
written findings of fact within 20 working days of the hearing.

g. Any additional conditions must be met before final plat approval for each remaining phase
and the approval in accordance with Section I1-B is in force for not more than 3 calendar years or
less than one (1) calendar year within the maximum time frame provided above in Subsection (b).

h. The governing body may impose a reasonable periodic fee for the review under Subsection
(c), above, of the phases in the phased development.

i. Modifications to an approved phasing development plan prior to final plat approval shall
be reviewed according to the procedures in Section I11-A-5.

IV-A-4. Time Period for Approval, Conditional Approval, or Denial

a. Governing Body Review

Within 60 working days, or 80 working days for proposals containing 50 or more lots, the
governing body shall approve, conditionally approve, or deny the proposed subdivision
according to Section IV-A-8 of these regulations, unless the subdivider and the subdivision
administrator agree to an extension or suspension of the review period, or a subsequent

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 45 of 149



public hearing is held pursuant to Section IV-A-7 of these regulations. The review period
of 60 or 80 working days begins the day after the subdivision administrator notifies the

subdivider or the subdivider’s agent in writing that the subdivision application is sufficient
for review. [Section 76-3-604(4), MCA].

IV-A-5. Amended Applications Prior to Public Hearing

a. If the subdivider changes the subdivision application or preliminary plat after the
subdivision administrator determines the application is sufficient pursuant to Section I1-A-3 but
before the planning board hearing, the subdivider shall submit the amended application to the
subdivision administrator for review according to the procedures in Section 11-A-4 Amended
Applications.

1V-A-6. Planning Board Recommendation and Governing Body Consideration and
Decision

The Planning Board consideration of the subdivision is the same process as followed by the
Governing Body. The Planning Board makes a recommendation to the Governing Body and the
Governing Body, after doing its own analysis, makes the final decision.

a. Public Hearing

After the subdivision application is deemed to have all the required elements and contain
detailed, supporting information that is sufficient to allow for review, and the subdivision
administrator has prepared a staff report, the planning board shall schedule and hold a
public hearing on the subdivision application.

b. Prerequisites to Approval

The planning board may not recommend, and the governing body may not approve or
conditionally approve a subdivision application and preliminary plat unless the proposed
subdivision: [Section 76-3-608(3)(b), MCA].

i provides easements for the location and installation of any planned utilities,
both on and off site;

ii. provides legal and physical access to each parcel within the subdivision and the
notation of that access on the applicable plat and any instrument transferring
the parcel;

iii. assures that all required public or private improvements will be installed before
final plat approval, or that their installation after final plat approval will be
guaranteed as provided by Section 11-B-4 of these regulations;

iv. assures that the requirements of Section 76-3-504 (1)(j), MCA, regarding the
disclosure and disposition of water rights as set forth in Section V1-O, of these

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 46 of 149



Vi.

Vii.

viil.

regulations, have been considered and will be accomplished before the final plat
IS submitted; and

assures that the requirements of Section 76-3-504 (1)(k) regarding watercourse
and irrigation easements as set forth in Section VI-N have been considered and
will be accomplished before the final plat is submitted.

For a proposed subdivision that will create one or more parcels containing less
than 20 acres, the subdivider shall obtain approval by the DEQ as a condition
of approval of the final plat. This approval applies to the development of lots at
the time of the approval and is no guarantee that a source of water or a location
for a septic system or drain fields will be available when the lots are developed.

For a proposed subdivision that will create one or more parcels containing 20
acres or more, the subdivider shall demonstrate in the preliminary plat
application that there is an adequate water source and at least one area for a
septic system and a replacement drain field for each lot. This information shall
be submitted to the local reviewing authority to complete the sanitation review
of parcels that do not fall under the review authority of DEQ. [Section 76-3-
622, MCA].

Provides for the appropriate park dedication or cash-in-lieu.

b. Consideration-Standards

In recommending or granting approval, conditional approval or denial of the subdivision
application and preliminary plat, the planning board or governing body shall base its
recommendation or decision on compliance of the subdivision application and preliminary
plat with the following:

I these regulations, including but not limited to the standards set forth in Section VI
Design and Improvements Standards;

ii. applicable zoning regulations;

iii. the MSPA, including but not limited to the following impacts under Section 76-3-
608(3)(a), MCA:

A

impact on agriculture, excluding a consideration of the loss of agricultural
soils;

impact on agricultural water user facilities;
impact on local services;

impact on the natural environment;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 47 of 149



E. impact on wildlife;

F. wildlife habitat;

G. impact on public health and safety; and
H. proposed mitigation for the identified impacts.
iv. other applicable regulations, such as, but not limited to Airport Affect Area

Regulations, Military Impact Zone Regulations, Lake and Lakeshore Regulations and
Floodplain Regulations.

Refer to the “Definitions” section at the beginning of these regulations for definitions for each of
the criteria listed above A. through G.

c. Consideration-Evidence

As the basis for recommending or granting approval, conditional approval or denial of the
subdivision application and preliminary plat, the planning board or governing body may
consider, without limitation, the following (as applicable): [Section 76-3-608(1), MCA].

I the subdivision application and preliminary plat;
ii. the environmental assessment; [Section 76-3-603, MCA].
iii. the summary of probable impacts and mitigation;

iv. an officially adopted growth policy;

V. subdivision administrator's staff report and recommendation;
Vi. relevant agency and public comments; and
vii.  any additional information authorized by law.

d. Written Recommendation of the Planning Board

Within 10 working days after the public meeting, the planning board shall submit the
following, in writing, to the subdivider and the governing body:

I recommended findings of fact based upon 76-3-620, MCA and the evidence in
subsection (a)(ii) above that discuss and consider the subdivision's compliance with and
impact on the items listed in subsection (a)(i) of these regulations;

ii. a recommendation for approval, conditional approval (including any recommended

conditions and/or mitigation measures), or denial of the subdivision application and
preliminary plat; and [Section 76- 3-608(1), MCA].

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 48 of 149



iii. a recommendation for approval or denial of any requested variances (See Section
I-J). [Section 76-3-506, MCA)].

iv. The planning board or subdivision administrator shall collect public comment regarding
the water and sanitation information required by the MSPA and these regulations. The
water and sanitation information required to be submitted is detailed in 76-3-622, MCA.
The planning board shall forward all comments regarding water and sanitation to the
governing body. [Section 76-3-604(7)(a), MCA].

e. Documentation of Governing Body Decision

i. As the basis for its decision to approve, conditionally approve, or deny the proposed
subdivision [Section 76-3-608(1), MCA] the governing body shall issue written findings
of fact based upon 76-3-620, MCA that discuss and weigh the proposed subdivision’s
compliance with the above subsections as well as the planning board’s recommendation.
Findings of fact by the governing body concerning whether the development of the
proposed subdivision meets the requirements of these regulations must be based on the
entire record. The governing body's findings of fact must be sustained unless they are
arbitrary, capricious, or unlawful. [Section 76-3-608(10), MCA].

ii. The governing body shall collect public comment on water and sanitation information
and shall make any comments submitted, or a summary of the comments submitted,
available to the subdivider within 30 days after conditional approval or approval of the
subdivision application and preliminary plat. [Section 76-3-604(7)(a), MCA].

A. The subdivider shall, as part of the subdivider's application for sanitation approval,
forward the comments or the summary provided by the governing body to the: [Section
73-3-604(7)(b), MCA].

1. reviewing authority provided in, Title 76, chapter 4, MCA for subdivisions
that will create one or more parcels containing less than 20 acres; or

2. the local reviewing authority for proposed subdivisions that will create one
or more parcels containing 20 acres or more and less than 160 acres.

iii. When the governing body approves, denies, or conditionally approves the proposed
subdivision, it shall within 30 working days following the oral decision send the subdivider
a letter, with the appropriate signature, and make the letter available to the public. [Section
76-3-620, MCA]. The letter shall:

A. contain information regarding the appeal process for the denial or
imposition of conditions;

B. identify the regulations and statutes that are used in reaching the decision to
approve, deny, or impose conditions and explain how they apply to the basis
of the decision;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 49 of 149



F.

provide the facts and conclusions that the governing body relied upon in
making the decision and reference documents, testimony, or other materials
that form the basis of the decision;

identifies the conditions that apply to the preliminary plat approval and that
must be satisfied before the final plat may be approved;

each condition required for subdivision approval must identify a specific,
documentable, and clearly defined purpose or objective related to the
primary criteria set forth in the review criteria found in 76-3-608(3) MCA,
and

set forth the time limit for approval, pursuant to Subsection (f) below.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the governing body may not consider any information regarding
the subdivision application that is presented after the final public hearing (which may include a
subsequent hearing if any) when making its decision to approve, conditionally approve, or deny
the proposed subdivision.

f. Subdivision Application and Preliminary Plat Approval Period

Upon approval or conditional approval of the preliminary plat, the governing
body shall provide the subdivider with a dated and signed statement of approval.
The approval shall be in force for no more than three calendar years. [Section
76-3-610, MCA].

At least 30 days prior to the expiration of the preliminary plat approval, the
governing body may, at the request of the subdivider, extend the approval
for a mutually agreed-upon period of time. Any mutual agreed-upon
extension must be in writing and dated and signed by the members of the
governing body and the subdivider or the subdivider’s agent. The governing
body may issue more than one extension.

The governing body may extend the approval for more than one year if that
approval period is included as a specific condition of a written subdivision
improvements agreement between the governing body and the subdivider,
provided for in Section 11-B-4.

After the application and preliminary plat are approved, the governing body
may not impose any additional conditions as a prerequisite to final plat approval
unless the preliminary plat approval expires. [Section 76-3-610(2), MCA].

The governing body may withdraw approval or conditional approval of an
application and preliminary plat if it determines that information provided by
the subdivider, and upon which the approval or conditional approval was based,
updated subdivision administrator's staff report and planning board
recommendation; and

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 50 of 149



1IV-A-7. Subdivider’s Preference for Mitigation

No later than two working days before the meeting or hearing at which the governing body is to
consider the subdivision application and preliminary plat, the subdivider is encouraged to submit
in writing to the subdivision administrator the subdivider's comments on and responses to the
planning board’s recommendations as well as any proposed mitigation measures not already
discussed with the planning board. The governing body will consult with the subdivider and will
give due weight and consideration to the subdivider’s expressed preference regarding mitigation.
[Section 76-3-608 (5)(b), MCA].

1V-A-8. Amended Applications Following the Public Hearing

If the subdivider changes the subdivision application or preliminary plat following the public
hearing, the subdivider shall submit the amended application or preliminary plat to the
subdivision administrator for review pursuant to Section 11-A-4 Amended Applications.

1V-A-9. Governing Body Meeting — Consideration of New Information [Section 76-3-

615, MCA].

a. Ifan amended application was not submitted to the subdivision administrator following the
public hearing, but relevant new information or substantial changes to the design of the subdivision
is presented to the governing body following the planning board’s public hearing regarding the
proposed major subdivision, the governing body shall determine whether public comments or other
information presented constitutes relevant, new information or a substantial change to the design
of the subdivision that has a substantial effect on the governing body’s consideration of the
application and constitutes the need for a subsequent public hearing.

b. If the governing body determines that the information presented constitutes the information
described in subsection a. above, the governing body may:

i approve, conditionally approve, or deny the proposed subdivision without
basing its decision on the new information if the governing body determines
that the new information is either irrelevant or not credible or the change to the
design of the subdivision does not substantially impact the analysis of
potentially significant adverse impacts; or

ii. schedule or direct its agent or agency to schedule a subsequent public hearing
for consideration of only the new information including a substantial change to
the design of the subdivision for purposes or considering its findings of fact and
conclusions and any proposed conditions of approval in light of the new
information that the governing body will rely on in making it decision on the
proposed subdivision.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 51 of 149



1V-A-10. Subsequent Public Hearing [Section 76-3-615(4), MCA].

a. If directed by the governing body pursuant to Section 1V-A-9, the planning board shall
hold a subsequent public hearing for consideration of new information.

I. At the subsequent hearing, the planning board shall consider only the new
relevant information or substantial change to the design of the subdivision that
may have an impact on the findings of fact and conditions of approval that will
have a substantial effect on the governing body’s consideration of the
application.

b. If a subsequent public hearing is held pursuant to Section IV-A-9, it must be held within
45 days of the governing body’s determination to schedule a subsequent hearing.

i Notice of the time, date and location of the subsequent hearing shall be posted
according to Subsection I-F (b) of these regulations.

c. If asubsequent public hearing is held, the applicable review period is suspended as of the
date of the governing body’s decision to schedule a subsequent hearing. The applicable review
period resumes on the date of the subsequent public hearing.

1VV-B. Major Final Plats

The final plat must have the contents and be submitted and reviewed in accordance with the
appropriate requirements contained in Section 11-B, Final Plats.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 52 of 149



V. EXPEDITED SUBDIVISION REVIEW

A subdivision application, regardless of the number of lots, that meets the requirements provided
in V-A is entitled to the expedited review process at the applicant's request.

V-A. Requirements

A subdivision qualifies for the expedited review process if the proposed subdivision:

a. s within a county water and/or sewer district created under 7-13-2203 that provides
both water and sewer services or an area outside the boundaries of an incorporated city, town,
county, or consolidated city-county that is served by city, town, county, or consolidated city-
county water and sewer services and is subject to an adopted growth policy as provided in Title
76, chapter 1, and zoning regulations pursuant to Title 76, chapter 2, part 2, that, at a minimum,
address development intensity through minimum lot sizes or densities, bulk and dimensional
requirements, and use standards;

b. complies with zoning regulations adopted pursuant to 76-2-203 and complies with the
design standards and other subdivision regulations adopted pursuant to 76-3-504; and

c. includes in its proposal plans for the onsite development of or extension to public
infrastructure in accordance with adopted ordinances and regulations.

V-B. Exemptions
A subdivision application that meets the requirements provided in V-A is exempt from:
a. the preparation of an environmental assessment as required in 76-3-603; and
b. the review criteria listed in 76-3-608(3)(a).

V-C. Subdivision Application Review

On submission for expedited review, the subdivision application must be reviewed for:

a. required elements and sufficiency of information as provided in 76-3-601(1) through
(3) to determine whether the application complies with zoning regulations adopted
pursuant to 76-2-203 and complies with the design standards and other subdivision
regulations adopted pursuant to 76-3-504; and

b. includes in its proposal plans for the onsite development of or extension to public
infrastructure in accordance with adopted ordinances and regulations.

The application may include a request for variance or deviation from subdivision regulations
adopted pursuant to 76-3-504 and in accordance with the provisions of 76-3-506.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 53 of 149



V-D. Governing Body Review

The governing body shall:

a. hold a hearing and approve, conditionally approve, or deny the subdivision application
within 35 working days of a determination by the reviewing agent or agency that the
application contains required elements and sufficient information for review as
provided in V-C. If the subdivision application includes a request for variance or
deviation from subdivision regulations adopted pursuant to 76-3-504, MCA the time
for holding a hearing must be extended to a total of 45 working days. The governing
body may delegate to its reviewing agent or agency the requirement to hold a public
hearing on the subdivision application as required in this section.

b. provide notice for the hearing by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in
the county not less than 15 days prior to the date of the hearing;

c. approve the application unless public comment or other information demonstrates the
application does not comply with:

i. adopted zoning regulations, design standards, and other requirements of
subdivision regulations adopted pursuant to 76-3-504, MCA, including any
criteria for granting variances or deviations from subdivision regulations adopted
pursuant to 76-3-504, MCA; or

ii. adopted ordinances or regulations for the onsite development of or extension
to public infrastructure; and

d. provide to the applicant and the public a written statement within 30 days of the
decision to approve or deny a proposed subdivision for expedited review as allowed in
this section that provides:

i. the facts and conclusions that the governing body relied on in making its
decision to approve or deny the application; and

ii. the conditions that apply to the preliminary plat approval that must be satisfied
before the final plat may be approved.

e. only adopt conditions of approval to ensure an approved subdivision application is
completed in accordance with the approved application and any applicable
requirements pursuant to Title 76, chapter 4;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 54 of 149



V-E. Extensions

The governing body may, with the agreement of the applicant, grant one extension of the review
period not to exceed 180 calendar days.

V-F. Unlawful Restrictions

The governing body may not adopt zoning regulations pursuant to 76-2-203 or 76-2-304, MCA,
subdivision regulations pursuant to 76-3-504, MCA, or other ordinances or regulations that
restrict the use of the expedited subdivision review process as provided in this section.

V-G. Applicable MSPA Requirements

Except as modified in this section, subdivision applications meeting the requirements for an
expedited review remain subject to the provisions of 76-3-608(3)(b) through (3)(d) and 76-3-
608(6) through (10), 76-3-610 through 76-3-614, 76-3-621, and 76-3-625, MCA.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 55 of 149



VI. DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS

All subdivisions approved by the governing must comply with the provisions of this section, except
where granted a variance pursuant to Section I-J, Variances. The governing body may not grant
variances from the provisions of Section VI-C. Lands Unsuitable for Subdivision or from the
provisions of Section VI-D, Floodplain Provisions. For subdivision design standards specific to
condominiums, townhomes, and townhouses, refer to Section VII of these regulations.

VI-A. Conformance with Requlations

The design and development of a subdivision must conform with any applicable zoning or other
regulations, including the City Code. Where zoning regulations are not in effect establishing
maximum densities or minimum lot sizes, maximum density and minimum lot size must be
established in consultation with local and state health authorities.

VI-B. Natural Environment

The design and development of subdivisions must provide satisfactory building sites which are
properly related to topography, and must, to the extent possible, preserve the natural terrain, natural
drainage, existing topsoil, trees, and natural vegetation.

VI-C. Lands Unsuitable for Subdivision

The governing body may find land to be unsuitable for subdivision because of potential hazards
such as flooding, snow avalanches, rock falls, landslides, adverse soil types, steep slopes in excess
of 25 percent slope, high potential for wildfire, subsidence, high water table, polluted or non-
potable water supply, high voltage lines, high pressure gas lines, aircraft or vehicular traffic
hazards or congestion, or severe toxic or hazardous waste exposure; or because of unreasonable
burdens on the general public such as requirements for the excessive expenditure of public funds,
environmental degradation, or other features which may be detrimental to the health, safety, or
general welfare of existing or future residents. These lands must not be subdivided unless the
hazards are eliminated or will be mitigated by approved design and construction plans. [Section
76-3-501(1)(i), MCA].

VI-D. Floodplain Provisions [Section 76-3-504(1)(f), MCA].

a. Land determined by the governing body to be subject to flooding may not be subdivided
for building or residential purposes or other uses that may increase or aggravate flood hazards to
life, health, or welfare, or that may be prohibited by state regulations.

I If identified as necessary during the preapplication meeting by the Subdivision
Administrator, the subdivider shall complete and submit as part of the
preliminary plat application, an engineering study that identifies the Base Flood
Elevation (BFE) on the property proposed for subdivision. This detailed
evaluation must be performed by a professional engineer licensed in the State
of Montana experienced in this field of work.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 56 of 149



VI-E.

A copy of the study identifying the BFE shall be submitted with the
preliminary plat application to the local subdivision administrator. The
governing body shall forward the study to the Water Resources Division of
the Montana Department of Natural Resources and Conservation (DNRC)
and county floodplain administrator for comment. The governing body shall
not delay the preliminary plat review process to wait for comments from
DNRC. Any comments received by the governing body shall be forwarded
to the subdivider.

The areas at and below the BFE identified by the engineering study shall be
identified on the preliminary plat as flood hazard area and the area shall be
identified on the final plat as a no build zone.

Improvement Design

Engineering and survey plans, specifications, and reports required in connection with public and
private improvements and other elements of the subdivision application required by the governing
body must be prepared by a professional engineer licensed in the State of Montana or a professional
land surveyor as their respective licensing laws allow in accordance with the MSPA and these

regulations.

If subsequent subdivisions will be served by improvements (roads/streets, fire protection water
supplies, storm-water drainage facilities, mailbox facilities etc.) that were installed by a previous
subdivider, then the subsequent subdivider may be required to reimburse the previous subdivider
for a pro-rata share of the cost of the improvement(s) if all the following criteria are met:

a. The improvements in question meet the applicable standard; and

b. The improvements do not have to be upgraded.

VI-F.

Lots [Section 76-3-504(1)(g)(i), MCA].

Each lot must contain a satisfactory building site and conform to county health board regulations,
applicable zoning regulations, applicable building regulations and these regulations.

a. No single lot may be divided by a municipal or county boundary line.

b. No single lot may be divided by a public road, alley, and public right-of-way.

c. Each lot must have access to a public or private street or road.

d. Corner lots must have driveway access to the same street or road as interior lots.

e. Corner lots must be of sufficient area to provide acceptable visibility for traffic safety.

f. No lot may have an average depth greater than three times its average width unless the
average width is greater than or equal to 300 feet.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 57 of 149



g. Side lot lines must be at substantially right angles to street or road lines and radial to curved
street or road lines.

h. Through lots are prohibited except where essential to provide separation of residential
development from traffic arteries or to overcome specific disadvantages of topography or
orientation.

VI-G. Blocks

a. Blocks must be designed to assure traffic safety and ease of traffic control and circulation,
to accommaodate the special needs of the use contemplated, and to take advantage of the limitations
and opportunities of the topography.

I In incorporated areas, block length must not be more than 1,600 feet if practical.

ii. In unincorporated areas, block length must not be more than 1,600 feet if
practical.

b. Blocks must be wide enough to allow for two tiers of lots except where essential to provide
separation of residential development from traffic arteries or to overcome specific disadvantages
of topography and orientation or unless the governing body approves the design of irregularly
shaped blocks indented by cul-de-sacs.

c. Rights-of-way/easements for pedestrian walks, not less than (10) ten feet wide, may be
required where deemed essential to provide circulation or safe access to schools, playgrounds,
shopping, transportation and other community facilities, or other public health and safety
considerations.

VI-H. Streets and Roads [Section 76-3-504(1)(g)(i), MCA].

Roads located within a subdivision and any necessary offsite road improvements, shall meet the
appropriate County or City Road Design Standards.

The arrangement, type, extent, width, grade, and location of all streets shall be assessed in
respect to existing and planned streets, topographical conditions, public convenience and
safety, and to proposed uses of the land to be served by them.

a. General Design

i. Roadways

The arrangement, type, extent, width, grade, materials, and location of all roadways
shall be considered in their relationship to existing and planned streets and roads,
to topographical conditions, maintenance considerations, the delivery of emergency
services, to public convenience and safety, in their relation to the proposed uses of
the land to be served by them, and to impacted lands outside the subdivision.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 58 of 149



Relation to Subdivided Areas

The developer shall arrange the roadways to provide for the continuation of
roadways between adjacent subdivided parcels when such continuation is necessary
for the convenient movement of traffic, effective provision of emergency services,
and the efficient provision of utility easements. A condition may be imposed to
provide for such continuation of roadways between adjacent subdivided parcels.

Relation to Adjoining Lands

Developing subdivisions shall provide access and utility easements to adjoining
lands when access to those lands must pass through the subdivision. The developer
may be required through a condition of approval to provide legal rights-of-
way/easements and the access must be constructed in accordance with these road
standards. A county may require the extension of road easements to the edge of a
subdivision property to facilitate future subdivision of adjacent lands, if
appropriate.

Dead-End Roadways

Dead end roads longer than 1,000 feet require an approved turnaround. Refer below
to Figure 2 for approved turnaround alternatives. Dead-end roads with an approved
turnaround are only permitted on local roads and driveways. Dead end roads longer
than 1,500 feet are not permitted.

/ N\ i /
/ \\ \‘G\QK\\M" e 20 J
98— LR (
\ / [ 26'R '
E 7 } TYP ‘ 0
~ 28'R ' - W
TYP 20 "
26' ] { 20
96-FOOT DIAMETER 60-FOOT “Y’ MINIMUM CLEARANCE
CUL-DE-SAC AROUND A FIRE
HYDRANT
60’ 60’ 28'R -
— TYP.
N 7 20 (:,/I
70°
28'R ] ) ~N
TYP =
| 26 20"
120-FOOT HAMMERHEAD ACCEPTABLE ALTERNATIVE
TO 120-FOOT HAMMERHEAD

Figure 2. Road Turnaround Alternatives.
City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 59 of 149



V. Half Roadways

Half roadways are prohibited except when it is shown that they are beneficial to the
City and that they provide for access by emergency service vehicles.

Vi. Second Access

A. For major subdivisions containing commercial and industrial lots, a second
primary access road is required.

B. For major subdivisions containing residential subdivisions, a second access
IS required.

Vii. Roadway Dedication and Easements

A. All roads and easements providing access to and within a subdivision will
be dedicated for full public use and access.

B. All roads proposed for public dedication must meet required standards.
viii.  Drainage Channels and Waterways
A. Bridges and culverts shall be provided and installed by the developer where

drainage channels and waterways intersect any road right-of-way or
approach. Bridges and large culverts (48 inches in diameter or more) shall
be designed by a professional engineer licensed in the State of Montana.

B. Bridges must be designed and constructed to meet the current edition of the
American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials
(AASHTO) Load Resistance and Factor Design (LRFD) Design
Specifications. Permits for construction over waterways, including USACE
404 and state permits, may be required.

C. Culverts shall be a minimum of 18 inches in diameter and sized on the
estimated stormwater flow generated by the subdivision and shall extend
across the entire width of the roadway including the side slope toes. Culvert
gauge and depth of backfill shall be included in the design.

iX. Road Naming, Road Signs and Addressing

All proposed road names for roads within the subdivision are subject to review
and approval by the governing body. Road name signs shall be installed at all
road intersections providing access to and within the subdivision.

b. Traffic Study

i. Vehicle Trip Calculation

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 60 of 149



A. The ADT generated by a residential subdivision shall be calculated on the
basis of eight trips per household per day, or as identified in a traffic study
completed by a professional traffic engineer licensed in the State of
Montana.

B. The ADT for commercial/industrial developments must be calculated
according to the most current version of Institute of Transportation
Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, or by a traffic study completed
by a professional traffic engineer licensed in the State of Montana.

ii. Traffic Studies Required

A. A traffic study completed by a professional engineer licensed in the State of
Montana is required for the following subdivisions:

1. For all commercial and industrial subdivisions.
2. For all subdivisions containing six (6) or more lots.

3. When a traffic study is required by the Montana Department of
Transportation (MDT) for any access or approach onto an MDT
roadway.

iii. Traffic Studies Content

A. A traffic impact study developed by a professional traffic engineer, licensed
in the State of Montana, and shall be based upon the current editions of
Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) standards and the Highway
Capacity Manual and includes the following:

1. existing traffic volumes;
2. existing traffic conditions: lanes, traffic control, access control, etc.;
3. projected traffic volumes (based upon subsection b.ii Traffic Studies

Required above or ITE standards as applicable) of internal, adjacent,
and off-site roads affected by vehicle traffic to be generated by the

subdivision;

4. projected traffic distribution and assignment on adjacent, and off-
site roads affected by vehicle traffic to be generated by the
subdivision;

5. traffic analysis, including existing and projected Levels of Service

(LOS) etc. of internal, adjacent, and off-site roads and intersections
affected by vehicle traffic to be generated by the subdivision; and

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 61 of 149



C.

6. conclusions and recommendations including any needed upgrades
to existing roads, bridges, culverts and intersections. Conditions
may be imposed on the subdivision to improve roads, bridges,
culverts and intersections in accordance with the conclusions and
recommendations or other factors.

Improvements

Vi.

All roadway improvements including pedestrian trails, utilities, and drainage
facilities must be constructed in accordance with the prescribed standards.

Roadway subgrades must be free of topsoil, sod, vegetation or organic matter,
soft clay, or other substandard materials.

Streets and roads must be designed to ensure proper drainage, including but not
limited to surface crown, culverts, curbs and gutters, drainage swales and storm
drains.

In unincorporated areas where access from a public road to the subdivision will
cross properties not owned by the subdivider, the subdivider must obtain road
easements in compliance with these design and improvement standards, from
each property owner or the appropriate administrator of public lands. Each
easement must allow construction and perpetual maintenance of a road
accessing the property and allow vehicular travel on the road. The easement
shall either be dedicated to the public, or the subdivision at the discretion of the
governing body.

Easements granting full public access for vehicle use must be created by
each property owner through a signed and notarized document filed with
the County Clerk and Recorder. The easement shall grant access in
conformance with road standards found within these regulations and fully
identifies the location of the easement via a metes and bounds description
or via a surveyed exhibit filed with the easement document.

The location of any road easement must be shown on the plat or on a
supplemental map. The existence of easements must be noted on the face of
the final plat and on any deeds or other instruments conveying lots within
the subdivision.

Existing trees and other vegetation must be preserved whenever possible.
Plantings may be required for buffering, screening, or soil erosion protection
and are subject to approval by the governing body. Borrow areas for roads must
be seeded with approved plant materials to reduce erosion.

Street light installation may be required by the governing body where necessary
for public, health and safety purposes on all roads within the subdivision.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 62 of 149



vii.  Approach/Encroachments onto MDT roads and highways must be permitted
and built according to MDT requirements prior to final plat.

d. Off-site Roadway Improvements

I. The governing body shall require off-site road improvements outside the
subdivision when the improvements are proportional to the direct impact of the
subdivision. Necessary off-site road improvements and proportional costs of
improvements shall be based on the recommendations of the traffic study
required according to Subsection VI-H (b) and as agreed by the applicable
agency.

ii. The subdivider shall either complete the necessary proportional improvements
or pay the City the proportional costs of the improvements prior to filing the
final plat. The funds paid by the subdivider shall be held by the City to fund
future improvements to the road(s) in question.

e. Definitions and Classification Standards

i. Arterial Roads

Arterial roads are designed to move vehicles through an area. The roads have
limited access, higher speeds and may have traffic signals near populated areas.
Arterials should ideally have a wider shoulder than other roads. Wider shoulders
allow more room for people to pull over if they have vehicle trouble, plus they
provide additional room for wide loads or recovery associated with loss of vehicle
control. A six-foot shoulder is consistent with Montana Department of
Transportation (MDT) standards for rural roads with more than 550 vehicles per
day. The MDT standard for a bike lane varies from four to five feet and the six-foot
shoulder allows for cyclists to use the shoulder. Secondary arterials typically have
lower volumes and narrower shoulders than primary arterials.

il. Major Collectors

Major collectors are designed to serve both traffic movement and access. The roads
are typically paved and have cross-road access but limited private driveway access
and medium to high speeds.

iii. Minor Collectors

Minor collectors are similar to major collectors except they may carry a greater
level of localized traffic, and their condition may not be as high a priority as major
collectors. The roads typically have limitations to road or driveway access and
medium speeds similar to those on major collectors. Designation of a road as a
minor collector shall be completed through the completion of a traffic impact study
as described in Section VI-H(b).

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 63 of 149



iv. Local Roads

Local roads are-streets with the lowest traffic volumes. They are designed to offer
access to farms, ranches, and residences, connecting driveways to collectors or
arterials.

VI-I1. Postal Service

Mail delivery to a subdivision must comply with the requirements of the United States Postal

Service.
VI-J. Stormwater Drainage Facilities
a. The drainage system and facilities required for any surface run-off affecting the subdivision

are subject to approval by the governing body. Subdivisions containing lots less than 20
acres in size must also be reviewed and approved under Title 76, Chapter 4, MCA, by the
DEQ.

. A grading and drainage plan as required by Section II-A-2 shall be developed by a

professional engineer licensed in the State of Montana.

Curbs and gutters or swales will be required based on the character of the area, density of
development, and nature of adjoining properties. Curbs and gutters of adjoining properties
must be extended in conformance with current specifications of local and state authorities.

. Culverts and bridges of adequate size must be provided and installed by the subdivider

where drainage channels intersect any street or road right-of-way or easement. All culverts
and bridges must be constructed and installed according to applicable local and state
standards. Culverts and other drainage facilities must be large enough to accommodate
potential run-off from upstream drainage areas.

Each culvert or other drainage facility must be large enough to accommodate potential run-
off from upstream drainage areas for the 10-year, 24-hour storm event.

The subdivider must provide suitable drainage facilities for any surface run-off affecting the
subdivision. These facilities must be in street rights-of-way or in perpetual easements of
appropriate widths.

. Drainage systems must not discharge into any sanitary sewer facility.

. The governing body may require the subdivider to grant easements to prevent encroachment

or disruption of drainageways or facilities. Drainage easements must be shown on the plat
and a signed statement granting the easements must appear on the plat.

VI-K. Water Supply Systems

a.

General

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 64 of 149



i All water systems are subject to approval by the governing body.

ii. Water systems required by the governing body shall meet the minimum
requirements of the local reviewing authority, the Montana Department of
Environmental Quality and the Montana Department of Natural Resources and
Conservation. Subdivisions containing lots less than 20 acres in size must be
reviewed and approved under Title 76, Chapter 4, MCA, by the DEQ prior to
approval of the final plat.

iii. For subdivisions creating one or more parcels containing 20 acres or more, the
subdivider shall submit the required information for the parcel containing 20
acres or more only to the local reviewing authority and the subdivision
administrator. DEQ review and approval is not required. This demonstration
to the local reviewing authority is to evaluate the ability to develop lots and is
not a guarantee that a source of water will be available when the lots are
developed.

b. Type of System

I Any system with more than two connections must be designed by a professional
engineer licensed in the State of Montana and reviewed by DEQ.

ii. The governing body may require that any proposed central system provide
adequate and accessible water for fire protection.

iii. Where the subdivision is within the service area of the City of Hardin municipal
system, or another public water supply system, the subdivider must install
complete water system facilities in accordance with the requirements of the
jurisdiction involved and the DEQ. The subdivider must submit plans and
specifications for the proposed facilities to the jurisdiction involved and to the
DEQ and must obtain their approvals prior to undertaking any construction.

VI-L. Wastewater Treatment Systems

a. All wastewater treatment systems are subject to the approval of the governing body.

b. Systems for subdivision lots less than 20 acres in size must meet the minimum standards
of the local reviewing authority, and DEQ which are incorporated into and made a part of these
regulations by this reference, prior to final plat approval.

c. Foraproposed subdivision that will create one or more parcels containing 20 acres or more,
the subdivider shall demonstrate to the local reviewing authority adequate evidence that a sewage
disposal facility is sufficient in terms of capacity for the parcels containing 20 acres or more. In
addition, the subdivider shall demonstrate that there is at least one area for a septic system and a
replacement drain field for each lot. This demonstration to the local reviewing authority is to
evaluate the ability to develop lots at the platting stage and is not a guarantee that a location for a
septic system or drain fields will be available when the lots are developed.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 65 of 149



d. Where the subdivision is within the service area of the City of Hardin or other public
sanitary sewer system, the subdivider must install complete sanitary sewer system facilities in
accordance with the requirements of the jurisdiction involved and the DEQ. The subdivider must
submit plans and specifications for the proposed facilities to the jurisdiction involved and to the
DEQ and must obtain their approvals prior to undertaking any construction.

VI-M. Utilities [Section 76-3-504(1)(g)(iv), MCA].

a. The subdivider must provide adequate and appropriate easements for the construction of
utilities within the subdivision. The subdivider must obtain any easements necessary to extend
utilities to the subdivision.

b. Utility facilities must be designed by utility firms in cooperation with the subdivider,
subject, however, to all applicable laws and all rules and regulations of any appropriate regulatory
authority having jurisdiction over such facilities. Utility easements must be located along the side,
and rear lot lines wherever necessary.

c. Utility easements must be a minimum of 15 feet wide unless otherwise specified by a utility
company or the governing body.

d. In addition to showing the location of the utility easement on the plat with dashed lines,
the following statement must be on the final plat:

"The undersigned hereby grants unto each and every person, firm, or corporation, whether
public or private, providing or offering to provide telecommunications, electric power, gas,
cable television, water, or sewer service to the public, the right to the joint use of an
easement for the construction, maintenance, repair and removal of their lines and other
facilities, in, over, under and across each area designated on this plat as 'Utility Easement’
to have and to hold forever."

VI-N. Water Course and Irrigation Easements [Section 76-3-504(1)(k) and (1), MCA].

a. The subdivider shall establish within the subdivision ditch easements that:

I are in locations of appropriate characteristics and sufficient width to allow the
physical placement and unobstructed maintenance of open ditches or below
ground pipelines for the delivery of water for irrigation to persons and land
legally entitled to the water under an appropriated water right or permit of an
irrigation district or other private or public entity formed to provide for the use
of the water right on the subdivision lots;

ii. are a sufficient distance from the centerline of the ditch to allow for
construction, repair, maintenance, and inspection of the ditch; and

iii. prohibit the placement of structures or the planting of vegetation other than
grass within the ditch easement without the written permission of the ditch
owner.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 66 of 149



b. The subdivider shall, unless otherwise provided under separate written agreement or filed
easement, show on the preliminary final plat, and file and record with the County Clerk and
Recorder, ditch easements for the unobstructed use and maintenance of existing water delivery
ditches, pipelines, and facilities in the proposed subdivision that are necessary to convey water
through the subdivision to lands adjacent to or beyond the subdivision boundaries in quantities and
in a manner that are consistent with historic and legal rights. A minimum width of 10 feet is
required on each side of irrigation canals and ditches for maintenance purposes.

VI-O. Disposition of Water Rights [Section 76-3-504(1)(j), MCA].

If a subdivision will create lots averaging less than five acres in size, the subdivider shall submit
evidence with the final plat that the subdivider has: [Section 76-3-504(1)(j), MCA]

a. reserved all or a portion of the appropriation water rights owned by the owner of the land
to be subdivided and transfer these water rights to a single entity for use by landowners within the
subdivision who have a legal right to the water and reserved and severed any remaining surface
water rights from the land;

b. if the land to be subdivided is subject to a contract or interest in a public or private entity
formed to provide for the use of a water right on the subdivision lots, established a landowner’s
water use agreement administered through a single entity. This agreement must specify how the
water rights will be administered and describe the rights and responsibilities of landowners within
the subdivision who have a legal right and access to the water; or

c. reserved and severed all surface water rights from the land proposed for subdivision.

VI-P. Park Land Dedication — Cash in Lieu — Waivers — Administration [Sections
76-3-504(1)(h) and 76-3-621, MCA].

a. Except as provided below, the final plat of a residential subdivision must show that the
subdivider has dedicated to the governing body a cash or land donation equal to:

i 11% of the area of the land proposed to be subdivided into parcels of one-half
acre or smaller;

ii. 7.5% of the area of the land proposed to be subdivided into parcels larger than
one-half acre and not larger than one acre;

iii. 5% of the area of the land proposed to be subdivided into parcels larger than
one acre and not larger than three acres; and

iv. 2.5% of the area of the land proposed to be subdivided into parcels larger than
three acres and not larger than five acres.

b. A park dedication is not required for:

I Minor subdivisions in unincorporated areas;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 67 of 149



V.

subdivision lots larger than five acres;
nonresidential subdivision lots;

subdivisions in which parcels of land will not be created, other than
subdivisions that will provide permanent multiple spaces for recreational
camping vehicles, mobile homes, or condominiums; or

subdivisions which will create only one additional parcel.

c. The governing body, in consultation with the subdivider and the planning board or park
board that has jurisdiction, may determine suitable locations for parks and playgrounds and, giving
due weight and consideration to the expressed preference of the subdivider, may determine
whether the park dedication must be a land donation, cash donation, or a combination of both.
When a combination of land donation and cash donation is required, the cash donation may not
exceed the proportional amount not covered by the land donation. The land dedicated for park use
may be inside or outside the boundaries of the proposed subdivision.

d. The governing body will waive the park dedication requirement if it determines that:

the preliminary plat provides for a planned unit development or other
development with land permanently set aside for park and recreational uses
sufficient to meet the needs of the persons who will ultimately reside in the
development; and

the area of the land and any improvements set aside for park and recreational
purposes equals or exceeds the area of the dedication required under Section
VI-P (a);

the proposed subdivision will provide for the long-term protection of critical
wildlife habitat; cultural, historical, or natural resources; agricultural interests;
or aesthetic values; and

the provision of this long-term protection will result in the reduction of the area
of the land proposed to be subdivided by an amount equal to or exceeding the
area that would have had to be dedicated under Subsection VI-P (a) above;

the area of the land proposed to be subdivided, by virtue of a combination of
the provisions of Subsections (d)(i) and (ii) above, is reduced by an amount
equal to or exceeding the area of the dedication required under Section VI-P
(a); or

the subdivider provides for land outside of the subdivision to be set aside for
park and recreational uses sufficient to meet the needs of the persons who will
ultimately reside in the subdivision; and

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 68 of 149



the area of the land and any improvements set aside for park and recreational
uses equals or exceeds the area of dedication required under Subsection VI-P

(a).
e. The local governing body may waive the park dedication requirement if:

i the subdivider provides land outside the subdivision that affords long-term
protections of critical wildlife habitat, cultural, historical, or natural resources,
agricultural interests, or aesthetic values; and

ii. The area of land to be subject to long-term protection, as provided in Subsection
(e)(i), equals or exceeds the area of dedication required under Section VI-P (a).

f. Subject to the approval of the local governing body and acceptance by the school district
trustees, a subdivider may dedicate a land donation provided under Section VI-P (a) to a school
district, adequate to be used for school facilities or buildings.

g. The governing body will administer funds dedicated to the public under this section in
accordance with Section 76-3-621, MCA.

h. For the purposes of this park dedication requirement:

I “cash donation” means the fair market value of the unsubdivided, unimproved
land; and

ii. “dwelling unit” means a residential structure in which a person or persons
reside.

VI-Q. Fire Protection [Section 76-3-501(1)(i), MCA].

All subdivisions must be planned, designed, constructed, and maintained to minimize the risk of
fire and to permit the effective and efficient suppression of fires to protect persons, property, and
forested areas. The creation of lots and the placement of structures in a subdivision should be in
such a manner to minimize the potential for flame spread and to permit efficient access for
firefighting equipment.

The presence of adequate firefighting facilities, including an adequate water supply, is vital to the
safety of a subdivision. The governing body shall require the installation of storage tanks with
pumping systems, ground water wells with a pumping system, a dry hydrant system or other means
of fire suppression with water as approved by the governing body. An approved system must
provide a water supply volume adequate to suppress the fire as determined by these regulations.

Access for emergency services and escape routes for residents are a critical component for
providing adequate fire protection for most new subdivisions. Therefore, for major subdivisions
(6 or more lots), two (2) separate ingress/egress routes (public roads) shall be provided for the
subdivision.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 69 of 149



VI-R.

Fire Protection Water Supplies

A water supply of sufficient volume for effective fire control must be provided within the
subdivision as follows:

a. All fire protection water supply systems must be designed by a professional engineer
licensed in the State of Montana. The County’s preference would be that an engineer with
experience designing fire protection water supplies work on the project. The system must
be designed in consultation with the local fire authority having jurisdiction to ensure
compatibility with the authority’s fire-fighting equipment.

b. Prior to filing the final plat, all systems shall be installed and inspected and certified as
meeting the necessary standards and are fully operational by a Professional Engineer
licensed in the State of Montana. A copy of the inspection and certification will be
provided to the local fire authority having jurisdiction.

c. Maintenance of the fire protection water supply and vehicle access:

A notation on the final plat shall state that the property owners within the
subdivision are responsible for the maintenance of the system. The local fire
authority having jurisdiction shall not be responsible for any maintenance or
costs associated with the operation, upgrades, or other measures necessary to
ensure the system functions as designed.

A vehicular public access easement ensuring unrestricted use by the local fire
authority having jurisdiction, shall be established in perpetuity, and shall be
identified and recorded on the final plat.

The system shall be located adjacent to the following type of road in order of
preference:

i. A City or County maintained road
ii. A State maintained highway

iii. A subdivision road that is designated as a public access easement

d. Water shall be supplied by one of the following methods:

A pressurized storage tank capable of providing a minimum flow of 1000
gallons per minute at a minimum of 20 PSI for 30 minutes. The storage tank
must be made of non-corrosive materials that have not been previously used for
storage of any substance and are usable year-round.

A well and pump, in a pump house, providing a minimum flow of 1000 gallons
per minute at 20 PSI for 30 minutes. This includes a year-round supply of

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 70 of 149



electricity to run the pump. In addition, for winter months, the pump house shall
be heated as appropriate in order for the well to operate.

A dry hydrant providing a minimum flow of 1000 gallons from water sources
such as a pond or stream. The source shall have a minimum annual water level
or flow sufficient to meet the water supply needs as required by these
regulations. The supply shall not be rendered unusable because of freezing or
seasonal low water. Adequate water rights to access the water shall be ensured
in @ manner acceptable to the local fire authority having jurisdiction and the
governing body.

An alternative fire protection water supply designed by a licensed professional
engineer in the State of Montana with a minimum flow of 1000 gallons per
minute at a minimum of 20 PSI for 30 minutes and as reviewed and approved
by the governing body.

Existing off-site water supply systems may be used to meet these standards if
they meet the following conditions:

i. The system meets the necessary flow rates and storage identified in
these regulations.

ii. The subdivider has secured any necessary easements and/or agreements
from the affected property owner(s) and/or homeowners association.

iii. The system has an effective maintenance system in place and is shown
to be fully operational by a professional engineer licensed in the State
of Montana. The governing body shall determine if the system
maintenance is effective.

iv. Use of the existing off-site water supply system will not diminish the
fire protection capabilities provided to the subdivision(s) it was
originally built to serve or it is upgraded and/or expanded to provide
volume, pressure, and distribution in accordance with these regulations
for all subdivisions utilizing the system for fire protection in accordance
with these regulations.

e. Fire Protection Water Supply Storage Capacity by Subdivision Classification:

Minor subdivisions (5 or less lots): A minimum of a 30,000-gallon storage
capacity or the equivalent amount of water by other allowed methods listed in
subsection d above must be installed at the time of filing the final plat.

Major subdivisions (6 or more lots): A minimum of a 30,000 gallon or the
equivalent amount of water by other allowed methods listed in subsection d
above and additional storage per proposed lot over six (6) lots as determined by

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 71 of 149



the local fire protection authority having jurisdiction; at the time of the filing of
the final plat.

VI-S. Special Requirements for Subdivisions Proposed in Areas of High Fire Hazard

Risk Determination. Prior to submitting an application for preliminary plat approval, the
subdivider shall contact the local fire authority having jurisdiction to ask the authority to make a
determination whether the subdivision is located in a high fire risk area. The local fire authority
shall have 10 working days to make this determination. This determination shall be based on
one or more of the following criteria:

I.  The proposed subdivision is located in an area identified as Wildland Urban

Interface.

ii.  The proposed subdivision is located in an area with a high density of fuels and/or
slopes greater than 25%.

iii.  The proposed subdivision contains a density of more than one (1) lot per three (3)
acres.

Iv.  The proposed subdivision is located more than ten (10) miles from a fire Station.

v.  The proposed subdivision includes heads of draws, excessive slopes, dense forest
growth or other hazardous wildfire components.

vi.  The proposed subdivision in areas subject to high wildfire hazard as determined by
the local fire authority, U.S. Forest Service or the Forestry Division of the Montana
Department of Natural Resources and Conservation.

If the determination is made that the property proposed for subdivision is located in an area of high
fire risk, the following standards apply:

a. A Fire Prevention and Control Plan must accompany the submission of any application for
preliminary plat approval.

b. The Fire Prevention and Control Plan must include the following items:

i.  an analysis of the wildfire hazards on the site, as influenced by existing vegetation
and topography.

ii.  amap showing the areas that are to be cleared of dead, dying, or severely diseased
vegetation.

ilii.  amap of the areas that are to be thinned to reduce the interlocking canopy of trees.

iv.  the identification of roads, driveways, and bridges that are sufficient for emergency
vehicle access and fire suppression activities. Slopes of all roads must be provided.

c. At least two separate ingress/egress access roads or routes must provide escape routes for
residents and access to the subdivision by fire-fighting vehicles. Bridges providing access
to the subdivision must be built to a design load of HL-93 (80,000 pounds) and constructed

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 72 of 149



of nonflammable materials. Road rights-of-way must be cleared of wildland fuel a
minimum of 50’ either side of roads measured from road center.

d. Building sites may not be located on slopes greater than 25 percent or at the apex of “fire
chimneys” (topographic features, usually drainageways or swales, which tend to funnel or
otherwise concentrate fire toward the top of steep slopes). Building envelopes shall be
shown on the face of the final plat for each lot to ensure no construction occurs on slopes
over 25 percent.

e. The Fire Prevention and Control Plan must be implemented before the governing body will
approve the final plat and will be considered part of the subdivider’s obligations for land
development. The local fire authority having jurisdiction, will inspect and approve the
implementation of the Fire Prevention and Control Plan. The Plan will not be considered
fully implemented until the fire chief has given written notice to the planning board or
subdivision administrator that the Plan has been completed as approved by the governing
body.

f. Provisions for the maintenance of the Fire Prevention and Control Plan shall be included
in the conditions, and restrictions for the development.

g. Open space, parkland, and recreation areas (including green belts, riding, or hiking trails)
should be located, where appropriate, to separate residences and other buildings from
densely forested areas.

VI-T. Noxious Weeds

A County Subdivision Noxious Weed Management and Revegetation Plan shall be developed and
implemented for every new subdivision. The applicant must meet the requirements of the plan
prior to filing the final plat. The final Weed Management and Revegetation Plan must be signed
by the County Weed Coordinator, signed, and notarized by the subdivider, and recorded with the
final plat.

VI-U. Landscape Buffer

The governing body may require a landscape buffer to mitigate impacts to public health and safety.
If required to mitigate impacts, the applicant shall submit a conceptual landscape plan for a 25-
foot buffer. The landscape plan shall contain a combination of berms and/or planting that will
provide an effective buffer. The landscaping shall be installed prior to final plat approval. The
buffer must be shown as a 25-foot setback on the face of the final plat. A maintenance agreement
shall be filed for the maintenance of the landscaping.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 73 of 149



VIlI. CONDOMINIUMS, TOWNHOMES OR TOWNHOUSES

VII-A. Exemptions

a. All condominiums, townhomes, or townhouses or conversions developments are
subdivisions subject to the terms of these Regulations and the Montana Subdivision and Platting
Act (MSPA), except those exempted by Section 76-3-203, MCA, as described below:

I. The approval of the original subdivision of land expressly contemplated the
construction of the condominiums, townhomes, or townhouses or conversions
and any applicable park dedication requirements in Section 76-3-621, MCA are
complied with; or

ii. The condominium, townhome, or townhouse or a conversion proposal is in
conformance with applicable local zoning regulations when local zoning
regulations are in effect.

VII-B. Procedures

a. All condominiums, townhomes, or townhouses or conversion developments which are
not exempt from subdivision review, are subject to the applicable procedures contained in
Section Il. General Procedures and the Design and Improvement Standards in Section VI.

I. All condominiums, townhomes, or townhouses or conversion developments
creating five or fewer units must be reviewed according to Section I11-A First
Minor Subdivisions.

ii. All condominiums, townhomes, or townhouses or conversion developments
creating more than five units must be reviewed according to Section IV
Review and Approval Procedures for Major Subdivisions.

iii. All condominiums, townhomes, or townhouses or conversion developments
that will expand an existing development resulting in the accumulative total of
more than five units must be reviewed according to Section IV Review and
Approval Procedures for Major Subdivisions.

Iv. Any subdivision which will provide multiple spaces for recreational camping

vehicles or manufactured or mobile homes which are converted to condominium
use must be reviewed pursuant to this Section.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 74 of 149



VII-C. Design Standards.

a. A. Condominiums, townhomes or townhouses or conversion developments shall comply
with those standards contained in Section VI. Design and Improvement Standards.

b. Condominiums, townhomes, and townhouses or conversion developments shall comply
with all applicable provisions of the Unit Ownership Act — Condominiums, Title 70, Chapter 23,
MCA, as amended.

c. No structure containing a condominium, townhome or townhouse unit shall extend across
a property line.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 75 of 149



VI1Il. DIVISIONS OF LAND EXEMPT FROM SUBDIVISION
REVIEW

VIII-A. Purpose

The MSPA provides miscellaneous exemptions for some divisions of land, which are found in Part
2 of Title 76, Chapter 3, MCA. These divisions are exempt from local subdivision review and
approval and are therefore not subject to the review requirements or design standards of these
regulations. However, pursuant to Section 76-3-504 (1)(p), MCA local subdivision regulations
must, at a minimum, establish criteria that the governing body or reviewing authority will use to
determine whether proposed methods of disposition, using the exemptions provided in Section 76-
3-201 or 76-3-207, MCA, are attempts to evade the MSPA. This Section establishes those criteria
and the administrative processes for examination of exempt divisions of land.

VIII-B. Exemption Examination Process

VIII-B-1. General Submittal and Administrative Procedures

a. Submittal Requirements

A landowner(s) (“claimant” herein) claiming an exemption listed under Section 1X-C shall
submit a draft certificate of survey, amended plat or, where a survey is not required, a draft
instrument of conveyance and evidence of entitlement to the claimed exemption to the
subdivision administrator for examination. Additional submittal requirements of Section
IX-B-2-1 and those specific to certain types of exemptions are listed in Section 1X-C. The
subdivision administrator may request an Advisory Meeting before processing the
exemption.

Once the application is submitted and if the subdivision administrator determines there are
missing submittal requirements the subdivision administrator, shall identify the missing
requirements (or documents) in writing and shall return the application to the claimant or
their representative and shall take no further action.

b. Subdivision Administrator Review

I. The subdivision administrator shall review the document(s) and may consult
with the City or County Attorney, Examining Land Surveyor, County Clerk and
Recorder, County Health Department, Public Works Director, and other staff
and officials (e.g., the Montana DEQ, Department of Revenue, etc.). Additional
copies of document(s) may be required for other city/county departments for
comment and suggested corrections if necessary. The subdivision administrator
will identify which departments are to receive a copy and a paper copy or .pdf
file may be sent to the department(s) as identified. It is the responsibility of the
person submitting the survey and document(s) to provide and send the required
copies to the departments.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 76 of 149



C.

Vi.

Vil.

Appeals

Once the subdivision administrator has received comments and suggested
corrections from all pertinent departments, the subdivision administrator will
contact the claimant or their representative regarding any suggested corrections
that would be helpful to expedite review and consideration of the document and
survey to be made prior to submittal of the mylar certificate of survey and
associated documents (a signed recordable copy of the Certificate and signed
documents).

The exemption shall be examined to determine whether it complies with the
requirements set forth in this chapter, the MSPA, and the Montana Sanitation in
Subdivisions Act and approved or denied within twenty (20) working days of
the receipt of an application containing all the materials and information. The
subdivision administrator shall make the determination in writing, explaining the
reasons for the determination.

No conditions may be imposed on the approval except for conditions necessary
to ensure compliance with the survey requirements of Title 76, Chapter 3, part
4,

If the subdivision administrator finds that the proposed use of the exemption
complies with the statutes and applicable criteria, the subdivision administrator
shall advise the claimant and the County Clerk and Recorder that the applicable
document(s) may be filed. If the subdivision administrator finds the proposed
use of the exemption does not comply with the statues and the criteria in this
chapter, the subdivision administrator shall advise the claimant and the County
Clerk and Recorder of the decision in writing.

After review and approval of the applicable document(s) by the subdivision
administrator and Examining Land Surveyor, and when all appropriate
signatures are in place, the proper documents shall be filed with the County
Clerk and Recorder’s Office within one calendar year of the notification from
the subdivision administrator that the applicable document(s) may be filed. An
extension may be granted by the subdivision administrator if all circumstances
surrounding the exemption are the same as when the exemption was approved.

If the use of an exemption is denied, the claimant may initiate the process to
apply for subdivision review subject to the requirements of these subdivision
regulations and other applicable regulations or appeal the subdivision
administrator’s decision to the governing body.

A claimant whose proposed use of exemption has been denied by the subdivision
administrator may appeal the subdivision administrator’s decision to the
governing body. The appeal request shall be submitted in writing to the
subdivision administrator with ten (10) working days. The claimant may submit

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 77 of 149



VIII-B-2.

additional evidence to show that the use of the exemption in question is
appropriate and not intended to evade the MSPA. The subdivision administrator
shall submit a staff report and applicable materials to the governing body for its
consideration.

If the governing body (at a duly noticed public meeting or public hearing held
within 20 working days) concludes that the evidence and information
demonstrates that the exemption is not being invoked to evade the MSPA or
otherwise finds the exemption appropriate, the governing body shall authorize
the use of the exemption in writing. A survey claiming such an exemption from
subdivision review (or an instrument of conveyance if no survey is required),
which otherwise is in proper form and approved by the Examining Land
Surveyor, may be filed if it is accompanied by the written authorization of the
governing body.

If the governing body determines that the proposed use of an exemption was for
the purpose of evading the MSPA or these regulations, the claimant proposing
to use the exemption may submit a subdivision application for the proposed land
division.

Exemption Review Criteria

a. When determining whether an exemption is claimed for the purpose of evading the MSPA,
the subdivision administrator (and governing body when considering appeals), shall consider all
the surrounding circumstances. These circumstances may include but are not limited to:

the nature of the claimant’s business,

the prior history of the tract in question (the tract of record on file at the County
Clerk & Recorder Office filed prior to July 1, 1974),

the proposed configuration of the tracts if the proposed exempt transaction(s) is
completed,

and any pattern of exempt transactions that will result in the equivalent of a
subdivision without local government review. [State ex rel. Dreher v. Fuller,
849 P.2d 1045 (1993)]

b. Exempt divisions of land that would result in a pattern of development equivalent to a
subdivision may be considered to be adopted for purposes of evading the MSPA based on the
surrounding circumstances in Subsection (a), above.

c. When determining whether an exemption is claimed for the purpose of evading the MSPA,
the subdivision administrator (and governing body when considering appeals), shall consider the
criteria for review outlined for the specific exemptions listed in Section IX-C below.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 78 of 149



VIII-B-3. General Requirements for Exemptions

a. All parcels and the use of all parcels created or amended using an exemption shall comply
with any applicable zoning regulations.

b. The local jurisdiction may not require lots resulting from exempt divisions to comply with
Section VI, Design, and Improvement Standards, unless the exemption seeks to alter a lot that was
subject to the design and improvement standards of the subdivision regulations during subdivision
review.

c. To exempt divisions and/or remaining parcels of land resulting from the exemptions in
Section 76-3-207, MCA from the survey requirements of MCA 76-3-401, the parcel(s) must be
able to be described as a 1/32 or larger aliquot part of a United States Government section.

d. Subject to the following, a division of land exempt from subdivision review by Section 76-
3-207, MCA (family transfers, agricultural exemptions, relocation of common boundaries, or
aggregations) may not be made unless the County Treasurer has certified that all real property
taxes and special assessments assessed and levied on the land to be divided have been paid.

. If a division of land includes centrally assessed property and the property taxes
applicable to the division of land are not specifically identified in the tax
assessment, the department of revenue shall prorate the taxes applicable to the
land being divided on a reasonable basis. The owner of the centrally assessed
property shall ensure that the prorated real property taxes and special
assessments are paid on the land being sold before the division of land is made.

ii. The County Treasurer may accept the amount of the tax prorated pursuant to the
above subsection as a partial payment of the total tax that is due.

VIII-C. Requirements for Specific Exemptions

VII-C-1. Gift or Sale to a Member of the Immediate Family [Section 76-3-207 (1)(b),
MCA]I:

Divisions made outside of platted subdivisions for the purpose of a single gift or sale in each county
to each member of the landowner's immediate family.

a. Statement of Intent

The intent of this exemption is to allow a landowner to create one parcel for conveyance to each
immediate family member without local subdivision review.

b. Requirements

I. This exempt division may only be made outside of any platted subdivision unless
the following criteria are met:

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 79 of 149



Vi.

Vii.

viii.

(@) the exempt division complies with adopted zoning for the subdivision;
(b) is within a subdivision that has been approved by the governing body;
(c) creates parcels of a size allowed within the subdivision;

(d) an amended plat pursuant to Section I1-B-6 is filed with the county clerk and
recorder; and

(e) the amended plat states that a restriction or requirement on the platted
subdivision continues to apply to the division.

Only one parcel may be conveyed to each immediate family member of the
landowner under this exemption in each county where the landowner owns
property. A conveyance outside a platted subdivision may be owned jointly with
that immediate family member’s spouse.

For purposes of this exemption, “immediate family member” means a spouse,
child by blood or adoption, and parent of the grantor.

This exemption may only be used when the grantors and grantees are natural
persons and not entities such as corporations, partnerships, and trusts.

Filing of any certificate of survey (or recording of an instrument of conveyance)
that would use this exemption must show the name of the grantee, relationship
to the landowner, and the parcel to be conveyed under this exemption, and the
landowner's certification of compliance [ARM 24.183.1104 (1)(f)(ii) found in
Appendix Al.

Any certificate of survey that would use this exemption shall be accompanied
by the instrument of conveyance, such as a deed.

A conveyance outside a platted subdivision may be made regardless of age. If
the transfer is to a minor, the transfer must be in accordance with the Uniform
Transfer to Minors Act and appropriate documentation must be provided. See,
Section 72-26-603, MCA.

A division of land outside of a platted subdivision that is also located in a zoning
district is allowed if each exemption is at least 5 acres, unless the zoning district
allows for smaller lot sizes.

An immediate family member or the spouse of an immediate family member
may not transfer or otherwise convey the division of land for a period of up
to 2 years after the date of the division. The immediate family member or spouse
must sign a statement that they will not convey the division for the period of
years which shall be filed with the certificate of survey, amended plat or aliquot
part division deed.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 80 of 149



X. The immediate family member or spouse may request a variance from holding
the division for a period of years to address hardship situations such as:

(a) death of the immediate family member or spouse; or
(b) medical emergency.

c. Criteria for Review

I. Whether the proposed use of a family transfer exemption is to divide a tract of
record that was created through use of an exemption. This is in effect regardless
of previous ownership of the tracts and pertains to remaining tracts of less than
160 acres as well as to those tracts that were created through the exemptions.

ii. Whether the proposed use of a family transfer exemption is to divide a tract that
was created as part of an overall development plan with such characteristics as
common roads, utility easements, open space or common marketing or
promotional plan.

ii. Whether the proposed use of a family transfer exemption was preceded by a
transfer of a parcel of land by one or more family members to another, to prepare
for a qualifying family transfer, followed by the attempted use of this exemption.

iv. Whether the proposed use of a family transfer exemption would create more than
one remaining parcel of less than 160 acres.

d. Enforcement

If a governing body can prove by documented evidence in a court of competent
jurisdiction that a person has knowingly evaded subdivision review for a family transfer
within or outside a platted subdivision, that person is subject to a civil penalty of $5,000
for each division of land, payable to the governing body.

VIII-C-2. Divisions of Land for Agricultural Use Only [Section 76-3-207 (1)(c), MCAI:

Divisions made outside of platted subdivisions by gift, sale, or agreement to buy and sell in which
the parties to the transaction enter a covenant running with the land and that the divided land will
be used exclusively for agricultural purposes. If the divided land is used for anything other than
agricultural purposes, the land must go through subdivision review.

a. Statement of Intent

The intent of this exemption is to allow a landowner to create a parcel without local subdivision
review where the parcel will be used only for production of livestock or agricultural crops and no
residential, commercial, or industrial buildings, which require water or sewer, will be built on it.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 81 of 149



b. Requirements

For purposes of this exemption, the term “agricultural purposes” means the use
of land for raising crops or livestock, or for the preservation of open space, and
specifically excludes residential, commercial, and industrial uses and structures,
as well as any facilities for commercially or industrially processing agricultural
products.

The division must be located outside any platted subdivision.

The division must be exempt from sanitation review by the MDEQ pursuant to
Section 76-4-125 (2)(c), MCA, as a division made for purposes other than the
construction of water supply or sewage and solid waste disposal facilities. This
sanitation exclusion must be properly invoked by the property owner on the
certificate of survey (or instrument of conveyance).

A certificate of survey (or instrument of conveyance) that uses this exemption
requires a covenant running with the land in accordance with Section 76-3-207
(1)(c), MCA, and a signed and acknowledged recitation of the covenant on the
face of the survey (or conveyance document) [ARM 24.183.1104 (1)(f)(i), refer
to Appendix A].

Any change in use of the newly created agricultural parcel for anything other
than agricultural purposes subjects the parcel to subdivision review. Residential,
commercial, or industrial structures, including facilities for commercial
processing of agricultural products, may not be utilized, constructed, or erected
on parcels created under this exemption unless the covenant is revoked through
subdivision review.

c. Criteria for Review

d. Removal

Whether the proposed use of an agricultural exemption is to divide a tract of
record that was created through use of an exemption. This is in effect regardless
of previous ownership of the tracts and pertains to remaining tracts of less than
160 acres as well as to those tracts that were created through the exemptions.

Whether the proposed use of an agricultural exemption is to divide a tract that
was created as part of an overall development plan with such characteristics as
common roads, utility easements, open space or common marketing or
promotional plan.

Whether the proposed use of an agricultural exemption would create more than
one remaining parcel of less than 160 acres.

Removal of the agricultural covenant according to Section 76-3-211, MCA,; or,

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 82 of 149



I. The governing body may, in its discretion, approve the removal of the
agricultural covenant without subdivision review if:

A. The original lot lines are restored through aggregation of the covenanted
tract prior to, or in conjunction with, the lifting of the agricultural covenant;
or,

B. The proposed lifting of the covenant is for a government or public entity

seeking to use the tract for public purposes. Public purposes are defined for
the purposes of this section as utility stations, airports, cemeteries, water
and/or wastewater facilities.

1. The governing shall determine the qualifications and purpose of the
public entity, by the following:

a. holding a public hearing as set forth in Section I1-F,

b. considering the information and evidence provided at the public
hearing,

c. issuing written findings of fact based on the information and
evidence within 15 working days, and.

d. either approving or denying the removal of the agricultural
covenant.

C. The land is annexed into a municipality.

ii. An Agricultural Exemption Removal agreement lifting the agricultural covenant
shall be recorded at the office of the County Clerk and Recorder.

ii. The revocation of an Agricultural Covenant Exemption does not affect sanitary
restrictions imposed under Title 76, Chapter 4, MCA.

VII-C-3. Relocation of Common Boundaries and Aggregation of Lots [Section 76-3-207
(1) (a), (d), (), and (f), MCAJ:

a. Statement of Intent

The intent of these exemptions is to allow a change in the location of one or more boundary line
between parcels and to allow transfer of the land without subdivision review or to allow more than
one parcel to be aggregated into fewer parcels.

b. Requirements

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 83 of 149



I. If the relocation of common boundaries would result in the permanent creation
of an additional parcel of land, the division of land must be reviewed as a
subdivision.

i If a change is made to a platted subdivision which results in a redesign or
rearrangement of six or more lots in a platted subdivision, the division of land
must be reviewed as a major subdivision.

iii. If the relocation of common boundaries would result in the creation of a new
lot in a platted subdivision, the relocation must be reviewed as an amendment
to a final platted subdivision.

v, Certificates of survey or amended plats for those altering platted subdivisions,
claiming one of these exemptions must clearly distinguish between existing
boundary locations and new boundary locations. This shall be accomplished by
showing the existing boundaries with dashed lines and the new boundaries with
solid lines. The appropriate certification set forth in ARM 24.183.1104 (1)(f)
must be included on the certificate of survey or amended plat.

ii. Any restriction or requirement on the original platted lot or original unplatted
parcel continues to apply to those areas.

c. Criteria for Review

i. Whether the resulting lots are inconsistent with an approved subdivision and the
uses in it.

ii. Whether the documentation submitted does or does not support the stated
purpose for the relocation;

iii. Whether the proposed relocation creates a parcel of less than 160 acres which,
prior to the relocation included more than 160 acres.

VIII-C-4. Exemption to Provide Security for a Construction Mortgage, Lien or Trust
Indenture [Section 76-3-201 (1)(b), MCA]:

If a parcel of land was divided using this exemption and one of the parcels created by the division
was conveyed by the landowner to another party without foreclosure before October 1, 2003, the
conveyance of the remaining parcel is not subject to the requirements of Parts 5 and 6 of the MSPA
and the subdivision review processes of these regulations.

a. Statement of Intent

The intended purpose of this exemption is to allow a claimant who is buying a tract using financing
or a contract for deed to segregate a smaller parcel from the tract for security for financing
construction of a home on the property. No tract of land is created unless there is a default by the
claimant to the lending institution.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 84 of 149



C.

Use of Exemption

This exemption is not available to simply create a parcel without review by
claiming that the parcel will be used for security to finance construction of a
home or other structure on the proposed lot.

This exemption may not be properly invoked unless:

The claimant is purchasing a larger tract through financing or a contract for
deed (and thus does not hold title); and

A lending institution requires the claimant to hold title to a smaller parcel
of the tract because the smaller tract is required as security for a building
construction loan.

Requirements

These regulations do not require a certificate of survey or amended plat to invoke
the use of the exemption claimed under Section 76-3-201 (1)(b), MCA. Surveys
for this exemption are at the discretion of the claimants, lending institutions,
surveyors, etc., but are encouraged to provide proper legal descriptions in the
event of default of the lien and creation of the tract(s).

When this exemption is to be used, the claimant shall submit the following along
with an affidavit affirming entitlement to the claimed exemption to the
subdivision administrator:

A statement of how many parcels within the original tract would be created
by use of the exemption;

A signed statement from a lending institution that the creation of the
exempted parcel is necessary to secure a construction loan for buildings or
other improvements on the parcel; and

Documentation that the lending institution is a financial or lending
institution registered to do business in the State of Montana.

Criteria for Review

Whether the exemption will create more than one building site;

Whether the financing is not for construction on the exempted parcel, or for re-
financing;

Whether the person named in the statement explaining who will have possession
of the remainder parcel if title to the exempted parcel is created through a default

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 85 of 149



Vi.

Vii.

VI11-C-5.

to the lending institution is anyone other than the borrower of funds for
construction;

Whether there is an existing prior agreement to default or a prior agreement to
purchase only a portion of the original tract;

Whether title to the exempted parcel will not be initially obtained by the lending
institution if foreclosure occurs;

Whether it appears that the principal reason the parcel is being created is to create
a building site and using the parcel to secure a construction loan is a secondary
purpose; or

Whether the division of land is created for the purpose of conveyance to any
entity other than the financial or lending institution to which the mortgage, lien
or trust indenture was given, or to a purchaser upon foreclosure of the mortgage,
lien, or trust indenture.

Division for Rights-of-way or Utility Site [Section 76-3-201 (1)(h), MCA]:

a. Statement of Intent

The intent is to create rights-of-way or utility sites. Utility is defined in Section 69-3-101, MCA.
Rights-of-way for land dedication for city, county roads or other transportation systems may
require land dedications rather than easements. A subsequent change in the use of the land to a
residential, commercial, or industrial use is subject to the requirements of the MSPA and
subdivision review under these regulations.

b. Requirements

Landowner approval or proof of eminent domain authority by the entity
acquiring the right-of-way.

Documentation to be filed shall include a notarized statement from the recipient
accepting the right-of-way, stating the purpose of the right-of-way, and noticing
that under Section 76-3-201, MCA a subsequent change in the use to residential,
commercial, or industrial subjects the division to review under the MSPA and
subdivision review under these regulations.

Any certificate of survey that would use this exemption shall be accompanied
by the instrument of conveyance, such as a deed.

c. Criteria for Review

Whether the proposed exemption is for a right-of-way or utility site.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 86 of 149



ii. Whether the entity to which the right-of-way is being transferred is for a city,
county roads or other transportation systems, or the entity for which a utility site
is created does meet the definition of a utility per Section 69-3-101, MCA.

VIII-C-6. Court Ordered Divisions [Section 76-3-201 (1)(a), MCA]:

a. The intent of this exemption is to provide for divisions of land created by order of any court
of record in this state or by operation of law or that, in the absence of agreement between the
parties to the sale, could be created by an order of any court in this state pursuant to the law of
eminent domain, Title 70, Chapter 30, MCA.

b. Pursuant to Section 76-3-201 (2), MCA, before a court of record orders a division of land,
the court shall notify the governing body of the pending division and allow the governing body to
present written comments on the division.

c. A court ordered division of land is not a subdivision under this chapter if no more than four
new lots or parcels are created from the original lot or parcel. If more than four new lots or parcels
are created, the division must go through subdivision review under these regulations.

VII-C-7. Condominiums, Townhomes, or Townhouses [Section 76-3-203, MCAJ:

a. Statement of Intent

Generally, condominiums, townhomes, or townhouses, or conversion as those terms are
defined in Section 70-23-102, MCA are subject to review as subdivisions, but under certain
circumstances they may be exempt from review pursuant to Section 76-3-203, MCA.

b. Use of the exemption

i Condominiums, townhomes, or townhouses, or conversion as those terms are
defined in Section 70-23-102, MCA are exempt from subdivision review if:

A. They are constructed on lots subdivided in compliance with these
regulations and the approval of the original subdivision of land expressly
contemplated the construction of the condominiums, townhomes, or
townhouses or conversion and any applicable park dedication requirements
in Section 76-3-621, MCA and Section VI-P of these regulations are
complied with; or

B. The condominium, townhome, or townhouse or conversion proposal is in
conformance with applicable local zoning regulations pertaining to land
use, density, bulk and dimensional requirements, landscaping and parking
requirements when local zoning regulations are in effect.

C. The governing body may not enact regulations prohibiting the townhome
form of ownership or impose conditions on a determination that the
condominium, townhome, townhouse or conversion proposal and may not

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 87 of 149



require the condominium, townhome, townhouse or conversion proposal to
undergo a conditional use permit or other quasi-judicial governmental
review process adopted pursuant to zoning regulations as a prerequisite to
determining the eligibility for an exemption.

c. Requirements

I. To use the exemption, the Declaration of Unit Ownership must include an
exhibit containing certification from the subdivision administrator or governing
body that the condominiums are exempt from review under Section 76-3-203,
MCA (See Section 70-23-301, MCA).

ii. Only the local government has the authority to determine whether a division of
land is exempt from subdivision review. The act of recording a condominium
declaration does not establish the declaration’s validity simply because the
County Clerk and Recorder’s Office accepted and recorded it.

Iii. To obtain certification from the subdivision administrator that the
condominiums, townhomes, or townhouses or conversion are exempt from
review as a subdivision, the person seeking the use of the exemption shall submit
evidence of and an affidavit affirming entitlement to the exemption to the
subdivision administrator, who will review the documents as required under the
exemption review process; however, an exemption claimed pursuant to Section
76-3-203, MCA is not subject to examination under the Exemption Evasion
Criteria.

VIII-C-8. Exemptions not requiring action by the subdivision administrator.

If a survey is to be filed with the County Clerk and Recorder’s Office to utilize any of the
exemptions not subject to action by the subdivision administrator, the survey is subject to
examination by the Examining Land Surveyor for compliance with the uniform standards adopted
under Appendix A of these regulations. These exemptions are as follows:

a. Adivision of land created by lease or rental of contiguous airport-related land owned by a
city, a county, the state, or a municipal or regional airport authority is not subject to the subdivision
review requirements of this chapter or the MSPA, provided that the lease or rental is for onsite
weather or air navigation facilities, the manufacture, maintenance, and storage of aircraft, or air
carrier-related activities. [Section 76-3-205 (1), MCA]

b. A division of state-owned land is not subject to the subdivision review requirements of this
chapter or the MSPA unless the division creates a second or subsequent parcel from a single tract
for sale, rent, or lease for residential purposes after July 1, 1974. [Section 76-3-205 (2), MCA]

c. Deeds, contracts, leases, or other conveyances which were executed prior to July 1, 1974.
[Section 76-3-206, MCA]

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 88 of 149



d. State Highways: Instruments of transfer of land which is acquired for state highways may
refer by parcel and project number to state highway plans which have been recorded in compliance
with Section 60-2-209, MCA and are exempted from the surveying and platting requirements of
the MSPA and these regulations. If such parcels are not shown on highway plans of record,
instruments of transfer of such parcels shall be accompanied by and referred to appropriate
certificates of survey and plats when presented for recording. A survey or plat for the recordation
of an instrument transferring title to a remainder that was created when the state obtained property
for a highway right-of-way is not required. [44 A.G. Opinion 25 (1992)]

e. The following divisions in Section 76-3-201, MCA not previously included in this section:

I. A division of land that creates an interest in oil, gas, minerals, or water that is
severed from the surface ownership of real property;

ii. A division of land that creates cemetery lots;
iii. A division of land that is created by the reservation of a life estate;

Iv. A division of land that is created by lease or rental for farming and agricultural
purposes;

V. A division of land that is in a location over which the state does not have
jurisdiction; and

VII-C-9. Identification Codes

To assist in the implementation of this review process and to monitor those parcels by exemption
the Clerk and Recorder may cause the following identification codes to be added to the numbering
of recorded certificates of survey filed after the effective date of these regulations.

CO ... Court order [76-3-201 (1)(a), MCA]

ME ... Mortgage Exemption [76-3-201 (1)(b), MCA]

LE ... Life Estate [76-3-201 (1)(e), MCA]

RB ... Relocation of Common Boundary [76-3-207 (1)(a), MCA]
FC ... Family Conveyance [76-3-207 (1)(b), MCA]

AE ... Agricultural Exemption [76-3-207 (1)(c), MCA]

OS ... Occasional Sale (used prior to April 6, 1993)

AL ... Aggregation of Lots [76-3-207 (e), MCA]

US ... Utility Site [76-3-201 (1)(h), MCA]

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 89 of 149



ROW ... Rights-of-Way [76-3-201 (1)(h), MCA]

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 90 of 149



APPENDIX A: UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR
MONUMENTATION, CERTIFICATES OF SURVEY, AND FINAL
SUBDIVISION PLATS

24.183.1101 UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR MONUMENTATION

24.183.1101 UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR MONUMENTATION

(1) The following standards govern the monumentation of land surveys:

(@) The terms "monument™ and "permanent monument” as used in these regulations mean any
structure of masonry, metal, or other permanent, durable material placed in the ground,
which is exclusively identifiable as a monument to a survey point, expressly placed for
surveying reference.

(b) All metal monuments must be at least one-half inch in diameter and 18 inches in length with a
cap not less than one inch in diameter marked in a permanent manner with the license
number of the surveyor in charge of the survey and either the name of the surveyor or the
company employing the surveyor. Metal monuments marking a public land survey corner
as described in 70-22-101, MCA, must be at least 24 inches long and 5/8 inch in diameter
with an appropriately stamped metal cap at least two inches in diameter. A monument
marking a public land survey corner may also consist of a cap as described in this rule set
firmly in concrete.

(c) Before a subdivision plat or certificate of survey may be filed for record, the surveyor shall
confirm the location of as many monuments as, in the surveyor's professional judgment,
are necessary to reasonably assure the perpetuation of any corner or boundary established
by the survey and to enable other surveyors to reestablish those corners and boundaries and
retrace the survey. The surveyor shall clearly identify on the face of the plat or certificate
of survey all monuments pertinent to the survey, and the descriptions of these monuments
must be sufficient to identify the monuments.

(d) The surveyor shall set all monuments prior to the filing of a plat or certificate of survey, except
those monuments that will be disturbed by the installation of improvements, or because of
severe weather conditions, may, in the surveyor's judgment, be more appropriately and
accurately set after the weather has improved. In these two circumstances the surveyor may
set monuments after the survey document is filed if the surveyor certifies on the survey
document that the monuments will be set by a specified date. The surveyor shall set
monuments, the placement of which has been deferred because of severe weather
conditions, within 240 days of the date on which the survey document was filed.

(i) If during the later monumentation of the corners of a plat or certificate of survey that were not
monumented before the plat or certificate was filed, the surveyor finds that it is necessary
to set a reference monument to a corner, the surveyor shall prepare and file an amended
certificate of survey or subdivision plat.

(i) The failure of the surveyor to set the monuments by the date certified on the record of survey
will be deemed a violation of these rules.

(e) The surveyor shall set monuments at the following locations:

(i) at each corner and angle point of all lots, blocks and parcels of land created by the survey;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 91 of 149



(ii) at every point of intersection of the outer boundary of a subdivision with an existing road right-
of-way line of record or a road right-of-way line created by the survey;

(iii) at every point of curve, point of tangency, point of reversed curve, point of compounded curve
and point of intersection on each road right-of-way line created by the survey; and

(iv) at the intersection of a boundary line and a meander line. Meander line angle points need not
otherwise be monumented.

(F) If the placement of a required monument at its proper location is physically impractical, the
surveyor may set a reference or witness monument. This monument has the same status as
other monuments of record if its location is properly shown. If the surveyor relies upon any
existing monument in conducting a survey, he or she shall confirm the location of the
monument and show and describe it on the resulting certificate of survey or subdivision
plat.

(g) If the land surveyor sets a monument that is on, is a part of, and controls a property line, then
the surveyor shall file a certificate of survey which complies with the requirements of ARM
24.183.1104. Alternatively, the surveyor may file a corner record in lieu of a certificate of
survey pursuant to 70-22-105(2), MCA.

(2) Remonumentation of public land survey corner monuments shall conform to ARM
24.183.1002.

24.183.1104 UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR CERTIFICATES OF SURVEY

(1) A certificate of survey must comply with the following requirements:

(a) A certificate of survey must be legibly drawn with permanent black ink or printed or reproduced
by a process guaranteeing a permanent record and must be 18 inches by 24 inches or 24
inches by 36 inches. Margins must be a minimum 1/2-inch on all sides, or as required by
the filing office.

(b) One original on three mil or heavier matte stable-base polyester film or equivalent and/or one
original on 24# white bond paper or equivalent must be submitted, or on such medium as
required by the filing office.

(c) If more than one sheet must be used to adequately depict the land surveyed, each sheet must
show the number of that sheet and the total number of sheets included. All certifications
must be placed on sheet number one of the certificate of survey.

(d) A certificate of survey must show or contain the following information:

(1) atitle or title block including the quarter-section, section, township, range, principal meridian,
county, and if applicable, city or town in which the surveyed land is located. Except as
provided in (1)(f)(v), a certificate of survey must not contain the title "plat,” "subdivision,"
or any title other than "Certificate of Survey";

(ii) the name(s) of the person(s) who commissioned the survey, the name(s) of the owner(s) of the
land surveyed, if other than the person(s) commissioning the survey, the names of any
adjoining plats, and the numbers of any adjoining certificates of survey previously filed;

(iii) the date the survey was completed and a brief explanation of why the certificate of survey was
prepared, such as to create a new parcel, retrace a section line, or retrace an existing parcel
of land;

(iv) a north arrow;

(v) a scale bar. The scale of the certificate of survey must be sufficient to legibly represent the
required information and data on the certificate of survey;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 92 of 149



(vi) the location of, and other information relating to all monuments found, set, reset, replaced, or
removed as required by ARM 24.183.1101,;

(A) If additional monuments are to be set after the certificate of survey is filed, the location of
these monuments must be shown by a distinct symbol, and the certificate of survey must
contain a certification by the land surveyor as to the reason the monuments have not been
set and the date by which they will be set, as required by ARM 24.183.1101(1)(d).

(B) All monuments found during the survey that influenced the position of any corner or boundary
indicated on the certificate of survey must be clearly shown as required by ARM
24.183.1101(1)(c).

(C) Witness and reference monuments must be clearly shown.

(vii) the location of any section corner or corners of divisions of sections the land surveyor deems
to be pertinent to the survey or was used as a control in the survey;

(viii) basis of bearing. For purposes of this rule, the term "basis of bearing” means the land
surveyor's statement as to the origin of the bearings shown on the certificate of survey. If
the basis of bearing(s) refers to two previously monumented points in a previously filed
survey document, then the two previously monumented points must be shown and
described on the certificate of survey, the line marked by the two previously monumented
points must be labeled "basis of bearing," and the previously filed survey document name
or number must be cited in the land surveyor's statement as to the origin of the bearing(s).
If the certificate of survey shows true bearings, the basis of bearing must describe the
method by which these true bearings were determined;

(ix) the bearings, distances, and curve data of all boundary lines and all control or pertinent lines
used to determine the boundaries of the parcel(s) surveyed. If the parcel surveyed is
bounded by an irregular shoreline or a body of water that is a riparian boundary, the
bearings and distances of a meander traverse generally paralleling the riparian boundary
must be given;

(A) The courses along a meander line are shown solely to provide a basis for calculating the area
of a parcel that has one or more riparian boundaries as the parcel existed at the time of
survey.

(B) For purposes of this rule, a line that indicates a fixed boundary of a parcel is not a "meander™
or "meander line" and may not be designated as one.

(C) If a boundary, control, or pertinent line contains multiple segments of the whole, then the
overall distance must be shown, and each segment must at least include distance.

(x) data on all curves sufficient to enable the reestablishment of the curves on the ground. For
circular curves, the data must at least include radius and arc length, and either delta angle,
radial bearings, or chord bearing and distance. All non-tangent points of intersection on the
curve must show either the bearings of radial lines or chord length and bearing. Non-
tangent curves must be so labeled,;

(xi) lengths of all lines shown to at least tenths of a foot, and all angles and bearings shown to at
least the nearest minute. Distance measurements must be stated in English units, but their
metric equivalents, shown to the nearest hundredth of a meter, may be noted
parenthetically;

(xii) at least one record measurement reference for each line and curve, if available, must be shown;

(xiii) a narrative legal description of the parcel(s) surveyed.

(A) The land surveyor, at his or her discretion, may choose the form of the narrative legal
description as follows:

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 93 of 149



() If the parcel surveyed is either an aliquot part of a U.S. government section or a U.S.
government lot, the narrative legal description may be the aliquot part or the government
lot description of the parcel;

(11) If the certificate of survey depicts the division of one or more parcels shown on a previously
filed certificate of survey, the narrative legal description may be the number of the
previously filed certificate of survey and the parcel number of the parcel(s) previously
surveyed;

(1) If the certificate of survey depicts the retracement of one or more parcels shown on a
previously filed certificate of survey, plat, or amended plat, the narrative legal description
may be the number of the previously filed certificate of survey or the name of the
previously filed plat or amended plat, and the parcel number of the parcel(s) previously
surveyed;

(V) If the survey creates or retraces one or more parcels, the narrative legal description may be
either the metes-and-bounds description of each individual parcel created by the survey or
the metes-and-bounds description of the perimeter boundary of the parcels surveyed; or

(V) If the narrative legal description does not fall within (1)(d)(xiii)(A)(I), (I1), or (I11), then the
narrative legal description required by this subsection must conform with
DA i (A)IV).

(B) When the narrative legal description is metes-and-bounds, the point of beginning, which is
also the point of closure of the legal description of the parcel surveyed, must be labeled
"Point of Beginning." Alternatively, the point of beginning may be labeled "POB" if the
abbreviation is defined on the certificate of survey.

(C) The requirement of this rule does not apply to certificates of survey that depict a partial
retracement of the boundaries of an existing parcel or establish the location of lines or
corners that control the location of an existing parcel.

(xiv) all parcels created or retraced by the certificate of survey designated by number or letter, and
the bearings, distances, curve data, and area of each parcel, except as provided in (1)(f)(iii).
If a parcel created by the certificate of survey is identifiable as a 1/32 or larger aliquot part
of a U.S. government section or as a U.S. government lot, it may be designated by number
or letter or by its aliquot part or government lot identification;

(xv) the location, bearings, distances, and curve data of any easement that will be created by
reference to the certificate of survey;

(xvi) the dated signature and the seal of the land surveyor responsible for the survey. The land
surveyor's signature certifies that the certificate of survey has been prepared in
conformance with the applicable sections of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act and
the regulations adopted under the Act;

(xvii) a memorandum of any oaths administered under 76-3-405, MCA,

(xviii) if applicable, the certificate of the examining land surveyor; and

(xix) space for the clerk and recorder's filing information.

(e) Certificates of survey that do not represent a division or aggregation of land, such as those
depicting the retracement of an existing parcel and those prepared for informational
purposes, must contain a statement as to their purpose and must meet applicable
requirements of this rule for form and content. If the purpose of a certificate of survey is
stated as a retracement or partial retracement, and if multiple tracts of record contained
within the parcel's perimeter boundary on the certificate of survey are not individually
shown, then the certificate of survey does not expunge the tracts of record unless it

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 94 of 149



conforms to (1)(f)(iv) and contains the acknowledged certificate of the property owner(s)
citing the applicable exemption in its entirety.

(F) Procedures for divisions of land exempted from review as subdivisions. If one or more parcels
on a certificate of survey is created by an exemption from subdivision review under 76-3-
207, MCA, then, except as provided in (1)(f)(iii) and (iv), the certificate of survey must
establish the boundaries of the exemption parcel(s). The certificate of survey is not required
to establish, but may establish, the exterior boundaries of the remaining portion of the
parent tract of land. However, the certificate of survey must show portions of the existing
unchanged boundaries sufficient to identify the location and extent of the exemption parcel
to be created. Unsurveyed portions of the parent tract of land must be labeled, "NOT A
PART OF THIS CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY" or "NOT INCLUDED IN THIS
CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY". The certificate of survey must contain the acknowledged
certificate of the property owner stating that the division of land is exempt from review as
a subdivision and cite the applicable exemption in its entirety. The certificate of survey
must meet the following requirements:

(1) If the exemption relied upon requires that the property owner enter into a covenant running with
the land, the certificate of survey may not be filed unless it shows or contains a signed and
acknowledged recitation of the covenant in its entirety.

(ii) If a certificate of survey invokes the exemption for gift(s) or sale(s) to members of the
landowner's immediate family, the certificate of survey must indicate the name of the
proposed grantee, the relationship of the grantee to the landowner, and the parcel to be
conveyed to the grantee.

(iii) If a certificate of survey invokes the exemption for the relocation of common boundary line(s):

(A) The certificate of survey must contain the signatures of all landowners whose tracts of record
will be altered by the proposed relocation. The certificate of survey must show that the
exemption was used only to change the location of a boundary line or lines common to two
or more tracts of record, and must clearly distinguish the prior boundary location or
locations (shown, for example, by dashed or broken line(s) with a notation) from the new
boundary location or locations (shown, for example, by solid line(s) with a notation);

(B) The certificate of survey must show the boundaries of the area that is being removed from one
tract of record and joined with another tract of record. The certificate of survey is not
required to establish, but may establish, the exterior boundaries of the resulting tracts of
record. However, the certificate of survey must show portions of the existing unchanged
boundaries sufficient to clearly identify both the location and the extent of the boundary
relocation. Unsurveyed portions of the tracts of record must be labeled, "NOT A PART OF
THIS CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY" or "NOT INCLUDED IN THIS CERTIFICATE OF
SURVEY"; and

(C) The certificate of survey must contain the following notation: "The area that is being removed
from one tract of record and joined with another tract of record is not itself a tract of record.
Said area shall not be available as a reference legal description in any subsequent real
property transfer after the initial transfer associated with the [certificate of survey or
amended plat] on which said area is described, unless said area is included with or excluded
from adjoining tracts of record."

(iv) If a certificate of survey invokes the exemption for aggregation of parcels or lots:

(A) The certificate of survey must contain the signatures of all landowners whose tracts of record
will be altered by the proposed aggregation. The certificate of survey must show that the

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 95 of 149



exemption was used only to eliminate a boundary line or lines common to two or more

tracts of record, and must clearly distinguish the prior boundary location or locations

(shown, for example, by dashed or broken line(s) with a notation) from the new perimeter

boundary location or locations (shown, for example, by solid line(s) with a notation); and

(B) The certificate of survey must establish the perimeter boundary of the resulting tract(s) of
record.

(v) A survey document that modifies lots on a filed plat and invokes an exemption from subdivision
review under 76-3-201 or 76-3-207(1)(d), (e), or (f), MCA, must be entitled "amended plat
of [lot, block, and name of subdivision being amended],” but for all other purposes must
comply with the requirements for form and descriptive content of certificates of survey
contained in this rule.

(vi) If the certificate of survey invokes an exemption from subdivision review under 76-3-207,
MCA, the certificate of survey must contain or be accompanied by a certification by the
county treasurer that all real property taxes and special assessments assessed and levied on
the surveyed land have been paid.

(vii) For purposes of this rule, when the parcel of land for which an exemption from subdivision
review is claimed is being conveyed under a contract-for-deed, the terms "property owner,"
"landowner," and "owner" mean the seller of the land under the contract-for-deed.

(9) The land surveyor, at his or her discretion, may provide additional information on the certificate
of survey regarding the survey.

(h) Procedures for filing certificates of survey of divisions of land entirely exempted from
the requirements of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act. The divisions of
land described in 76-3-201, 76-3-205, and 76-3-209, MCA, and divisions of
federally owned land made by a U.S. government agency are not required to be
surveyed, nor must a certificate of survey or plat showing these divisions be filed
with the clerk and recorder. However, a certificate of survey of one of these
divisions may be filed with the clerk and recorder if the certificate of survey meets
the requirements for form and content for certificates of survey contained in this
rule and contains a certificate of all the landowners citing the applicable exemption
from the Act in its entirety, or when applicable, that the land surveyed is owned by
the federal government. The certificate of survey must establish the boundaries of
the exemption parcel(s). The certificate of survey is not required to establish, but
may establish, the exterior boundaries of the remaining portion of the parent tract
of land. However, the certificate of survey must show portions of the existing
unchanged boundaries sufficient to identify the location and extent of the
exemption parcel to be created. Unsurveyed portions of the parent tract of land must
be labeled, "NOT A PART OF THIS CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY" or "NOT
INCLUDED IN THIS CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY."

24.183.1107 UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR FINAL SUBDIVISION PLATS

(1) A final subdivision plat must comply with the following requirements:

(a) the plat complies with the requirements contained in (2);

(b) the plat includes a Conditions of Approval sheet(s) that complies with the requirements
contained in (4); and

(c) the plat is accompanied by documents listed in (5).

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 96 of 149



(2) A plat must comply with the following requirements:

(@) A plat must be legibly drawn with permanent black ink or printed or reproduced by a process
guaranteeing a permanent record and must be 18 inches by 24 inches or 24 inches by 36
inches. Margins must be a minimum 1/2-inch on all sides, or as required by the filing office.

(b) One original on three mil or heavier matte stable-base polyester film or equivalent and/or one
original on 24# white bond paper or equivalent must be submitted, or on such medium as
required by the filing office.

(c) If more than one sheet must be used to adequately depict the land surveyed, each sheet must
show the number of that sheet and the total number of sheets included. Except as provided
in (4)(b), all certifications must be placed on sheet number one of the plat.

(d) A survey document that results in an increase in the number of lots or modifies six or more lots
on a filed plat must be entitled "amended plat of (lot, block, and name of subdivision being
amended)," and unless it is exempt from subdivision review by 76-3-201 or 76-3-207(1)(d),
(e), or (f), MCA, must meet the filing requirements for final subdivision plats specified in
this rule.

(e) A plat must show or contain the following information:

(i) a title or title block including the quarter-section, section, township, range, principal meridian,
county, and if applicable, city or town in which the subdivision is located. The title of the
plat must contain the words "plat™ and either "subdivision™ or "addition™;

(i1) the name(s) of the person(s) who commissioned the survey, the name(s) of the owner(s) of the
land to be subdivided, if other than the person(s) commissioning the survey, the names of
any adjoining plats, and the numbers of any adjoining certificates of survey previously
filed;

(iii) a north arrow;

(iv) a scale bar. The scale of the plat must be sufficient to legibly represent the required information
and data on the plat;

(v) the location of, and other information relating to all monuments found, set, reset, replaced, or
removed as required by ARM 24.183.1101;

(A) If additional monuments are to be set after the plat is filed, the location of these monuments
must be shown by a distinct symbol, and the plat must contain a certification by the land
surveyor as to the reason the monuments have not been set and the date by which they will
be set, as required by ARM 24.183.1101(1)(d).

(B) All monuments found during the survey that influenced the position of any corner or boundary
indicated on the plat must be clearly shown as required by ARM 24.183.1101(1)(c).

(C) Witness and reference monuments must be clearly shown.

(vi) the location of any section corner or corners of divisions of sections the land surveyor deems
to be pertinent to the survey or was used as control in the survey;

(vii) basis of bearing. For purposes of this rule, the term "basis of bearing™ means the land
surveyor's statement as to the origin of the bearings shown on the plat. If the basis of
bearing(s) refers to two previously monumented points in a previously filed survey
document, then the two previously monumented points must be shown and described on
the plat, the line marked by the two previously monumented points must be labeled "basis
of bearing," and the previously filed survey document name or number must be cited in the
land surveyor's statement as to the origin of the bearing(s). If the plat shows true bearings,
the basis of bearing must describe the method by which these true bearings were
determined,

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 97 of 149



(viii) the bearings, distances, and curve data of all boundary lines and all control or pertinent lines
used to determine the boundaries of the subdivision. If the subdivision is bounded by an
irregular shoreline or a body of water that is a riparian boundary, the bearings and distances
of a meander traverse generally paralleling the riparian boundary must be given;

(A) The courses along a meander line are shown solely to provide a basis for calculating the area
of a parcel that has one or more riparian boundaries as the parcel existed at the time of
survey.

(B) For purposes of this rule, a line that indicates a fixed boundary of a parcel is not a "meander"
or "meander line" and may not be designated as one.

(C) If a boundary, control, or pertinent line contains multiple segments of the whole, then the
overall distance must be shown, and each segment must at least include distance.

(ix) data on all curves sufficient to enable the reestablishment of the curves on the ground. For
circular curves, the data must at least include radius and arc length, and either delta angle,
radial bearings, or chord bearing and distance. All non-tangent points of intersection on the
curve must show either the bearings of radial lines or chord length and bearing. Non-
tangent curves must be so labeled,;

(x) lengths of all lines shown to at least tenths of a foot, and all angles and bearings shown to at
least the nearest minute. Distance measurements must be stated in English units, but their
metric equivalents, shown to the nearest hundredth of a meter, may be noted
parenthetically;

(xi) at least one record measurement reference for each line and curve, if available, must be shown;

(xii) all lots and blocks in the subdivision designated by number, the bearings, distances, and curve
data of each lot and block, the area of each lot, and the total area of all lots. (Excepted lands
must be labeled "NOT INCLUDED IN THIS SUBDIVISION" or "NOT INCLUDED IN
THIS PLAT™;

(xiii) all existing rights-of-way for streets, alleys, avenues, roads, and highways that adjoin or are
within the boundaries of the subdivision; their names and widths from public record (if
ascertainable); the bearings, distances, and curve data of their adjoining boundaries. If the
existing right(s)-of-way is contained within the boundaries of the subdivision, then the area
of the portion of the right(s)-of-way within the subdivision shall be shown;

(xiv) all rights-of-way for streets, alleys, avenues, roads, and highways that will be created by the
filing of the plat; their names, widths, bearings, distances, curve data, and area;

(xv) except as provided in (2)(e)(xiii) and (xiv), the location, bearings, distances, curve data, and
areas of all parks, common areas, and other grounds dedicated for public use;

(xvi) the total area of the subdivision;

(xvii) a narrative legal description of the subdivision.

(A) The land surveyor, at his or her discretion, may choose the form of the narrative legal
description as follows:

() If the land to be subdivided is either an aliquot part of a U.S. government section or a U.S.
government lot, the narrative legal description may be the aliquot part or the government
lot description of the land;

(1) If the plat depicts the division of one or more parcels shown on a previously filed certificate
of survey or plat, the narrative legal description may be the number of the previously filed
certificate of survey or name of the previously filed plat and the parcel number of the
parcel(s) previously surveyed,

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 98 of 149



(111 The narrative legal description may be the metes-and-bounds description of the perimeter
boundary of the subdivision; or

(V) If the narrative legal description does not fall within (2)(e)(xvii)(A)(1) or (1), the narrative
legal description required by this subsection is the metes-and-bounds description of the
perimeter boundary of the subdivision.

(B) When the narrative legal description is metes-and-bounds, the point of beginning, which is
also the point of closure of the legal description of the subdivision surveyed, must be
labeled "Point of Beginning." Alternatively, the point of beginning may be labeled "POB"
if the abbreviation is defined on the plat.

(xviii) the dated signature and the seal of the land surveyor responsible for the survey. The land
surveyor's signature certifies that the plat has been prepared in conformance with the
applicable sections of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act and the regulations
adopted under the Act. The land surveyor's signature and certification do not include
certification of the Conditions of Approval sheet(s);

(xix) a memorandum of any oaths administered under 76-3-405, MCA;

(xx) the dated, signed, and acknowledged consent to the subdivision of the owner of the land to be
subdivided. For purposes of this rule, when the parcel of land proposed for subdivision is
being conveyed under a contract-for-deed, the terms "property owner,” "landowner," and
"owner" mean the seller of the land under the contract-for-deed;

(xxi) certification by the governing body that the final plat is approved;

(xxii) if applicable, the landowner's certificate of dedication of streets, alleys, avenues, roads,
highways, parks, playground easements, or other public improvements;

(xxiii) if applicable, or as required by subdivision regulations, the landowner(s)' certification
statement(s) as follows:

(A) A statement that federal, state, and local plans, policies, regulations, and/or conditions of
subdivision approval that may limit the use of the property, including the location, size,
and use are shown on the Conditions of Approval sheet or as otherwise stated.

(B) A statement that buyers of property should ensure that they have obtained and reviewed all
sheets of the plat and all documents recorded and filed in conjunction with the plat and that
buyers of property are strongly encouraged to contact the local planning department and
become informed of any limitations on the use of the property prior to closing.

(C) A statement that all or part of the required public improvements have been installed and/or

security requirements pursuant to 76-3-507, MCA, secure the future construction of any

remaining public improvements to be installed.

(xxiv) if applicable, a certificate of the governing body accepting any dedicated land, easements,
or improvements;

(xxv) if applicable, the certificate of the examining land surveyor;

(xxvi) space for the clerk and recorder’s filing information; and

(xxvii) a minimum two-inch by four-inch blank space below the clerk and recorder's filing
information for the recording numbers of the documents listed in (5).

(F) The land surveyor, at his or her discretion, may provide additional information on the plat
regarding the survey.

(3) The following certifications of final plat approval must appear on the plat or on the Conditions
of Approval sheet as contained in (4), or recorded or filed as contained in (5) of these rules:

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 99 of 149



(@) A certification by the county treasurer that all real property taxes and special assessments
assessed and levied on the land to be subdivided have been paid and, if applicable,
certification of the local health officer having jurisdiction.

(4) If applicable, a sheet(s) of the plat prepared by the landowner(s) or their representative(s)
depicting conformance with subdivision application approval shall be entitled "Conditions
of Approval of [insert name of subdivision]" with a title block including the quarter-
section, section, township, range, principal meridian, county, and, if applicable, city or
town in which the subdivision is located, and shall contain:

(a) any text and/or graphic representations of requirements by the governing body for final plat
approval including, but not limited to, setbacks from streams or riparian areas, floodplain
boundaries, no-build areas, building envelopes, or the use of particular parcels;

(b) a certification statement by the landowner that the text and/or graphics shown on the Conditions
of Approval sheet(s) represent(s) requirements by the governing body for final plat
approval and that all conditions of subdivision application have been satisfied; and

(c) a notation stating that the information shown is current as of the date of the certification
required in (4)(b), and that changes to any land-use restrictions or encumbrances may be
made by amendments to covenants, zoning regulations, easements, or other documents as
allowed by law or by local regulations.

(5) If applicable, the following documents as specified by local government shall accompany the
approved final plat and shall be recorded or filed with the plat as specified by the clerk and
recorder, and the recording or filing number(s) for each document may be written on the
plat by the clerk and recorder:

(a) a title report or certificate of a title abstractor showing the names of the owners of record of the
land to be subdivided, and the names of any lien holders or claimants of record against the
land, and the written consent to the subdivision by the owners of the land if other than the
subdivider, and any lien holders or claimants of record against the land;

(b) any covenants or deed restrictions relating to the subdivision;

(c) for lots less than 20 acres in size, exclusive of public roadways, a certification from the Montana
Department of Environmental Quality stating that it has approved the plans and
specifications for water supply and sanitary facilities pursuant to 76-4-104(2), MCA;

(d) if required by the governing body, for lots of 20 acres or greater in size, written documentation
that the subdivider has demonstrated that there is an adequate water source and at least one
area for a septic system and replacement drainfield for each lot in accordance with 76-3-
604(8)(b), MCA;

(e) a copy of any security requirements, pursuant to 76-3-507, MCA, securing the future
construction of any remaining public improvements to be installed;

(F) unless otherwise provided in local subdivision regulations, copies of final plans, profiles,
grades, and specifications for improvements, including a complete grading and drainage
plan, with the certification of a professional engineer that all required improvements which
have been installed are in conformance with the attached plans. Local subdivision
regulations may authorize the subdivider, under conditions satisfactory to the governing
body, to prepare these plans and specifications after the final plat has been filed, or file
them with a government official other than the clerk and recorder, or both. If the approved
plans and specifications are or will be filed with a government official other than the clerk
and recorder, then a document or a statement on the Conditions of Approval sheet that
states where the plans can be obtained must be filed or recorded,;

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 100 of 149



(g) if a street, alley, avenue, road, or highway created by the plat will intersect with a state or
federal right-of-way, a copy of the access or encroachment permit; and
(h) any other documents satisfying subdivision application approval required by the governing

body to be filed or recorded.

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 101 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 1

REQUEST FOR PRE-APPLICATION MEETING

Please complete this form and attach all required materials and submit it to the subdivision
administrator in order to schedule a pre-application meeting. The subdivision
administrator will contact you and hold the meeting within 30 days.

Applicant Information:

Pre-application Date: Preliminary Plat Review Fee:

Type of Subdivision: First Minor: Subsequent Minor: __ Major: Amended:
Administrative Minor:
Working Name of Subdivision:

Name of Landowner:

Phone: Email Address:

Address: City: State: Zip:
Name of Subdivider/Applicant:

Phone: Email Address:

Address: City: State: Zip:
Surveyor/Engineer:

Phone: Email Address:

Address: City: State: Zip:
Parcel Description:

Legal Description: of Section Township N Range E
Parcel Total Size: Number of Lots:

Sanitation: local: or DEQ Flood Plain: FIRM Map No.

County Water and Sewer District

Road Access:

Existing Zoning: Proposed Zoning:

Existing Use: Proposed Use:

Type of development: Single Family Multi-Family Condominium
Commercial/Industrial Other, describe.

Jurisdictional Area:

The following information must be submitted with this form:

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 102 of 149



Attachments
1. Existing Conditions Sketch Map;

The sketch may be a freehand sketch drawn directly on a print of a topographic map of the area.
proposed for division at a scale of 1 inch to 400 feet or larger that is adequate to show the
property and must include the following:

location;

approximate tract and lot boundaries of existing tracts of record,;

description of general terrain;

natural features on the land, including water bodies, floodplains geologic hazards, and

soil types;

existing structures and improvements;

existing utility lines and facilities serving the area to be subdivided.

existing easements and rights of way;

2. Proposed Improvements Sketch Map;

The sketch may be a freehand sketch drawn directly on a print of a topographic map of the area
proposed for division at a scale of 1 inch to 400 feet or larger that is adequate to show the property
and must include the following:

tract and proposed lot boundaries;

proposed public and private improvements;

location of utility lines and facilities;

easements and rights of way;

parks and open space and proposed conservation easements;

3. Documentation on the current status of the site, including:

ownership information, such as a deed, option to buy or buy-sell agreement, including permission to
subdivide;

water rights, including location of Agricultural Water User Facilities;

any special improvement districts;

rights of first refusal for the property;

existing zoning or development regulation standards;

existing conservation easements; and

existing covenants or deed restrictions.

Please provide one paragraph narrative description of the development project:

Thisform services as written notice that requires the subdivider to meet with the
Subdivision Administrator to review subdivision application prior to the subdivider submitting the
application meets the requirements of Section 76-3-504(1)(q)(i), MCA.

This form is only a record of a pre-application meeting between the applicant and the City of Hardin
Subdivision Administrator. The applicant is hereby notified that this completed form, as well as
anything discussed at the related meeting, does not guarantee the City of Hardin’s approval or
conditional approval in any way of the applicant’s proposed subdivision.

Applicant Signature Date:

City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations Page 103 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 2:

SUPPLEMENT 2

LIST OF POTENTIAL AGENCY CONTACTS

Pursuant to Section 76-3-504(1)(q)(iii), MCA, a subdivider shall be provided a list of public utilities, those
agencies of local, state, and federal government, and any other entities that may be contacted for comment on
the subdivision application and the timeframe that he public utilities, agencies, and other entities are given to
respond.

The following is of public utilities, local, state, and federal government agencies and other entities have a
substantial interest in subdivisions in Big Horn County and the City of Hardin and may be contacted for comment
on subdivision applications:

Federal:

Fish, Wildlife, and Parks Service

e Bureau of Reclamation
e Geological Survey (USGS)
e Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)
e Bureau of Land Management (BLM)
o Natural Resources Conservation Services (NRCS)
e Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA)
Montana State:
e Department of Transportation (MDT)
e Department of Fish, Wildlife, and Parks Service (MT FWPS)
e Department of Environmental Equality (MT DEQ)
e Department of Natural Resources and Conservation (MDNRC)
e Department of Labor and Industry (DLI) — Building Codes Program
e Bureau of Mines and Geology
e Montana State Historic Preservation Office (MT SHPO)

City of Hardin:

Building Department

City Attorney

City-County Planning Board
Economic Development
Finance Department

Code Enforcement

Police Department

Public Works

Big Horn County:

Sanitarian Office

Public Works Department (Roads)
Sheriff

Attorney

Landfill (solid waste)

Weed District

Building Inspector — Permits
Superintendent of Schools

Page 104 of 149



Other:

Flood Plain Manager
Soil Conservation District
Planner

Postal Services

Utilities companies

Airport Authority

Railway Systems

Ambulance Services & Medical Service Providers
Fire Departments/District

Applicable irrigation water district or ditch companies
Water and sewer districts

Adjacent Subdivision Homeowners Associations
Any subcontractor of listed entities

Crow Tribe

Other pertinent agencies for development

This list may not include all departments and agencies.

Page 105 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 3

ELEMENT CHECKLIST

For each item listed below, the Applicant places a checkmark in Column A to indicate if the required
element is included in the submitted application. Any item considered “not applicable” and marked in

Column B must be explained in a narrative and attached to this form.

Preliminary Plat Elements Checklist

Column A
“Included”

FOR OFFICE
USE ONLY,
Subdivision

Column B | Administrator

N/A

Verification

1 | A completed and signed subdivision application form

2 | The required review fee

3 | Apreliminary plat (and if applicable a preliminary site plan)

4 A copy of the most current certificate of survey or subdivision
plat pertaining to the subject parcel to be subdivided

5 A vicinity sketch, as described in the Supplements (#5),
showing the location of the nearest utilities.

6 | A topographic map

7 | A stormwater drainage plan

8 If development is planned in phases, a phasing plan meeting
the requirements of Section IV-A-2

9 Title Report, dated no more than 6 months prior to date of
preliminary plat submittal

10 | Lienholders' acknowledgement of subdivision

11 | Documentation of legal and physical access

12 Documentation of existing easements, including those for
agricultural water user facilities

13 | Existing covenants and deed restrictions

14 | Existing water rights (for lots 5 acres or less)

15 | Existing mineral rights (for lots 5 acres or less)

16 Names and addresses of all adjoining property owners (Two
sets of adhesive labels for major applications)
Proposed road plans and profiles, include the location and

17 | dimensions of the roads and if proposed alleys, sidewalks, and
/ Or paths

18 Approach/access/encroachment permits submitted to Montana

Department of Transportation or the local jurisdiction

Page 106 of 149




19 Road Maintenance Agreement (or plan)
20 Proposed easements, including the location of the
nearest utilities
21 Proposed disposition of water rights (for lots 5 acres or less)
22 Proposed disposition of mineral rights (for lots 5 acres or less
Parkland dedication calculations, location of and description
23 of proposed parkland, or cash-in-lieu (requirement for
major subdivisions)
24 Environmental assessment and/or summary of probable
Impacts
25 Transportation Impact Analysis or traffic study
26 Noxious Weed Management Compliance Plan
Existing and proposed property owners’ association
27 documents, including draft articles of
incorporation, declaration and bylaws
FIRM or FEMA panel map and letter identifying floodplain
= status
Required water and sanitation information, (if required a
29
copy)
30 Letter requesting a revocation of agricultural covenants
31 Letter indicating locations of cultural or historic resources
32 Variance request; (and required variance fee)
33 Re-zoning (or Conditional Use Permit) application of
Kn“én'gﬁneering study that identifies the Base Flood Elevation
> (BFE)
Letter identifying and proposing mitigation for potential
35 Hazards or other adverse impacts not covered by any of
the above required materials, (e.g., oil well site)
Such additional relevant and reasonable information as
36 identified by the subdivision administrator that is pertinent
to the required elements of this section
If proposing a minor subdivision, a copy of each instrument
of transfer or tract pertaining to the subject parcel filed or
37 recorded since October 1, 2023.The instrument of transfer

includes but not limited to deed(s), certificate of survey(s) of
subdivision plat(s).

Page 107 of 149




Page 108 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 4

FINAL PLAT APPROVAL FORM

Date Submitted:

1. Name of Subdivision:

2. Location: 1/4 Section Township Range
3. Type of Subdivision: Minor Subdivision Major Subdivision

4. Number of Lots Blocks

5. Amended Plats: Lot(s) _ Block(s)

6. Type of development: Single Family Multi-Family

Condominium _ Commercial Industrial Other, describe

7. Property Physical Address:

8. Subdivider; Name:

Address: City,
State, Zip code: Telephone
Number:

9. Name, address and telephone number of persons of firms providing services and information
(e.g.: surveyor, engineer, designer, planning consultant, attorney):
Name:
Address:
City, State, Zip code:
Telephone Number:

10. Descriptive Data:

Total number of Lots or rental spaces: Number of Block(s)

Gross area in acres:

Existing zoning or other regulations

Fire Department/District: Police/Sheriff:

11. Date of Preliminary Plat Approved:

12. Any Conditions? (If yes, attach list of conditions.)
13. Any Deed Restrictions or covenants? (If yes, attach a copy.)
14. All improvements installed? (If no, attach a subdivision improvements

agreement or guarantees.)

15. All Fee(s) paid: $

Page 109 of 149



16.

The following documents are submitted, as applicable according to the Subdivision Regulations

Final Plat Initial Review:

¢ Final plat application (this form);

e Final plat review fee;

e A written statement from the applicant or their representative outlining how each conditional
approval has been satisfied;

Information such as certified engineering plans, pictures of the site, or other documents

supporting how the conditions have been met as outlined in the applicant’s written statement;

Title Report or updated Title Abstract dated no less than 30 days old prior to date of submittal.

Acknowledgement form all Lienholders, if applicable;

e DEQ and or Local reviewing authority (County Health Department);

e Allroad plans and profiles, state or local encroachment permits, and traffic studies (if
required);

e All engineering plans for public improvements constructed to serve more than one lot in a
subdivision which will be dedicated to the public, for the use of the subdivision, or otherwise
acquired by a government entity for public use. Examples of typical public improvements
include parks, streets or roads, sidewalks, curbs, gutters, and street lighting, utilities, and
systems for water supply, sewage disposal, drainage, or fire protection;

Any homeowner association documents, including bylaws, covenants and/or declarations;

Final plat certificates consistent with samples included in the Supplements;

e Subdivision Improvements Agreement and acceptable financial security guarantee;

e Final Plat one 11”x17” and one 18”x24” or larger with all appropriate certificates signed,;

Examining Land Surveyor approval;

County’s Attorney approval; and

List of additional documents:

| do hereby certify that all the statements and information contained in all exhibits transmitted
herewith are true. | hereby apply to the City of Hardin for approval of the final plat of (Name of
Subdivision).

Name of Subdivider Signature of Subdivider

Page 110 of 149



FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY:

Final plat application (this form, signed)
Final plat review fee
A written statement from the applicant or their representative outlining how each

conditional approval has been satisfied.

Information such as certified engineering plans, pictures of the site, or other

documents

supporting how the conditions have been met as outlined in the applicant’s written statement;
Title Report or updated Title Abstract dated no less than 30 days old prior to date of submittal
Acknowledgement from all Lienholders, if applicable

DEQ and or Local reviewing authority (County Health Department)

All road plans and profiles, state or local encroachment permits, and traffic studies (if required);
Road Maintenance Agreement, if required

Noxious Weed Plan, signed and notarized by landowner and/or subdivider

All engineering plans for public improvements constructed to serve more than one lot in
a subdivision which will be dedicated to the public, for the use of the subdivision, or
otherwise acquired by a government entity for public use. Examples of typical public
improvements include parks, streets or roads, sidewalks, curbs, gutters, and street lighting,
utilities, and systems for water supply, sewage disposal, drainage, or fire protection.

Any homeowner association documents, including bylaws, covenants and/or declarations
Subdivision Improvements Agreement and acceptable financial security guarantee

Final Plat one 11”x17” and one 18”x24” or larger with all appropriate certificates signed
Examining Land Surveyor Approval

County Attorney’s approval

List of additional documents.

Other Staff Comments:

Application complete Date:

Subdivision Administrator signature

Date by which Final Plat must be approved or rejected:

Page 111 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 5

MODEL SUBDIVISION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT

The parties to this Subdivision Improvements Agreement (“this agreement™) are (“the subdivider”) and
(“the County™).

WHEREAS the subdivider desires to defer construction of improvements described in Attachment (
);

and

WHEREAS the purpose of this Agreement is to protect the City/County and is not intended for the
benefit of contractors, suppliers, laborers or others providing work, services, or materials to the
Subdivision, or for the benefit of lot or home buyers in the Subdivision; and

WHEREAS the mutual promises, covenants and obligations contained in this Agreement are
authorized by state law and the City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations.

NOW THEREFORE THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE AS
FOLLOWS:

1. Effective Date: The effective date of this Agreement is the date that final subdivision plat
approval is granted by the City/County.

2. Attachments: The Attachments cited herein are hereby made a part of this
Agreement.

Subdivider’s Obligations

3. Improvements: The Subdivider shall construct and install, at his own expense, those subdivision
improvements listed in Attachment ( ) of this Agreement. The Subdivider’s obligation to
complete the improvements arises upon approval of the final subdivision plat, is not conditioned on
the commencement of construction in the development or sale of any lots or improvements within the
subdivision, and is independent of any obligations of the City/County contained in this Agreement

4. Security: To secure the performance of his obligations under this Agreement, the
Subdivider shall deposit with the City/County on or before the effective date, an Irrevocable
Letter of Credit (or other financial security acceptable to the local officials) in the amount of $ _.
The letter of credit shall be issued by _(lending institution) , be payable at sight to the
City/County at any time upon presentation of (1) a sight draft drawn on the issuing
lending institution in the amount up to $

_, (2) a signed statement or affidavit executed by an authorized City/County official
stating that the Subdivider is in default under this Agreement; and (3) the original copy of the letter
of credit.

5. Standards: The Subdivider shall construct the required improvements according to the

standards and specifications required by the City/County as specified in Attachment (
) of this Agreement.

6. Warranty: The Subdivider warrants that each and every improvement shall be free from
defects for a period of 1 year from the date that the City/County accepts the dedication of
the last improvement completed by the Subdivider.

Page 112 of 149



7. Commencement and Completion Periods: The Subdivider shall complete all of the

required improvements within (2) years from the effective date of this Agreement.

8. Compliance with Law: The Subdivider shall comply with all relevant laws, ordinances,
regulations and requirements in effect at the time of subdivision plat approval when meeting his
obligations under this Agreement.

City/County Obligations

9. Inspection and Certification:

a. The City/County shall provide for inspection of the improvements as they are
completed and, where found acceptable, shall certify those improvements as
complying with the standards and specifications set forth in Attachment ( ) of
this Agreement. The inspectionand certification shall occur within 14 days of notice
by the Subdivider that the improvements are complete and that he desires City/County
inspection and certification. Before requesting City/County certification of any
improvement the Subdivider shall present to the City/County valid lien waivers from all
persons providing materials or performing work on the improvement.

b. Certification by the City/County does not constitute a waiver by the City/County of the
right to draw funds under the letter of credit in the event defects in or failure of any
improvement are found following the certification.

10. Notice of Defect: The City/County shall provide timely notice to the Subdivider
whenever inspection reveals that an improvement does not conform to the standards and
specifications set forth in Attachment ( ), or is otherwise defective. The
Subdivider shall have 30 days from the date the notice is issued to remedy the defect. The
City/County may not declare a default under this Agreement during the 30 day remedy period
unless the Subdivider clearly indicates he does not intend to correct the defect. The Subdivider
shall have no right to correct the defect in, or failure of, any improvement found after the County
accepts dedication of the improvements.

11. Reduction of Security: After the acceptance of any improvement, the amount that the
City/County is entitled to draw on the letter of credit shall be reduced by an amount equal to
90 percent of the estimated cost of the improvement as shown in Attachment ( ). At
the request of the Subdivider, the City/County shall execute a certificate verifying the
acceptance of the improvement and waiving its right to draw on the letter of credit to the extent
of the amount. Upon the certification of all of the improvements the balance that may be
drawn under the credit shall be available to the City/County for the one year warranty period plus
an additional 90 days.

12. Use of Proceeds: The City/County shall use funds drawn under the letter of credit only for the
purposes of completing the improvements or correcting defects in or failure of the
improvements.

Other Provisions

13. Events of Default: The following conditions, occurrences or actions constitute a default
by the
Subdivider during the completion period:

a. failure to complete construction of the improvements within two years of final subdivision
plat approval,

b. failure to remedy the defective construction of any improvement within the remedy period;

c. insolvency of the Subdivider or the filing of a petition for bankruptcy;

d. foreclosure of the property or assignment or conveyance of the property in lieu of foreclosure.

Page 113 of 149



14. Measure of Damages: The measure of damages for breach of this Agreement is the reasonable
cost of completingthe improvements. Forpurposes of this Agreement the estimated
cost of the improvements as specified in Attachment ( ) is prima facie evidence of the
minimum cost of completion. However, neither that amount nor the amount of the letter of
credit establishes the maximum amount of the Subdivider’s liability. The City/County
may complete all unfinished improvements at the time of default regardless of the extent to
which development has taken place in the Subdivision or whether development ever was
commenced.

15. Local Government Rights upon Default;

a. Upon the occurrence of any event of default, the City/County may draw on the letter of
credit to the extent of the face amount of the credit less the estimated cost [as shown in
Attachment ( )] of all improvements previously certified by the City/County
may complete improvements itself or contract with a third party for completion, or the
City/County may assign the proceeds of the letter of credit to a subsequent subdivider who
has acquired the Subdivision and who has the same rights of completion as the
City/County if and only if the subsequent subdivider agrees in writing to complete the
unfinished improvements.

b. In addition, the City/County may suspend final plat approval. During this suspension
the Subdivider may not sell, transfer or otherwise convey lots or homes within the
Subdivision without the express approval of the City/County until the improvements are
completed and certified by the City/County.

16. Indemnification: The Subdivider agrees to indemnify and hold the City/County harmless
for and against all claims, costs and liability of every kind and nature, for injury or damage
received or sustained by any person or entity in connection with, or on account of the
performance of work under this Agreement. The Subdivider is not an employee or agent of the
City/County.

17. Amendment or Modification: The Parties to this Agreement may amend or modify this
Agreement only by written instrument executed on behalf of the City/County and by the
Subdivider.

18. Attorney’s Fees: Should either party be required to resort to litigation, arbitration or
mediation to enforce the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party, whether plaintiff or
defendant, is entitled to costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees and expert witness fees, from
the opposing party. If the court, arbitrator or mediator awards relief to both parties, each
shall bear its own costs in their entirety.

19. Third Party Rights: No person or entity who is not party to this Agreement has any right of
action under this Agreement, except that if the City/County does not exercise its rights within 60
days following an event of default, a purchaser of a lot or home in the Subdivision may bring an
action in mandamus to compel the City/County to exercise its rights.

20. Scope: The Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and no statement,
promise or inducement that is not contained in this Agreement is binding on the parties.

21. Time: For the purpose of computing the commencement and completion periods, and time
periods for City/County action, times in which war, civil disasters, acts of God or extreme
weather conditions occur will not be included if the events prevent the Subdivider or the County
from performing the obligations under this Agreement.

Page 114 of 149



22. Assigns: The benefits of this Agreement to the Subdivider may not be assigned without the
express written approval of the City/County. Such approval may not be withheld
unreasonably, but any unapproved assignment is void. There is no prohibition on the right of the
City/County to assign its rights under this Agreement.

The City/County shall release the original Subdivider’s letter of credit if it accepts a new security
from any subdivider or lender who obtains the property. However, no action by the
City/County constitutes a release of the original subdivider from his liability under this
Agreement.

23. Severability: If any part, term or provision of this Agreement is held by the courts to be
illegal the illegality shall not affect the validity of any other part, term or provision, and the rights
of the parties shall be construed as if the part, term or provision were never part of the Agreement.

Dated this day of ,20

(Mayor, City of Hardin)
ATTEST:

(Signature of City Clerk)
City of Hardin, Montana

***O R***

(Chairman, Board of Big Horn County Commissioners)

ATTE

ST:

(Signature of Clerk and
Recorder) (Seal of County) Big Horn County,
Montana

Name of Subdivider

STATE OF MONTANA )
)

ss. County of

)

On this day of , 20__, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public for the State
of Montana, personally appeared, known to me to be the persons whose name is subscribed to the
within instrument and acknowledged to me that they executed the same.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal this.
day of , 20

Notary Public for the State of Montana

Page 115 of 149



Residing at
My commission expires.

, Montana

Page 116 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 6

ACCEPTABLE FORMS OF IMPROVEMENTS GURANTEES

The following are acceptable means of guaranteeing subdivision improvements agreements,
although others may also be acceptable. The irrevocable letter of credit is often the preferable guaranty
because it is usually feasible for a subdivider to secure, and the local government can readily obtain
funds to complete the required improvements should the subdivider fail to install the required
the improvements. A suggested irrevocable letter of credit and commentary are included as part of
this Appendix. The other common guarantees are also explained below.

The subdivider shall provide one or more of the following financial security guarantees in the amount

of

125 percent of the estimated total cost of installing all required
improvements.

1.

2.

Letter of Credit

Subject to governing body approval, the subdivider shall provide the governing body a letter
of credit from a bank or other reputable institution or individual certifying the following:

a. That the creditor guarantees funds in an amount equal to 125% of the cost, as
approved by the governing body, of completing all required improvements.

b. That if the subdivider fails to complete the specified improvements within the
required period, the creditor shall immediately pay to the governing body upon
presentation of a sight draft without further action, an amount of cash necessary to
finance the completion of those improvements, up to the limit of credit stated in the
letter.

c. That this letter of credit may not be withdrawn, or reduced in amount, until
released by the governing body.

Escrow Account

The subdivider shall deposit cash, or collateral readily convertible to cash at face value,
either with the governing body or in escrow with a bank. The use of collateral other than
cash, and the selection of the bank where funds are to be deposited must be approved by the
governing body.

Where an escrow account is to be used, the subdivider shall give the governing body
an agreement with the bank guaranteeing the following:

a. Thatthe funds in the escrow account are to be held in trust until released
by the governing body and may not be used or pledged by the subdivider as
security for any obligation during that period.

b. That, (should the subdivider fail to complete the required improvements), the
bank shall immediately make the funds in escrow available to the governing body
for compleing these improvements.

Surety Performance Bond

The bond must be executed by a surety company authorized to do business in the State
of

Montana and acceptable as a surety to the governing body and countersigned by a Montana
agent.

Page 117 of 149



The bond must be payable to the County of . The bond must be in effect until the completed
improvements are accepted by the governing body.

Page 118 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 7

IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT
Letter of Credit No.

Name of Local Government: Date:

Address:
Gentlemen:

We hereby establish in your favor our Irrevocable Letter of Credit #

forthe account of

(Subdivider) , available by your drafts at sight up to an aggregate amount of $

. Should

(Subdivider)  default or fail to complete the improvements under the terms specified in
the attached subdivision improvements agreement for (name of subdivision) we shall
pay on demand your sight draft or drafts for such funds, to the limit of credit set forth herein, as are
required to complete said improvements.

All drafts must be presented prior to expiration date and this Letter of Credit
must accompany the final draft for payment. Drafts drawn hereunder must be by sight draft marked:

“Drawn under (lending institution) , Letter of Credit #
dated _ (date of Letter of Credit) ,” and the amount drawn endorsed on the
reverse hereof by the lending institution.

Unless otherwise stated, this Letter of Credit is subject to the Uniform Customs and Practices
for Commercial Documentary Credits (1983 Revision) International Chamber of Commerce. We
hereby agree with the drawers, endorsers and bona fide holders of the drafts drawn under and in
compliance with the terms of this Credit that these drafts shall be duly honored upon presentation to the
drawee.

This letter of credit may not be withdrawn or reduced in any amount prior to its expiration date except
by your draft or written release.

(Lending Institution)
(Signature and Title of Official)

Page 119 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 8

Subdivision and Preliminary Plat Application Submittal Requirements

Subdivision Application and Preliminary

Plat.

The subdivider shall provide the required copies of the preliminary plat and supplement materials
as identified by the Subdivision Administrator.

The required copies of the all supplement materials shall be organized format with a cover
sheet (summary of the subdivision proposal), table of contents, identification tabs for each section and
shall be bound in a three-ring binder (at least 2 inch) for each set and ready for distribution. The
subdivider shall also provide an electronic form (WORD or PDF format).

1. Preliminary Plat Subdivision Application Form:

The subdivider shall submit a completed subdivision application form that is signed by
the landowner(s) of record.

2. Preliminary Plat Review Fee:

The subdivider shall submit the required review fee as identified in the pre-application
meeting, in Section I-L-3 of the City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations and as identified in
the adopted Fee Schedule.

3. Preliminary Plat (and if applicable preliminary site plans).

The subdivider shall submit a 24 inch by 36 inch size, 18 inch by 24 inch in size and/or 11
inch by 17 inch size as specified by the subdivision administrator preliminary plat completed by
a land surveyor.

a) As requested by the Subdivision Administrator the subdivider shall submit additional
copies for the Planning Board and governing body. The following information must be
provided on the preliminary plat:

a.

The subdivision or development name (the title must contain the words “plat”

and/or

o

g.

“subdivision”). No duplication of subdivision name;

b. The legal description, including Section, Township, and Range, and any
underlying survey data;

A north arrow;

The scale used on the plat;

The certification of a professional land surveyor;

f.  The certification of a professional engineer (if the preliminary plat application
or data includes engineering plans or specifications);

The names of all owners of record and the subdivider [if different from the

owner(s)];

h.

X

The date the preliminary plat is completed;

Proposed lot layout with approximate dimensions and sizes;
Lots and blocks identified by number or letter;

The use of each lot;

Page 120 of 149



I.  Theexterior boundaries of the parcel proposed for subdivision with
bearings, distances, and curve data indicated outside of the boundary lines. When
the plat is bounded by an irregular shoreline or body of water, the bearings and
distances of a closing meander traverse shall be given;
m. All existing streets, roads, highways, streets, avenues, alleys, and/or access
easements within or adjacent to the subject property (all existing Petition numbers and
Book and Page numbers are to be shown);
n. All proposed streets, roads, alleys, avenues, and easements; the width of the
easement or right-of-way, grades, curvature of each;
i. Layout, numbers (or if acceptable, name), and widths of proposed streets or
easements with proper dedications
0. Existing and proposed road and street numbers (or if acceptable, name);
p. Proposed location of intersections for any subdivision requiring access to state
or local streets, roads, avenues, alleys, or highways;
g. The names and addresses of adjoining platted subdivisions and recording information
from adjoining subdivisions, certificates of survey, or unplatted lands;
r. The approximate location of all section corners or legal subdivision corners
of sections pertinent to the subdivision boundary;
s. Approximate area, location, boundaries, and dimensions of all parks, open
space, common grounds, and other grounds dedicated for public use; (use of
proper
dedication is required). Including existing parks, open space, etc....
t.  The total gross area of the subdivision and the total net area, exclusive of public
areas and rights-of-way;
u. Existing and proposed infrastructure and proposed utilities including all existing
Book and Page numbers are to be shown:
i. The approximate location, size, and depth of existing and proposed
sanitary and storm sewers;
ii. The approximate location, size, and depth of existing and proposed water
mains, lines, wells, and facilities; and
iii. The approximate locations of gas lines, fire hydrants or firefighting
water storage facilities, electric and telephone lines, and street lights.
A copy of the most current certificate of survey or subdivision plat pertaining to the subject parcel
to be subdivided.

A vicinity sketch showing:

a) The approximate locations of all existing buildings, structures, and other improvements;
b) Ownership of lands immediately adjoining a subdivision, and existing buildings,
structures and other improvements on those lands; and
c) Any existing or proposed zoning classification of the tract and adjacent lands, if applicable.
a. including any proposed variance requests.

A topographic map:
a) For any land area which will be subdivided or disturbed, contour intervals of 2° where
the average slope is less than 10%; intervals of five feet where the average slope is greater
than

10% and less than 15%; and intervals of ten feet where the average slope is 15% or greater.
b) Slopes greater than 25% shall be shown as no-build zones.

7. A stormwater drainage plan that meets the standards identified in DEQ Circular 8 and
the specifications as required by ARM 17.36.310.

If development is planned in phases, a phasing plan meeting the requirements of Section IV-A-2.
Page 121 of 149



9. Title Report, dated not more than 6 months prior to the date of submittal.

10. Lien holders’ Acknowledgement of Subdivision for each lien holder identified on the Title
Report or Title Insurance Guarantee.

11. Documentation of legal and physical access.
12. Documentation of existing easements, including those for agricultural water user facilities.
13. Existing covenants and deed restrictions.

14. Existing water rights (for lots 5 acres or less); a signed land by the landowner(s) stating they have
water rights for the parcel.

15. Existing mineral rights (for lots 5 acres or less); a signed land by the landowner(s) stating they
have mineral rights for the parcel.

16. Names and addresses of all adjoining property owners (Two sets of adhesive labels for major
applications).

17. Proposed road plan and profile, include the location and dimensions of the roads and if proposed
alleys, sidewalks, and / or paths; that includes:

Shall be drafted by a professional engineer licensed in Montana. a)
Street numbers (or if acceptable, name).
b) Right-of-way or easement widths;
c) Pavement widths;
d) Street grades;
e) Pavement and base thickness;
f) Typical cross sections for each type of road;
g) Road profiles and cross sections for all proposed streets and roads which have grades
exceeding 5%, or cuts and fills exceeding 3’.
h) The type and location of sidewalks and curbs (where required);
i) The minimum site distances at corners; j)
The minimum curb radiuses at corners; k) For
cul-de-sac streets:
a. Widths of turn around radiuses;
b. Minimum right-of-way widths at the turnarounds;
c. Minimum pavement or road surface width at the turnarounds;
d. Total lengths of the streets. The locations and characteristics of bridges and culverts;
i. The locations and dimensions of adjoining lots and open spaces;
ii. The locations and widths of easements and dedicated land, which provide a
buffer between the subdivision lots and streets;
iii.  Typical grading and location of intersections with private driveways; and
iv.  Description of how the roads will be maintained.

18. Approach/access/encroachment permits from Montana Department of Transportation or the local
jurisdiction;

19. Road maintenance agreement (or plan);

20. Proposed easements, include the location of the nearest utility;

21. Proposed disposition of water rights (for lots 5 acres or less), as required by Section VI-O of the
subdivision regulations; a signed land by the landowner(s) stating their intent whether they will keep
the water rights or transfer the water rights.

22. Proposed disposition of mineral rights (for lots 5 acres or less); a signed land by the landowner(s)
Page 122 of 149



stating their intent whether they will keep the mineral rights or transfer the mineral rights.

23. Parkland dedication calculations, location of and description of proposed parkland, or proposa for
cash-in-lieu (requirement for major subdivisions, a property valuation assessment or appraisal if cash-
in-lieu of parkland is proposed as required by Section VI-P of the subdivision regulations);

24. Environmental Assessment and/or Summary of Probable Impacts including:

a) Proof that the subdivider has submitted for review copies of the subdivision application
and environmental assessment, if applicable, to the public utilities and agencies of the local,
state, and federal government identified during the pre-application meeting or
subsequently identified as having an interest in the proposed subdivision; and

b) An explanation of how the subdivider has responded to the comments of the
subdivision administrator at the pre-application meeting.

25. Transportation Impact Analysis or Transportation Plan;
Shall be drafted by a professional engineer licensed in Montana.
a) Transportation Analysis: the following information is required:

a. Describe any proposed new public or private access roads or
substantial improvements of existing public or private access roads;
b. Discuss whether any of the individual lots or tracts have access directly to arterial
or collector roads; and if so, the reason access was not provided by means of a road
within the subdivision;
c. Explain any proposed closure or modification of existing roads;
d. Identify existing primary road Average Vehicle Traffic and subdivision daily
vehicle traffic assigned to that primary road;
e. Describe provisions considered for dust control on roads;
f. Indicate who will pay the cost of installing and maintaining dedicated and/or
private roadways;
g. Discuss how much daily traffic will be generated on existing local and
neighborhood roads and main arterial, when the subdivision is fully developed;
h. Indicate the capacity of existing and proposed roads to safely handle any
increased traffic.
i. Explain whether year-round access by conventional automobile will be available
over legal rights of way to the subdivision and to all lots and common facilities within
the
subdivision.

b) Transportation Impact Analysis or Transportation Plan: if deemed necessary by the
governing body(s) and / or by Montana Department of Transportation the
Transportation Impact Analysis or Transportation Plan shall be drafted and submitted.

26. Weed Management Plan and Re-vegetation Plan; County Subdivision Noxious Weed Control
Plan shall be submitted for every new subdivision. An initial inspection for noxious weeds by
the County Weed District will accompany the submission of the Weed Plan, the County Weed
Coordinator will sign off. This agreement shall be signed and notarized by the subdivider.

27. Existing and proposed property owners’ association documents, including draft articles
of incorporation, declaration and bylaws.

28. FIRM or FEMA panel map and letter identifying floodplain status, and other
hydrologic characteristics including surface water bodies, designated floodplain and areas
of riparian resource, as required in Section VI-D of the subdivision regulations.

Page 123 of 149



29. Required water and sanitation information including; a full copy of the DEQ application will
need to be submitted along with the preliminary application materials and comments from the
local sanitarian office.

76-3-622. Water and sanitation information to accompany preliminary plat. (1) Except as
provided in subsection (2), the subdivider shall submit to the governing body or to the agent or
agency designated by the governing body the information listed in this section for proposed
subdivisions that will include new water supply or wastewater facilities. The information must
include:

(2) a vicinity map or plan that shows:

(i) the location, within 100 feet outside of the exterior property line of the subdivision and on the
proposed lots, of:

(A) flood plains;

(B) surface water features; (C)

springs;

(D) irrigation ditches;

(E) existing, previously approved, and, for parcels less than 20 acres, proposed water wells
and wastewater treatment systems, except that the subdivider may locate a water well anywhere on a lot,
parcel, or tract of record if the subdivider maintains the minimum setback distances adopted in rule by
the department of environmental quality;

(F) for parcels less than 20 acres, mixing zones identified as provided in subsection (1)(g);
and

(G) the representative drainfield site used for the soil profile description as required under
subsection (1)(d); and

(ii) the location, within 500 feet outside of the exterior property line of the subdivision, of
public water and sewer facilities;

(b) a description of the proposed subdivision's water supply systems, storm water systems,
solid waste disposal systems, and wastewater treatment systems, including:

(i) whether the water supply and wastewater treatment systems are individual, shared,
multiple user, or public as those systems are defined in rules published by the department of
environmental quality; and

(i) if the water supply and wastewater treatment systems are shared, multiple user, or public,
a statement of whether the systems will be public utilities as defined in 69-3-101 and subject to
the jurisdiction of the public service commission or exempt from public service
commission jurisdiction and, if exempt, an explanation for the exemption;

(c) a drawing of the conceptual lot layout at a scale no smaller than 1 inch equal to 200 feet
that shows all information required for a lot layout document in rules adopted by the
department of environmental quality pursuant to 76-4-104;

(d) evidence of suitability for new onsite wastewater treatment systems that, at a minimum,
includes:

(i) a soil profile description from a representative drainfield site identified on the vicinity
map, as provided in subsection (1)(a)(i)(G), that complies with standards published by the
department of environmental quality;

(if) demonstration that the soil profile contains a minimum of 4 feet of vertical separation
distance between the bottom of the permeable surface of the proposed wastewater treatment
system and a limiting layer; and

(iii) in cases in which the soil profile or other information indicates that ground water is
within 7 feet of the natural ground surface, evidence that the ground water will not exceed the

Page 124 of 149


http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/69/3/69-3-101.htm
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/76/4/76-4-104.htm

minimum vertical separation distance provided in subsection (1)(d)(ii);

(e) for new water supply systems, unless cisterns are proposed, evidence of adequate water

availability:

(i) obtained from well logs or testing of onsite or nearby wells;

(ii) obtained from information contained in published hydrogeological reports; or

(iii) as otherwise specified by rules adopted by the department of environmental quality

pursuant to 76-4-104;
(f) evidence of sufficient water quality in accordance with rules adopted by the department of
environmental quality pursuant to 76-4-104;
(9) a preliminary analysis of potential impacts to ground water quality from new wastewater
treatment systems, using as guidance rules adopted by the board of environmental review
pursuant to 75-5-301 and 75-5-303 related to standard mixing zones for ground water, source
specific mixing zones, and nonsignificant changes in water quality. The preliminary analysis
may be based on currently available information and must consider the effects of overlapping
mixing zones from proposed and existing wastewater treatment systems within and directly
adjacent to the subdivision. Instead of performing the preliminary analysis required under this
subsection (1)(g), the subdivider may perform a complete nondegradation analysis in the
same manner as is required for an application that is reviewed under Title 76, chapter 4.
(2) A subdivider whose land division is excluded from review under 76-4-125(2) is not
required to submit the information required in this section.
(3) A governing body may not, through adoption of regulations, require water and sanitation
information in addition to the information required under this section unless the governing
body complies with the procedures provided in 76-3-511.

30. Letter requesting a revocation of agricultural covenants;

31. Letter indicating locations of cultural or historic resources;

32. Variance request or approval and the required Fee;

33. Re-zoning (or Conditional Use Permit) application or approval;

34. An engineering study that identifies the Base Flood Elevation (BFE)

35. Letter identifying and proposing mitigation for potential hazards or other adverse impacts not
covered by any of the above required materials; such as:

a. Mitigation measures for existing oil well site must be provided,

36. Such additional relevant and reasonable information as identified by the Subdivision
Administrator that is pertinent to the required elements of this section.

37. If proposing a minor subdivision, a copy of each instrument of transfer or tract pertaining to
the subject parcel filed or recorded since October 1, 2003. The instrument of transfer includes but
not limited to deed(s), certificate of survey(s) or

subdivision plat(s).

Page 125 of 149


http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/76/4/76-4-104.htm
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/76/4/76-4-104.htm
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/75/5/75-5-301.htm
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/75/5/75-5-303.htm
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/76/4/76-4-125.htm
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/76/3/76-3-511.htm

SUPPLEMENT 9

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT

Information specified in this Part must be provided in addition to that required in Supplement 4 and 5
of this application form unless the proposed subdivision qualifies for an exemption under Chapter V11|
of the subdivision regulations.

Describe the following environmental features, provide responses to each of the following questions
(each question must precede its response) and provide reference materials as required. All materials
and reports submitted for major subdivisions must be submitted in the following order:
Environmental Assessment (Supplement 9), Summary of Probable Impacts (Supplement 10),
and Community Impacts Report (Supplement 2. Subdivisions processed as minor
subdivisions according to Chapter Il of these regulations must only submit a Summary of
Probably Impacts (Supplement 10).

All materials and reports should be clearly typed, any handwritten material or reports must be clearly
legible. Responses should cite any reference materials that apply to a topic or selection. If the
proposed development will not have an impact on a particular topic or selection the subdivider must
provide information and a detailed analysis as to why there will be no impact.

1. 3 Surface Water
Locate on a plat overlay or sketch map:

Any natural water systems such as streams, rivers, intermittent streams, lakes or
marshes (also indicate the names and sizes of each).

b. Any artificial water systems such as canals, ditches, aqueducts, reservoirs, and
irrigation systems (also indicate the names, sizes and present uses of each).

c. Time when water is present (seasonally or all year).
d. Any areas subject to flood hazard, or in delineated 100-year floodplain.

e. Describe any existing or proposed stream bank alteration from any proposed
construction or modification of lake beds or stream channels. Provide information on
location, extent, type, and purpose of alteration, and permits applied for.

2. Groundwater
Using available data provide the following information:

a. The minimum depth to water table and identify dates when depths were determined.
What is the location and depth of all aquifers which may be affected by the proposed
subdivision? Describe the location of known aquifer recharge areas which may be
affected.

b. Describe any steps necessary to avoid depletion or degradation of groundwater
recharge areas.

3. Topography, Geology and Soils

Page 126 of 149



a. Provide a map of the topography of the area to be subdivided, and an evaluation of
suitability for the proposed land uses. On the map identify any areas with highly
erodible soils or slopes in excess of 15% grade. Identify the lots or areas affected.
Address conditions such as:

i. Shallow bedrock ii.
Unstable slopes
iii. Unstable or expansive soils
iv. Excessive slope

b. Locate on an overlay or sketch map:

i. Any known hazards affecting the development which could result in property
damage or personal injury due to:

A. Falls, slides or slumps -- soil, rock, mud, snow. B.
Rock outcroppings
C. Seismic activity.
D. High water table
c. Describe measures proposed to prevent or reduce these dangers.

d. Describe the location and amount of any cut or fill more than three feet in depth.
Indicate these cuts or fills on a plat overlay or sketch map. Where cuts or fills are
necessary, describe plans to prevent erosion and to promote vegetation such as
replacement of topsoil and grading.

e. In considering any unusual conditions specifically address any problems which
may be encountered in excavating for:

i. Basements
ii. Water supply trenches
iii. Sewer line trenches
iv. Septic tank and drainfields
v. Underground electrical and telephone lines
4. Vegetation
a. On a plat overlay or sketch map:

i. Indicate the distribution of the major vegetation types, such as marsh,
grassland, shrub, coniferous forest, deciduous forest, mixed forest.

ii. Identify the location of critical plant communities such

as: A. Stream bank or shoreline vegetation

B. Vegetation on steep, unstable slopes

C. Vegetation on soils highly susceptible to wind or water erosion

Page 127 of 149



D. Type and extent of noxious weeds b.
Describe measures to:

i. Preservetrees and other natural vegetation (e.g. locatingroads and
lot boundaries, planning construction to avoid damaging tree cover)

ii. Protect critical plant communities (e.g. keeping structural development
away from these areas), setting areas aside for open space

iii. Prevent and control grass, brush or forest fires (e.g., green strips, water supply,
access.

iv. Control and prevent growth of noxious weeds.

Wildlife
Identify species of fish and wildlife using the area affected by the proposed subdivision.
On a copy of the preliminary plat or overlay, identify known critical wildlife areas, such

as big game winter range, calving areas and migration routes; riparian habitat and
waterfowl nesting areas; habitat for rare or endangered species and wetlands.

Describe proposed measures to protect or enhance wildlife habitat or to minimize

degradation (e.g. keeping buildings and roads back from shorelines; setting aside
wetlands as undeveloped open space).

Page 128 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 10

SUMMARY OF PROBABLE IMPACTS

Describe in detail the probable impacts of the proposed subdivision on each topic below. Provide
responses to each of the following questions (each question must precede its response) and provide
reference materials as required.

All materials and reports submitted for major subdivisions must be submitted in the following order:
Environmental Assessment (Supplement 9), Summary of Probable Impacts (Supplement 10),
and Community Impacts Report (Supplement 11). Subdivisions processed as minor subdivisions
according to Chapter I1l of these regulations must only submit a Summary of Probably Impacts
(Supplement 8).

All materials and reports should be clearly typed, any handwritten material or reports must be clearly
legible. Responses should cite any reference materials that apply to a topic or selection. If the proposed
development will not have an impact on a particular topic or selection the subdivider must provide
information and a detailed analysis as to why there will be no impact.

1. 3 Effects on Agriculture

Isthe proposed subdivision or associated improvements located on or near prime
farmland or farmland of statewide importance as defined by the Natural Resource
Conservation Service? If so, identify each area on a copy of the preliminary plat.

b. Describe whether the subdivision would remove from production any agricultural or
timber land.

c. Describe in detail the possible conflicts with nearby agricultural operations (e.g.,
residential development creating problems for moving livestock, operating farm
machinery, maintaining water supplies, controlling weeds or applying pesticides;
agricultural operations suffering from vandalism, uncontrolled pets or damaged fences).

d. Describe in detail the possible nuisance problems which may arise from locating a
subdivision near agricultural or timber lands.

e. Describe in detail effects the subdivision would have on the value of nearby agricultural
lands.

i. Would the market, mortgage, and taxable value of the nearby agricultural
land increase?

ii. Would the increased market value and the condition in b, ¢, and d,
above encourage further land division or otherwise remove land from production?

f.  Would the costs of providing additional educational and other public facilities result in
higher mill levies on agricultural properties?

2. Effects on Agricultural Water User Facilities

a. Describe conflicts the subdivision would create with agricultural water user facilities (e.g.
residential development creating problems for operating and maintaining irrigation
systems) and whether agricultural water user facilities would be more subject to
vandalism or damage because of the subdivision.

Page 129 of 149



b. Describe possible nuisance problems which the subdivision would generate with regard
to agricultural water user facilities (e.g. safety hazards to residents or water problems
from irrigation ditches, head gates, siphons, sprinkler systems, or other agricultural water
user facilities).

Effects on Local Services
a. Indicate the proposed use and number of lots or spaces in each:

Residential, single family

Residential, multiple family

Types of multiple family structures and number of each
(e.g., duplex, 4-plex)

Planned unit development (No. of units)

Condominium (No. of units)

Mobile Home Park

Recreational Vehicle Park

Commercial

Industrial

Other (Please describe )

b. Describethe additional or expanded public services and facilities that would be
demanded of local government or special districts to serve the subdivision.

i. Describe additional costs which would result for services such as roads, bridges, law
enforcement, parks and recreation, fire protection, water, sewer and solid waste systems,
schools or busing, (including additional personnel, construction, and maintenance costs).

ii. Who would bear these costs (e.g. all taxpayers within the jurisdiction, people within
special taxing districts, or users of a service)?

iii. Canthe service providers meet the additional costs given legal or other
constraints (e.g. statutory ceilings on mill levies or bonded indebtedness)?

iv. Describe off-site costs or costs to other jurisdictions may be incurred (e.g.
development of water sources or construction of a sewage treatment plant; costs borne by
a nearby municipality).

c. Describe how the subdivision allows existing services, through expanded use, to operate more
efficiently, or makes the installation or improvement of services feasible (e.g., allow installation of
a central water system, or upgrading a country road).

d. What are the present tax revenues received from the unsubdivided land?

i. Bythe County $
ii. By the municipality if applicable $
iii. By the school(s) $

e. Provide the approximate revenues received by each of the above taxing authority if the lots are
reclassified, and when the lots are all improved and built upon. Describe any other taxes that would
be paid by the subdivision and into what funds (e.g., personal property taxes on
mobile/manufactured homes are paid into the County general fund).

f.  Would new taxes generated from the subdivision cover additional public costs?

g. How many special improvement districts would be created which would obligate local
government fiscally or administratively? Are any boding plans proposed which would affect the
local government's bonded indebtedness?

Page 130 of 149



Effects on the Historic or Natural Environment

Describe and locate on a plat overlay or sketch map known or possible historic,
paleontological, archaeological or cultural sites, structures, or objects which may be
affected by the proposed subdivision.

How would the subdivision affect surface and groundwater, soils, slopes, vegetation,
historical or archaeological features within the subdivision or on adjacent land? Describe
plans to protect these sites.

i. Would any stream banks or lake shorelines be altered, streams re-channeled or
any surface water contaminated from sewage treatment systems, run-off carrying
sedimentation, or concentration of pesticides or fertilizers?

ii. Would groundwater supplies likely be contaminated or depleted as a result of the
subdivision?

iii. Would construction of roads or building sites require cuts and fills on steep
slopes or cause erosion on unstable, erodible soils? Would soils be contaminated
by sewage treatment systems?

iv. Describe the impacts that removal of vegetation would have on soil erosion,
bank, or shoreline instability.

v. Would the value of significant historical, visual, or open space features be
reduced or eliminated?

vi. Describe possible natural hazards the subdivision be could be subject to (e.g.,
natural hazards such as flooding, rock, snow or landslides, high winds, severe
wildfires, or difficulties such as shallow bedrock, high water table, unstable or
expansive soils, or excessive slopes).

How would the subdivision affect visual features within the subdivision or on adjacent
land? Describe efforts to visually blend the proposed development with the existing
environment (e.g. use of appropriate building materials, colors, road design, underground
utilities, and re-vegetation of earthworks).

Effects on Wildlife

Describe in detail what impacts the subdivision or associated improvements would have
on wildlife in the area.

Describe in detail the effect that pets or human activity would have on wildlife.
Effect on Wildlife Habitat

Describe in detail what impacts the subdivision or associated improvements would have
on wildlife habitat areas such as big game wintering range, migration routes, nesting
areas, wetlands, or important habitat for rare or endangered species.

Describe in detail the effect that pets or human activity would have on wildlife habitat
area.

Effects on the Public Health and Safety

Page 131 of 149



a. Describe in detail any health or safety hazards on or near the subdivision, such as: natural
hazards, lack of water, drainage problems, heavy traffic, dilapidated structures, high
pressure gas lines, high voltage power lines, high hazard dams, or irrigation
ditches. These conditions, proposed or existing should be accurately described with
their origin and location identified on a copy of the preliminary plat.

Describe in detail how the subdivision would be subject to hazardous conditions due to
high voltage lines, airports, highways, railroads, dilapidated structures, high pressure gas
lines, high hazard dams, irrigation ditches, and adjacent industrial or mining uses.

Describe in detail land uses adjacent to the subdivision and how the subdivision will
affect the adjacent land uses. Identify existing uses such as feed lots, processing plants,
airports or industrial firms which could be subject to lawsuits or complaints from
residents of the subdivision.

Describe detail public health or safety hazards, such as dangerous traffic, fire conditions,
or contamination of water supplies which would be created by the subdivision.

Compliance with Survey Requirements, Local Subdivision Regulations and Review
Procedures.

Describe in detail compliance with survey requirements, local subdivision regulations
and review procedures. Provide responses to each of the following questions and provide
reference materials as required.

Does the subdivision meet the requirements of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act,
the surveying requirements specified in the Uniforms Standards for Monumentation, and
the Richland County Subdivision Regulations? (Note any requirements the proposed
subdivision does not comply with, and note any variance requested.)

Has the subdivision review procedure been complied with?
Provisions of Easements for the Location and Installation of any Planned Utilities.

Describe in detail provision of easements for the location and installation of any planned
utilities. Provide responses to each of the following questions and provide reference
materials as required;

Indicate what utilities will be supplied.

Indicate the utility company or companies providing the electrical power, natural gas, or
telephone services. To what extent will these utilities be places underground? What
arrangements have been made to secure these utilities?

Describe proposed street lighting and who will provide it.

- ® o o

Has the preliminary plat been submitted to affected utilities for review?
Estimate the completion date of each utility installation.

Does the subdivision provide easements for the location and installation of utilities as
specified in these regulations?

Are all easements, both proposed and existing, clearly noted and located on the face of
the plat?

Page 132 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 11

COMMUNITY IMPACT REPORT

Provide a community impact report containing a statement of estimated number of people coming into the
area as a result of the subdivision, anticipated needs of the proposed subdivision for public facilities and
services, the increased capital and operating cost to each affected unit of local government. Provide
responses to each of the following questions (each question must precede its response) and provide
reference materials as required.

All materials and reports submitted for major subdivisions must be submitted in the following order:
Environmental Assessment (Supplement 7), Summary of Probable Impacts (Supplement 8), and
Community Impacts Report (Supplement 9). Subdivisions processed as minor subdivisions according
to Chapter Il of these regulations must only submit a Summary of Probably Impacts (Supplement 8).

All materials and reports should be clearly typed, any handwritten material or reports must be clearly
legible. Responses should cite any reference materials that apply to a topic or selection. If the proposed
development will not have an impact on a particular topic or selection the subdivider must provide
information and a detailed analysis as to why there will be no impact.

1. Education and Busing
a. Describe the available educational facilities which would serve this subdivision.

b. Estimate the number of school children that will be added by the proposed subdivision.
Provide a statement from the administrator of the affected school system indicating
whether the increased enrollment can be accommodated by the present personnel and
facilitiesand by the existing school bus system. Ifnot, estimate the increased
expenditures that would be necessary to do so.

2. Roads and Maintenance

a. Estimate how much daily traffic the subdivision, when fully occupied, will generate
on existing streets and arterials.

b. Describe the capability of existing and proposed roads to safely accommodate
this increased traffic.

c. Describe increased maintenance problems and increased costs due to this increase
in volume.

d. Describe proposed new public or private access roads including:

i. Measures for disposing of storm run-off from streets and roads.

ii. Type of road surface and provisions to be made for dust.

iii. Facilities for streams or drainage crossings (e.g. culverts, bridges).
iv. Seeding of disturbed areas.

e. Describe the closing or modification of any existing roads.

f. Explain why road access was not provided within the subdivision, if access to
any individual lot is directly from arterial streets or roads.

g. Is year-round access by conventional automobile over legal rights-of-way available to
the subdivision and to all lots and common facilities within the subdivision? ldentify
the owners of any private property over which access to the subdivision will be provided.

Page 133 of 149



h. Estimate the cost and completion date of the system, and indicate who will pay the cost
of installation, maintenance, and snow removal.

3. Water, Sewage, and Solid Waste Facilities

a. Briefly describe the water supply and sewage treatment systems to be used in serving the
proposed subdivision (e.g., methods, capacities, locations).

b. Provide information on the estimated cost of the system, who will bear the costs, and how
the system will be financed.

c. Where hook-up to an existing system is proposed, describe estimated impacts on the
existing system, and show evidence that permission has been granted to hook up to the
existing system.

d. All water supply and sewage treatment plans and specifications will be reviewed and
approved by the Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) and should be submitted using
the appropriate DEQ application form.

e. Describe the proposed method of collecting and disposing of solid waste from the
development.

f. If use of an existing collection system or disposal facility is proposed indicate the name
and location of the facility.

4. Fire and Police Protection

a. Describe the fire and police protection services available to the residents of the proposed
subdivision including number of personnel and number of vehicles or type of facilities for:

i. Fire protection -- Is the proposed subdivision in an existing fire district? If not,
will one be formed or extended? Describe what fire protection procedures are
planned?

ii. Law -- Enforcement protection — Which of -- is the proposed subdivision within
the jurisdiction of a County Sheriff or municipal police department.

b. Can the fire and police protection service needs of the proposed subdivision be met by
present personnel and facilities? If not, describe the additional expenses that would be
necessary to make these services adequate, and who would pay the costs?

5. Payment for extension of Capital Facilities

Indicate how the subdivider will pay for the cost of extending capital facilities resulting from
expected impacts directly attributable to the subdivision.

Page 134 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 12

SUBDIVISION EXEMPTION CLAIM APPLICATION

QFFICE USEF ONI Y- DATE:-

Examination Fee (According to the adopted Fee Schedule): $ included: Yes
No

Required documents submitted: _ Yes No

Staff Signature:

The subdivision exemption request will be examined pursuant to MCA 76-3-201 and 76-3-207 and
according to Section VIII. “Divisions of Land Exempt from Subdivision Review” of the City of
Hardin Subdivision Regulations.

An Advisory Meeting may be requested prior to submitting an application for an exemption Section
VIII-B-1-a. The following materials are required: a vicinity map, recorded survey (COS or
Subdivision), and recorded deed(s).

The Exemption Review Criteria includes:
i. The nature of the claimant’s business
ii. The prior history of the particular tract in question (the tract of record on file at the County
Clerk & Recorder Office filed prior to July 1, 1974)
iii. The proposed configuration of the tract(s) if the proposed exempt transaction(s) is
completed. iv. A pattern of exempt transactions that will result in the equivalent of a
subdivision
without local government review. [State ex rel. Dreher v. Fuller, 849 P.2d
1045 (1993)]

Required Documents [Sections VIII-B-1-a:

One paper and a digital copy of the following documents will need to be submitted the Subdivision
Admini
strator:

Draft Certificate of Survey (COS) amended plat (paper copies-one 117x17” and one
18”x24” or larger), or where a survey is not required (MCA 76-3-401), a draft instrument
of conveyance.

Evidence of entitlement (such as): recorded deeds, contracts, restrictions, and covenants
related to all the affected properties that have been recorded at the County Clerk &
Recorder

Office within the past year.

Page 135 of 149




Documentation in support of the sanitation exemption(s), if applicable.
General Applicant Information:

1. Claimant(s):

Name:
Phone: Email Address:
Address: City: State:
Zip:
Name:
Phone: Email Address:
Address: City: State: Zip:
2. Surveyor
Name:
Phone: Email Address:
Address: City: State: Zip:

3. Existing Tract of Record Information

a. Parcel and Project Description:
Parcel (1)
Legal Description:

Section Township Range
GEO Code:_ -
Parcel Total Size: Number of tracts being created:
Existing Use:
Parcel (2)
Legal Description:
Section Township Range
GEO Code:_ -
Parcel Total Size: Number of tracts being created:
Existing Use:

b. History of the parcel:
a. Is the parcel proposed to be divided as the result of a division (subdivision or COS)
that occurred after July 1, 1974? Yes  No

c. If the answer is yes, describe the history of the division of the proposed parcel since July 1,
1974. Include the recorded date of the plat or survey, the name or number of the subdivision
or the COS number of each division of the parcel, and the name of person who divided the
property. If the parcel is within a platted subdivision, it is sufficient to reference the plat.
(Attach copies of the recorded documents.)

Dated Subdivision/COS | Type of Exemptions | Name of person who
Recorded Number used divided the property

Page 136 of 149



d. Has a subdivision application for the parcel(s) been withdrawn or denied?
Yes No
If yes, please provide the name of applicant, preliminary application date:

4. Type of exemption requested

a. Gift or Sale to Immediate Family Member (“Family Transfer”) MCA 76-3-207(1)(b)
and according to Subdivision Regulations VII1-C-1, pages.
Minor
Recipients(s) Relationship to Claimant (under 18 years)
Yes or No

The “Required Documents™ listed above, and one paper and a digital copy(s) of the proposed
instruments of conveyance such as a deed(s) for exchange of ownership (page ) will need
to be submitted.

b. Agricultural Exemption, MCA 76-3-207(1)(c) and according to Subdivision
Regulations Section VIII-C-2.

(Covenant running with the land that the land will be used exclusively for agricultural purposes.
No structures requiring water or sewer facilities shall be built or utilized on this parcel. The
agricultural covenant is revocable only through the subdivision review process, aggregation
back into the original tract of record or use of the land for a public purpose by a
government or public entity after a public hearing.) The exemption requires a covenant
running with the land in accordance with MCA 76-3-207(1)(c) and a signed and
acknowledged recitation of the covenant on the face of the survey (or conveyance document).
Any such certificate of survey must be accompanied by a separate, recordable, document citing
the covenant.

Description of current use and proposed use:

The “Required Documents™ listed above along with the covenant as noted in this section will
need to be submitted if it will be a separate document.

c. Relocation of Common Boundary Lines and Aggregation of lots, MCA 76-3-207(1)(a),
(d), (e), and (f) and according to Subdivision Regulations Section VI111-C-3.

Describe and provide documentation showing the need or reason for the relocation of the
boundary lines or the aggregation of lots:

Page 137 of 149



The “Required Documents™ listed above and if applicable a paper and digital copy of the
Platted Subdivision will need to be submitted.

d. Right-of-Way or Utility Site, MCA 76-3-201(1)(h) and according to Subdivision
Regulations Section VI111-C-5.

__ Right-of-way Utility Site  (Please check one)

Description of current use and proposed use:

The “Required Documents” listed above along with the following:

_ Documentation to verify the utility meets the term of a “public utility” in 69-3-101. MCA.
__Landowner approval and proof of eminent domain authority by the utility

__ Documentation to be filed shall include a notarized statement from the recipient accepting the
right-of-way or utility site, and noticing that under 76-3-201, MCA a subsequent change in the use to
residential, commercial, or industrial subjects the division to review under the MSPA and the local
subdivision regulations.

__Instrument of conveyance, such as a deed.

e. Other (MCA 76-3-201 and 76-3-207, MCA) and according to Subdivision Regulations
Section VIII-C-4,6, & 7.

Reason/justification:

The “Required Documents” listed above and the following (one paper and digital copy):
< Mortgage Exemption also requires the following:

0 A statement of how many parcels within the original tract would be created by use
of the exemption;

0 The draft deed, trust indenture or mortgage for the exempt parcel (which states that
the tract of land is being created only to secure a construction mortgage, lien, or trust
indenture);

0 A statement explaining who will have title to and possession of the balance of the
original parcel after title to the exempted parcel is conveyed;

0 A signed statement from a lending institution that the creation of the exempted
parcel is necessary to secure a construction loan for buildings or other improvements
on the parcel; and

o Documentation that the lending institution is a financial or lending institution
registered to do business in the State of Montana.

= Court Order also requires the following:
o0 Evidence of entitlement such as a copy of the Court Order.

5. Nature of the claimant’s business:

a. Isthe claimant in the business of dividing and selling land? _Yes No
Has the claimant divided property in County by use of an exemption after July

Page 138 of 149



1,1974? Yes No_
b. If the claimant has previously used exemptions to divide property in
County, please list the divisions and state the date, the COS Number or amended plat name and
the exemption used. (Attach additional sheets as needed).

Date C.0.S. or Amended Plat Reference Exemption used:

6. Acknowledgements

= | (we) understand that the State of Montana provides that certain divisions of land, which
would otherwise constitute subdivisions, are exempt from local subdivision review and
approval, unless the transactions are an attempt to evade the Montana Subdivision and
Platting Act.

e 1 (we) affirm that this exemption claim is not an attempt to evade the Montana
Subdivision and Platting Act.

< 1 (we) recognize that | may be subject to penalty if my actions are deemed to be an effort
to evade subdivision review, as set forth in the Montana Code Annotated:

o MCA 76-3-301(3): If transfers not in accordance with the Montana Subdivision and
Platting Act are made, the County Attorney shall commence action to enjoin further
sales or transfers and complete compliance with all provision of the Montana
Subdivision and Platting Act. The cost of such action shall be imposed against the party
not prevailing.

0 Violations: Except as provided in 76-3-207, any person who violates any
provision of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act or any local regulations adopted
pursuant thereto shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and punishable by a fine of not less
than $100 or more than $500 or by imprisonment in a county jail for not more than
three (3) months or by both fine and imprisonment. Each sale, lease, or transfer of each
separate parcel of land in violation of any provision of this chapter or any local
regulation adopted pursuant thereto must be deemed a separate and distinct offense.

< | (we) also recognize that making false statements on this form could subject me to
criminal prosecution for False Swearing (MCA 45-7-202) and Perjury (MCA 45-
7-201).

e | (we) also recognize that pursuant to MCA 45-7-203(1) (Unsworn falsification to
authorities), a person commits an offense under MCA 45-7-203 if, with the purpose
to mislead a public servant in performing an official function, the person:

makes any written false statement that the person does not believe to be true;

ii. purposely creates a false impression in a written application for any pecuniary or
other benefit by omitting information necessary to prevent statements from being
misleading;

Page 139 of 149



iii. submits or invites reliance on any writing that the person knows to be forged, altered,
or otherwise lacking in authenticity; or

iv. submits or invites reliance on any sample, specimen, map, boundary mark, or other
object that the person knows to be false.

« | (we) understand that if the Subdivision Administrator determines that my (our) request
is an attempt to evade the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act then | (we) have the
right to appeal that decision to the governing body according to the Subdivision
Regulations Section VIII-B-1-c. Appeals.

7. Signatures: (if more than two claimants please attach additional sheets)

| (we), [Name of Claimant(s)], have read the foregoing
Subdivision Exemption Claim Application and affirm that it is true and correct.

Claimant’s Signature Date

l, [Name of Claimant(s)], have read the foregoing
Subdivision Exemption Claim Application and affirm that it is true and correct.

Claimant’s Signature Date

Page 140 of 149



):9,.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.90.9.0.9,90.9.0.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.90.9.9.9.99999999999090909000004
Below are examples of certification required on the face of the survey:
):9,.9.9,.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.0.9.0.9,90.9.0.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.999999999999090909000004

Certificate of Exemption
(Family Gift or Sale)

I (We) hereby certify that the purpose of this division of land is to transfer Tract as shown on
this certificate of survey to (name of grantee) , my (father) (mother) (daughter) (son) (wife) (husband).
| certify that is the single (only) gift or sale | have made to the aforementioned immediate family member
in the County of for the purpose of this exemption. Furthermore, I certify that | am
entitled to use this exemption and | am in compliance with all conditions imposed by law and regulation
on this use of this exemption. Therefore, this division of land is exempt from review as a subdivision
pursuant to section 76-3-207(1)(b), MCA.

DATED THIS day of , 20

(Name landowner)
Acknowledgement and notarized is required.

Page 141 of 149



):9,9.9,9,9.9.9,9,9.9.9,9,9,9.9,.9,9,9.9,.9,9,9.9.9,9,9,9.9,9,9.9.9.9,0,0,.9,9,9.9.9,9,0.9.9.9,9,0.9,9,9,9.9,9,9,0,0,0,¢

Certificate of Exemption
(For Agricultural Purposes)

I (We) certify that the purpose of this survey is to create a parcel of land to be used exclusively for
agricultural purposes, and that a covenant has been entered into by the parties to the transaction, running
with the land and revocable only by mutual consent of the governing body and the property owner that
will require subdivision review of the parcel, that the land will be used exclusively for agricultural
purposes, and this survey is, therefore, exempt from review as a subdivision pursuant to section 76-3-
207(1)(c), MCA.

DATED THIS day of , 20

(Name of landowner)
Acknowledgement and notarized is required.
Example Acceptance of Certificate of Survey — Agricultural Covenant Exemption

This declaration, made this day of ,20___, by (Name of Property
Owner(s), hereinafter referred to as the “Declarant(s);

That whereas, Declarant is the owner of certain property described as tract(s)
certificate of survey number on file and record in the office of the Clerk and
Recorder of County, Montana.

Now, therefore, Declarant hereby declares that the parcel(s) described above shall be held, sold, and
conveyed in any matter subject to the following covenant, which shall run with the real property and be
binding on all parties having any right, title or interest in the described property (properties) or any part
thereof, their heirs, executors, successors, administrators, and assignees, and shall bind each owner
thereof. This covenant may be revoked by the governing body after receiving final subdivision approval.
The governing body is deemed to be party to and may enforce this covenant.

The parcel(s) described above shall be used exclusively for agricultural purposes and no building,
house, dwelling, or structure requiring sanitary restrictions imposed under Title 76, Chapter 4. .

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, being the Declarant(s), herein, has (have) hereunto
set his (her) (their) hand(s) this day of , 20 .

DATED THIS day of , 20

Landowner (Print Name of Landowner)

Page 143 of 149



State of Montana )

County of )
On this day of , 20 , before me, a Notary Public for the
State of Montana, personally appeared, :

, and ., _members of the County Commission,
and , County Clerk & Recorder, known to me to be the persons whose

names are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledge to me that they executed the same.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed my notary seal the day and year first
above written.

(seal)

Print Name:
Notary Public for the State of Montana
Residing in:
My commission expires:

County Commission

Chairperson

Commissioner
Attest:

Commissioner County Clerk & Recorder

Page 144 of 149



):9.9.9,9,9.9.9,9,0.9.9.9,0,9.9,9.0,9.9,.9,9,9.9.9.0,0,9.9,0,0.9.9.0,0.0.9,9.0.0.9.9,0,0.9.9.0.0.9,9,.0,9.9.9,0,0.0,0,4

Certificate of Exemption
(Relocation of Common Boundary)

I (We) certify that the purpose of this survey is to relocate common boundary line between adjoining
properties outside a platted subdivision (or inside a platted subdivision) (or between a single lot within a
platted subdivision and adjoining land outside a platted subdivision) and that no additional parcels are
hereby created. Therefore, this survey is exempt from review as a subdivision 76-3-207(1)(a), (d), or (e)
MCA.

DATED THIS day of , 20

(Name of Property owner(s))
Acknowledgement and notary are required.

Page 145 of 149



):9,9.9,9,9.0.9,9,9.9.9,9,9.9.9,.9,9,9.9,9,9,9.9.9,9,9,9.9,9,9.9.9.9,0.0.9,9,9.0.9,9,0.0.9.9,.9.9.9,9,9,9.9,9,9,0,0,0,4

Certificate of Exemption
(Aggregation of Lots)

I (We) certify that the purpose of this survey is to aggregate existing lots within a within a platted
subdivision, that fewer than six lots are affected, and that no additional parcels are hereby created. Therefore,
this survey is exempt from review as a subdivision pursuant to section 76-3-207(1)(f) MCA.

DATED THIS day of , 20

(Name of Property owner(s))
Acknowledgement and notary is required.
1 9,.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.0.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.90.9.9.99999999999090909909099909090000

Certificate of Exemption
(SECURITY FOR MORTGAGE, LIEN, OR TRUST INDENTURE)

I (We) hereby certify that the purpose of this survey is to create a parcel of land to provide security for
mortgage or loan purposes and that this exemption complies with all conditions imposed on its use,
Therefore, this survey is exempt from review as a subdivision pursuant to Section 76-3-201 (1)(b) MCA.

DATED THIS day of , 20

(Name of landowner(s))
Acknowledgement and notary is required.
)9,.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9,0.9.0.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.99999999990990999999909094

Certificate of Exemption
(Rights-of-Way or Utility Site)

I (We) certify that the purpose of this survey is to create a parcel for a utility
site and therefore this survey is exempt from review as a subdivision pursuant to section 76-3-201(1)(h)
MCA. Furthermore, I (We) certify that a change in the use of land to residential, commercial, or industrial
is subject to the requirements of subdivision review.

DATED THIS day of , 20

(Name of landowner(s))

Acknowledgement and notary are required.

Page 146 of 149



):9,9,.9,9,9.9.9,9,0.9.9,9,0,9.9,9.9,9.9.9,9,9.9.9.9,0.0.9,9,0.9.9,.9,0.0.9,9.0.9.9,9,0,0.9.9.0.9.9,.9.9,9.9,9,9,0.0,0,4

Certificate of Exemption
Approval by Governing Body

The City Council of Hardin, Montana hereby certifies that the Council has examined the (INSERT

TYPE OF EXEMPTION USED) Certificate of Survey and found it to be exempt from subdivision
review.

Dated this of day ,20 . Attested by:

NAME NAME

Mayor City Clerk

1:9.9.9,9,0.9.9,9,0.0.9,9,0,0.9,9.0,9.9.9,0,9.9,:9,0,0,9.9,9,0.9.9,.0,0.0.9,9,.0.9.9,9,0,0.9.9.0,0.9,9,.0,0.9,9,0,0.0,0,¢

Certificate of County Treasurer

I hereby certify, pursuant to Section 76-3-207(3), MCA, that all real property taxes assessed and levied on
the land shown hereon have been paid.

Dated this day of ,20

Tax Statement No.

(Seal) (Signature of County Treasurer) Treasurer,

Page 147 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 13

SAMPLE AGRICULTURAL COVENANT REMOVAL

COMES NOW . owners of the following described real property,
hereinafter called Owners, and the County Commission of County, Montana,
hereinafter called Governing Body.

WHEREAS the Owners are the record title holders of Tract of Certificate of Survey
No. , filed as Document No. in the office of the Clerk and Recorder of County,
Montana; and

WHEREAS Tract of Certificate of Survey No. is situated in the (1/4,1/2)
of Section , Township N, Range E, P.M.M,, County, Montana; and

WHEREAS, said Certificate of Survey contains the following Agricultural Covenant:
[Insert covenant from Certificate of Survey]; and

WHEREAS, said Certificate of Survey and Agricultural Covenant is signed by the Owners
herein or the predecessors in interests; and

WHEREAS the Owners and Governing Body now wish to remove the Agricultural
Exemption
Covenant for the purpose of changing the use of said property after the Tract has gone through
subdivision review [as the Tract has been aggregated back into the original tract of record] [as the
Tract has been for the use of a public or governmental entity and has been through a public hearing
and the determination made to remove the Agricultural Covenant].

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties herein agree that the Covenant to use Tract in
Certificate of Survey __exclusively for agricultural purposes is hereby revoked and the following
conditions are imposed on the Tract:

1. [final plat for the review of the Tract as a subdivision must be completed].

2. [the Tract must be used exclusively by a governmental or public entity for the following
purposes

DATED this ___ day of , 20

NAME, Owners

NAME, Chair of County Commission for
County

Page 148 of 149



SUPPLEMENT 14

Fee Schedule

Minor Subdivision Preliminary Plat $700 + $100/lot
Minor Subdivision Final Plat $250
Major Subdivision and Subsequent Minor Subdivision $1500 + $100/Iot
Preliminary Plat
Major Subdivision and Subsequent Minor Subdivision $350
Final Plat
Variance Request from Design Standards $150
Exempt Survey Review $400

Page 149 of 149












City of Hardin December 23, 2025
Proposal P-25150 Page 2

Proposed Scope of Services

Description of Project
The purpose of the geotechnical evaluation will be to characterize and evaluate subsurface soil and
groundwater conditions at the selected boring locations for the new visitors center.

It is our understanding that the new visitors center will be a one-story building having a plan area of about
2,500 to 3,000 square feet. Design of the building is still in the preliminary stages, however, we have
assumed that will most likely have an earth-supported floor slab at or slightly above existing grades on
the site. We have also assumed the building will be most likely be constructed with wood framing and
have a decorative siding.

We have been provided drawing C300 prepared by Cushing Terrell and dated November 21, 2025. This
drawing will be used to select and stake the boring locations. We have also assumed the boring locations
will be accessible to our truck-mounted drill rig, and no towing, snow removal, or special site-preparation
services will be required. In particular, it is our understanding that there are some mounds of existing fill
on the site, which may need to be moved prior to the drilling. The borings will be performed, weather
permitting, and generally require 20 degrees and rising for auger drilling. Access delays due to
circumstances beyond our control could result in additional charges. We have also assumed our current
insurance amounts are acceptable, and we can provide you with a certificate of insurance.

Background
Our firm performed the geotechnical evaluation for the nearby High School Academy. Borings on this

site encountered medium plasticity clays to depths ranging from 17 to 18 feet underlain by alluvial
gravels extending to a depth of about 32 feet, where shale bedrock was encountered. Laboratory tests
indicated the clays near the surface were moderately to highly expansive. We therefore recommended the
building be supported on driven pile foundations with a structural floor slab having a void form beneath it
to allow the clays to heave.

This type of deep foundation system for a critical building was appropriate for the project. For a visitors
center, however, a more conventional shallow spread-footing foundation system may be suitable for the
building. For this approach, the drier expansive clays are removed either down to wetter soils or a
specific depth (typically 3 to 5 feet), then replaced with non-expansive clay soils to support foundations
and floor slabs. This alternative will be considered for the new visitors center.

Scope of Services

Borehole Staking. SK Geotechnical will stake the boring locations on the site prior to drilling provided
we have a to-scale site plan. We propose to set stakes marked with the boring number having pink and
blue ribbon tied near the top and use spray paint for borings in pavement. During the staking, our
personnel will survey the borings with our GNSS survey equipment to obtain the latitude/longitude and
elevation.



City of Hardin December 23, 2025
Proposal P-25150 Page 3

Soil Borings. We propose to provide two test borings in the proposed building area: one boring to a
depth of 45 feet to evaluate the depth to bedrock for deep foundations and one boring to a depth of

15 feet. We propose to conduct penetration tests in the borings to assist in evaluating bearing capacities
of the subsoils and to obtain representative samples for classification. The penetration tests will be
conducted at 2 1/2-foot intervals to a depth of 15 feet and at 5-foot intervals below a depth of 15 feet.
Some tube samples may be taken for laboratory strength and consolidation/swell testing. If groundwater
is encountered, its depth will be recorded. Upon completion, we will backfill the boreholes with auger
cuttings to the ground surface.

Laboratory Testing. The samples will be returned to our laboratory and visually classified and logged
by a geotechnical engineer. Some routine laboratory tests may be conducted to assist us in evaluating the
strength and compressibility of the soils. Depending on the subsurface conditions, typical tests are
penetrometer, moisture content, Atterberg limits, unconfined compression, corrosion, and
consolidation/swell.

Geotechnical Report. After the field and laboratory tests have been completed, the results will be
analyzed and discussed with you and/or your structural engineer. A geotechnical engineering report will
then be prepared. The report will address suitability of the soils to support the proposed building on
shallow-spread footings with an earth-supported floor slab, allowable bearing capacity for spread
footings, improvements to footing and floor subgrades (if necessary), reuse of excavated material as
backfill, and recommendations for compaction. If deep foundations are determined to be appropriate,
analysis and recommendations for one type of driven pile foundations will be provided. The geotechnical
report containing details of our recommendations will be prepared in letter format and one electronic copy
will be emailed to you following completion. If you would like a hard copy, please let us know.

We have not included stormwater infiltration testing for an on-site retention pond/basin in our scope-of-
work. We also propose to provide recommendations regarding the appropriate Site Class as defined by
the current adopted International Building Code (IBC). The Site Class determination requires
characterization of the soil and/or bedrock conditions in the upper 100 feet of the site. We have assumed
we will be able to make the Site Class determination from the shallow soil boring information obtained
from this evaluation and other readily available geologic information. We have not included a 100-foot
deep boring in our scope of services for determination of the Site Class. We have also not included a site-
specific seismic hazard evaluation, spectral response analysis, slope stability, liquefaction or more
detailed seismic design analysis in our services. The IBC may require these more detailed seismic
analyses depending on the Seismic Design Category, Site Class, and soil and groundwater conditions
encountered. If these services are required, we will contact you for additional authorization.



City of Hardin December 23, 2025
Proposal P-25150 Page 4

Utility Clearance. SK Geotechnical will contact the local utilities one-call number to notify the local
telephone, electric, gas, sewer, water, and cable TV companies to determine the location of underground
utilities. We request that you or your authorized representative notify the SK Geotechnical project
manager immediately of the presence and location of any underground objects on private property which
are not the responsibility of public utilities. Our services do not include subcontracting a private utility
locator or conducting additional research to identify other utilities. SK Geotechnical will take reasonable
precautions to avoid underground objects. In authorizing this contract, you agree to waive any claim
against SK Geotechnical and will indemnify and hold SK Geotechnical harmless from any claim of
liability, injury, or loss allegedly arising from our damaging of underground objects that were not called
to our attention prior to beginning the work.



City of Hardin December 23, 2025
Proposal P-25150 Page 5

Signature Page
Re: Proposal for a Geotechnical Evaluation, Proposed New Visitor Center, Hardin, Montana

We appreciate the opportunity to present this proposed contract to you. It is being presented in duplicate
so that if it is acceptable to you, one copy can be retained for your records and one copy can be signed
and returned to us as written authorization to proceed. We will begin the project, in accordance with our
schedule, upon receipt of your written authorization.

Costs presented in this proposal are based on the assumption that the proposal will be authorized within
30 days and that the project will be completed within the proposed schedule. If the project is not
authorized within 30 days, we may need to modify the cost estimate. If the project cannot be completed
within the proposed schedule due to circumstances beyond our control, revising the cost estimate may be
required for completion of the remaining tasks.

Terms on payment for services are net within 30 days after invoicing with interest added to unpaid
balances in accordance with the attached General Conditions that are a part of this proposed contract.
Authorization to Proceed:

Please proceed according to the described scope of services and attached General Conditions. By
authorizing this proposal, you are accepting responsibility for payment of SK Geotechnical’s services.

Authorizer’s Name (PLEASE PRINT) Authorizer’s Signature

Title (PLEASE PRINT) Date

Accounts Payable Department

Accounts Payable Contact Accounts Payable Telephone Number

Accounts Payable Email Accounts Payable Fax Number

If this proposal is signed by anyone other than who it is addressed to, please complete the following:

Company Name (PLEASE PRINT) Telephone Number

Billing Address (PLEASE PRINT) Fax Number






any purpose whatsoever until it is paid for in
full.

3.5. Samples remaining after tests are conducted
and field and laboratory equipment that cannot
be adequately cleansed of contaminants are to be
your property. They will be returned to you,
unless within 15 days of the report date you give
written direction to transfer the materials to a
licensed facility, at your expense.

Section 4. Compensation

4.1. You will pay for services as agreed upon or
according to our then current Schedule of
Charges if there is no other written agreement as
to price.

4.2. You will notify us of billing disputes within
15 days. You will pay all undisputed portions of
invoices on receipt. You agree to pay interest on
unpaid balances beginning 30 days after invoice
dates at the rate of 1 1/2% per month, or at the
maximum rate allowed by law.

4.3. If you direct us to invoice another, we will
do so, but you agree to be responsible for our
compensation unless you provide us with that
person's written acceptance of all terms of our
agreement and we extend credit to that person
and to release you.

4.4. You agree to compensate us in accordance
with our fee schedule if we are asked or required
to respond to legal process arising out of a
proceeding related to the project and as to which
we are not a party.

4.5. If we are delayed by factors beyond our
control, or if project conditions or the scope or
amount of work change and result in increased
costs, decreased efficiency, or delays, or if the
standards or methods change, we will give you
timely notice and we will receive an equitable
adjustment of our compensation. If you and we
do not reach agreement on such compensation
within 30 days of our written application, we
may terminate without liability to you or others.

4.6. If you fail to pay us within 60 days
following invoice date, we may consider the
default a total breach of our agreement and, at
our option, terminate all of our duties without
liability to you or to others.

4.7. In consideration of our providing insurance
to cover claims made by you, you hereby waive
any right of offset as to fees otherwise due us.

Section 5. Disputes, Damage and Risk
Allocation

5.1. Each of us will exercise good faith efforts
to resolve disputes without litigation. Such

efforts will include, but not be limited to, a
meeting(s) attended by each party's
representative(s) empowered to resolve the
dispute. Before either of us commences an
action against the other, disputes (except
collections) will be submitted to mediation.

5.2. Neither of us will be liable for special,
incidental, consequential, or punitive damages,
including, but not limited to, those arising from
delay, loss of use, loss of profits or revenue, loss
of financing commitments or fees, or the cost of
capital.

5.3. We will not be liable for damages unless
suit is commenced within two years of the date
of injury or loss or within two years of the date
of the completion of our services, whichever is
earlier. We will not be liable unless you have
notified us of the discovery of the claimed
breach of contract, negligent act, or omission
within 30 days of the date of discovery and
unless you have given us an opportunity to
investigate and to recommend ways of
mitigating damages.

5.4. For you to obtain the benefit of a fee which
includes reasonable allowance for risks, you
agree that our aggregate liability will not exceed
the fee paid for our services or $50,000,
whichever is greater, and you agree to indemnify
us from all liability to others in excess of that
amount. If you are unwilling to accept this
allocation of risk, we will increase our aggregate
liability to $100,000 provided that, within 10
days of the date of this agreement, you provide
payment in an amount that will increase our fees
by 10%, but not less than $500, to compensate us
for the greater risk undertaken. This increased
fee is not the purchase of insurance.

5.5. If you do not pay us within 60 days of
invoice date, or if you make a claim against us
that is resolved in our favor, you agree to
reimburse our expenses, including, but not
limited to, attorney fees, staff time, expert
witness fees, and other costs of collection or
litigation.

5.6. The State of Montana will govern all
disputes. No employee acting within the scope
of employment shall have individual liability for
his or her acts or opinions, and you agree not to
make a claim against individual employees.
Section 6. General Indemnification

6.1. We will indemnify and hold you harmless
from and against demands, damages, and
expenses to the comparative extent they are
caused by our negligent acts or omissions or
those negligent acts or omissions of persons for
whom we are legally responsible. You will
indemnify and hold us harmless from and against
demands, damages, and expenses to the

comparative extent they are caused by your
negligent acts or omissions or those negligent
acts or omissions of persons for whom you are
legally responsible.

6.2. To the extent it may be necessary to
indemnify either of us under section 6.1, you and
we expressly waive, in favor of the other only,
any immunity or exemption from liability that
exists under any worker compensation law.

Section 7. Miscellaneous Provisions

7.1. We will provide a certificate of insurance to
you upon request. Any claim as an Additional
Insured shall be limited to losses caused by our
sole negligence.

7.2. This agreement is our entire agreement. It
supersedes prior agreements. It may be modified
only in a writing, making specific reference to
the provision modified.

7.3. Neither of us will assign or transfer any
interest, any claim, any cause of action, or any
right against the other. Neither of us will assign
or otherwise transfer or encumber any proceeds
or expected proceeds or compensation from the
project or project claims to any third person,
whether directly or as collateral or otherwise.

7.4. Our agreement may be terminated by either
party for any reason, but must be done so in
writing. We will receive an equitable adjustment
of our compensation in the event of early
termination by you.

Revised September 16, 2025









drilling operations if encountered. Upon completion of water level measurements, the borings will
be backfilled with drill cuttings and compacted with the equipment at hand. The borings will be
logged by Rimrock Engineering, Inc. personnel who will also obtain bulk, driven and/or pushed
samples for laboratory testing. Sampling will be in general accordance with industry standard
procedures. Subsurface conditions may be encountered which merit alterations of the boring and
sampling program.

Infiltration testing will be performed at the proposed stormwater detention location utilizing the
falling head test method. The test procedure consists of recording changes in head (water column
height) at selected time intervals until a constant rate of infiltration is obtained.

B. Laboratory Testing

The purpose of the laboratory testing is to assess the physical and engineering properties of the
soil samples collected in the field to be used in our geotechnical evaluations and analyses. The
laboratory testing program is expected to consist of an appropriate combination of the following
tests performed on selected soil samples:

¢ Visual classification (USCS) o Atterberg limits

¢ Moisture content ¢ Consolidation/swell

e Sieve analysis e Water soluble sulfate, pH & resistivity
¢ Moisture density relationship e California Bearing Ratio (CBR)

C. Analysis and Report

The results of our field and laboratory programs will be evaluated by a Professional Engineer
licensed in the State of Montana. Based on the results of our field exploration and laboratory
testing, an engineering report will be prepared which will include logs of the borings, a diagram of
the site/boring layout, laboratory test results, and our opinions and recommendations regarding
the following:

e General site, soil and groundwater conditions

¢ Site and subgrade preparation

¢ Recommended foundation type(s) and design parameters
e Estimated settlement of foundations

e Corrosivity and cement type

e Pavement section design

¢ Average Infiltration rates

e General earthwork and site drainage

Rimrock Engineering, Inc 2 December 23, 2025
PG25147









GENERAL CONDITIONS (PROFESSIONAL SERVICES)

1. Client shall pay invoices upon receipt. Invoices not paid within thirty (30) days will be deemed past due and charged interest at a rate of 1-1/2% per month which is
equivalent to 18% per year. Invoice amounts shall be presumed to be correct unless Client notifies Consultant in writing within fourteen (14) days of receipt. Client
agrees to pay all costs incurred with collection of past due accounts, including attorneys’ fees. If Client fails to pay an invoice when due, Consultant may, upon five (5)
calendar days natice to client, suspend all Services until paid in full, and may terminate the Agreement.

2. The Client agrees that any and all limitations of the Consultant’s liability and indemnifications by the Client to the Consultant shall include and extend to those
individuals and entities the Consultant retains for performance of the services under this Agreement, including but not limited to the Consultant’s officers, partners and
employees and their heirs and assigns, as well as the Consultant's sub-consultants and their officers, employees, heirs and assigns.

3. Consultant shall perform the services in a manner consistent with the standard of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the profession practicing in the
same or similar locality under similar circumstances at the time the services are performed. This Agreement creates no warranty or guarantee, express or implied, nor
does it create a fiduciary responsibility to Client by Consultant.

4. Consultant’s construction observation Services, if any, shall be limited to observation of construction operations to provide Client with an understanding of the
general nature, progress and quality of the work. Unless otherwise agreed in writing, Consultant shall not be responsible for continuous or exhaustive inspection of the
work. In no event shall Consultant be responsible for the means and methods of construction or for the safety procedures employed by Client's contractor. Client shall
hold its contractor solely responsible for the quality and completion of the Project, including but not limited to its construction in accordance with the construction
documents.

5. All samples shall remain the property of the Client, and Client shall promptly at its cost remove and lawfully dispose of samples, cuttings and hazardous materials,
unless otherwise agreed in writing. If appropriate, Consultant shall preserve samples obtained for the Project for not longer than sixty (60) days after the issuance of
any document that includes the data obtained from those samples.

6. Client shall bear sole responsibility for notifying all prospective purchasers or other appropriate third parties including, but not limited to, all appropriate municipal,
regional, state or federal agencies of the existence of any hazardous or dangerous materials located in or around the Project site.

7. Client shall provide Consultant with all information regarding existing conditions, including the existence of hazardous or dangerous materials, and proposed uses
of the Project site and shall correctly designate the location of all property lines of the Project site and all subsurface installations, such as pipes, tanks, cables, electrical
lines, telephone lines and utilities within the Project site. Client shall immediately provide Consultant with any new information, including any change in plans. Client
releases Consultant from liability for any incorrect advice, judgment or decision based on any inaccurate information furnished by Client or others. If reasonable
precautions will be inadequate to prevent foreseeable bodily injury or death to persons resulting from a material or substance, including hazardous materials,
encountered on the site by Consultant, Consultant shall, upon recognizing the condition, immediately stop work in the affected area and report the condition to Client.

8. Consultant's reports, boring logs, maps, field data, drawings, test results and other work product are part of Consultant's professional services, and do not constitute
goods or products. Consultant reserves the right to copyright such work; however, such copyright is not intended to limit the Client's use of the Services pursuant to
this Agreement in connection with the Project.

9. Because data stored on electronic media can deteriorate undetected or be modified without Consultant’s knowledge, the Client agrees that it will accept responsibility
for the completeness, correctness, or readability of the electronic media after an acceptance period of 30 days after delivery of the electronic files.

10. Client shall cooperate with all reasonable requests by Consultant that are related to the performance of the Services, including but not limited to obtaining permission
to allow Consultant access to the Project site.

11. Consultant's potential liability to Client and others is grossly disproportionate to Consultant’s fee due to the size, scope, and value of the Project. Therefore, unless
Client and Consultant otherwise agree in writing in consideration for an increase in Consultant’s fee, Client agrees to (1) limit Consultant's liability to the greater of
$25,000.00 or the amount of Consultant's fee, and (2) indemnify Consultant against all claims, liability, damages, or expenses (except for Consultant's sole negligence
or willful misconduct) arising out of or relating to all acts, failures to act, or other conduct of Consultant, including but not limited to, claims, liability, damages, or expenses
arising out of or relating to the active negligence or other fault of Consultant. Client shall indemnify Consultant even if Client is partially or wholly without fault for such
claims, liability, damages, or expenses even if liability is claimed to have arisen while Consultant was performing work outside the scope of services set forth on page
1.

12. All disputes between Consultant and Client, with the exception of non-payment issues, shall first be subject to non-binding mediation. Either party may demand
mediation by serving a written notice stating the essential nature of the dispute and demanding that the mediation proceed within sixty (60) days of service of notice.
The mediation shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association or by such other person or organization as the parties may agree upon. No action or suit
may be commenced unless (1) the mediation does not occur within ninety (90) days after service of notice, (2) the mediation occurs within ninety (90) days after service
of notice but does not resolve the dispute, or (3) a statute of limitation would elapse if suit was not filed prior to ninety (90) days after service of notice.

13. If Client insures property, real or personal, or both, at or adjacent to the Project by property insurance, whether during or after the completion of the construction
of the Project, Client agrees to waive all subrogation claims against Consultant for damages caused by fire or other causes of loss to the extent covered by such
property insurance.

14. Client waives all claims against Consultant for all claims, liabilities, losses, and expenses arising out of or relating to Client’s failure to perform, in whole or in part,
any of its obligations under this Agreement and any subsequent agreements.

15. Client shall be responsible for job site safety.

16. If during the course of performance of this Agreement conditions or circumstances are discovered which were not contemplated by Consultant at the
commencement of this Agreement, Consultant shall notify Client in writing of the newly discovered conditions or circumstances, and Client and Consultant shall
renegotiate, in good faith, the terms and conditions of this Agreement. If amended terms and conditions cannot be agreed upon within thirty (30) days after notice,
Consultant may terminate this Agreement and Consultant shall be paid for its services through the date of termination.

17. Client shall furnish to Consultant within fifteen (15) days after receipt of a written request information necessary and relevant for the Consultant to evaluate, give
notice of, or enforce mechanic’s lien rights. Such information shall include a correct statement of the record legal title to the property on which the Project is located,
the name of the Project lender, and the Client and/or Owner’s interest therein.

18. Except for actions such as for enforcement of mechanic's liens which are required by statute to be brought in a specific venue, in the event that litigation is instituted
under the terms of this Agreement, the same is to be brought and tried in the judicial jurisdiction of the court of the county in which this Agreement is made. Client
waives the right to have the suit brought, or tried in, or removed to, any other county or judicial jurisdiction.

19. This Agreement, including Consultant's Addenda and Schedule of Fees, represents the entire Agreement and understanding between the parties, and supercedes
any and all agreements, either oral or in writing, including any purchase order, between the parties. Any modification to this Agreement will be effective only if it is in
writing signed by the party to be bound. One or more waivers of any term, condition or covenant by either party shall not be construed as a waiver of any other term,
condition or covenant.

20. The laws of the State where the contract was entered into shall govern interpretation of this Agreement. If any term of this Agreement is deemed unenforceable,
the remainder of the Agreement shall stay in full force and effect. If services of an attorney are required by any party to secure performance under this Agreement, the
prevailing party shall be entitied to reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

Copyright 2003, RIMROCK ENGINEERING, INC.































































NEWCOMBE AND SOMES VARIANCE REQUEST — STAFF REPORT

Date: October 29, 2025

To: Hardin City/County Planning Board Members
From: ForrestJ. Mandeville, AICP — Planning Consultant
RE: Newcombe and Somes Variance Application

Required Planning Board Action: Review, receive public comment at a public hearing, and make a
recommendation to the City Council.

Project/Application Summary:

Joseph Newcombe and Nicholas Somes have applied for a variance for their property on the east side
of Hardin on the southeast corner of 7t Street East and North Crook Avenue. The request, if
approved, would allow existing non-conforming buildings to be rebuilt, if necessary, in the same
footprint. The property address is 210 E 7t Street, and the property is legally described as Lot 1, Block
8, Hardin Fourth Addition, in Section 23, Township 1 South, Range 33 East.

The property is zoned R1 single-family residential. The variance would allow the two homes currently
on the property to be rebuilt if destroyed.

Required Board Action:

The City/County Planning Board is tasked with conducting a duly advertised public hearing,
considering the application, and making a recommendation to the City Council (Common Council).

The City Council, after receiving the Board’s recommendation, shall make a final decision on the
application. The City will send a notice of its decision to the applicant and the Planning Board.

1 Newcombe and Somes Variance






Subject Property (Blue Outline)

Subject Property (Blue) and Vicinity

Newcombe and Somes Variance



Pictures from Appraisal Report

Newcombe and Somes Variance



Pictures from Appraisal Report

Findings of Fact: (Section references are to the Hardin City Code unless otherwise noted)

The Hardin Zoning Ordinance, Section 11-1-9-3, requires variance requests to provide (1) Proof that
the particular property in question is being denied a right under this chapter that is being enjoyed by
other properties in the same area and zone, and (2) Proof that a variance grant will not be extending a
special privilege to the subject property or cause what would in fact result in a change of land use not
allowed in this chapter.

4 Newcombe and Somes Variance



The subject property is currently zoned R1 single-family residential. This district “provides for
neighborhoods of single-family dwelling units occupying a single structure on individual lots. The
population herein is characterized by a degree of high mobility and the use of an automobile for
almost every trip.” (Section 11-1-2-2). Allowable uses in the R1 district include single-family dwellings,
churches, gold courses, private schools, etc. Multi-family residential is allowed as a conditional use
(Section 11-1-2-3(C)).

Section 11-1-4 of the Hardin Zoning Ordinance regulates nonconforming uses. This section allows
nonconforming uses to continue , but notes that “It is the intent of this chapter that all
nonconforming uses shall be eventually eliminated” (11-1-4(B) and states that “If a nonconforming
use is damaged or destroyed by a fire, explosion, act of God, or the public enemy, then any
restoration must be for a permitted use” (11-1-4(F). The applicants note that this requirement has
made it difficult to obtain a loan and “significantly reduces the value of the property and creates and
undue hardship not imposed on surrounding property owners.”

The applicants provided email comments from Hardin Building Inspector Joe Connelly confirming that
only one home would be allowed to be rebuilt if either house was destroyed or torn down. Mr.
Connely has also indicated that the City has approved similar variance requests, such as at 1301 N
Custer, for an existing residence on an industrial lot.

The Hardin Zoning Ordinance requires that variance requests provide proof that the property in
guestion is being denied a right that is being enjoyed by other properties in the same area and zone,
and proof that granting the variance would not be extending a special privilege to the subject
property (Section 11-1-9-3).

The request does not appear to conflict with the 2009 Hardin Growth Management Plan or the 2021
Growth Policy and Downtown Revitalization Plan.

Recommendation:

Any recommendation by the Planning Board should be based on findings indicating that the property
is being denied a right that is being enjoyed by other properties in the R1 district, and that the
granting of the variance is not an extension of a special privilege. An inability to make findings that
support those two criteria would be grounds for a recommendation of denial.

Based on the findings contained in this report, should the City/County Planning Board recommend
approval of the variance request, the following condition should be considered:
1. The variance approval does not run with the land and is limited to the current owners,

Joseph Newcombe and Nicholas Somes.

Final approval is subject to the decision of the City Council.

5 Newcombe and Somes Variance




















azimmer
Highlight




azimmer
Highlight





[5 Outlook

Fwd: Fw: Zoning

From joe newcombe <joenewcombe94@gmail.com>
Date Tue 9/23/2025 7:06 PM
To  Forrest Mandeville <Forrest@forrestmandevilleconsulting.com>

—————————— Forwarded message ---------

From: Thomas Hocking <thocking@emortgagecapital.com>
Date: Tue, Sep 23, 2025 at 10:00 AM

Subject: Fw: Zoning

To: joe newcombe <joenewcombe94@gmail.com>

Get Outlook for Android

From: Cali Mailloux <lwappraising@gmail.com>

Sent: Tuesday, September 23, 2025 9:36:48 AM

To: Thomas Hocking <thocking@emortgagecapital.com>
Subject: Fwd: Zoning

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: Cali Mailloux <|wappraising@gmail.com>
Date: July 26, 2025 at 7:42:26 AM MDT

To: Joe Connelly <jconnelly@hardinmt.com>
Subject: Re: Zoning

Thank you so much Joe! | really appreciate your help. Have a wonderful weekend.

On Thu, Jul 24, 2025 at 3:03 PM Joe Connelly <jconnelly@hardinmt.com> wrote:
Hi Cal,


mailto:thocking@emortgagecapital.com
mailto:joenewcombe94@gmail.com
https://aka.ms/AAb9ysg
mailto:lwappraising@gmail.com
mailto:thocking@emortgagecapital.com
mailto:lwappraising@gmail.com
mailto:jconnelly@hardinmt.com
mailto:jconnelly@hardinmt.com

To the best of my knowledge, they do not. They are still allowed to be there since they
were built in the 50's. If the either house is destroyed or torn down only 1 house will be
allowed to remain.

Joe Connely
Building Inspector
City of Hardin

From: Cali Mailloux <lwappraising@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, July 24, 2025 2:30 PM

To: Joe Connelly <jconnelly@hardinmt.com>
Subject: Zoning

Hi Joe,

Thanks so much for getting back to me! Just to confirm the property at 210 E 7th St is
permitted as a legal nonconforming use. However, if it were to be razed it could not be
rebuilt as is. So the homeowners do not have to get any special permits at this time?

| really appreciate your help!!

Thank you,

Cali Mailloux

L.W. Appraisals, LLC
406-861-6393

2705 Westfork Ln
Billings, MT 59106

Cali Mailloux

L.W. Appraisals, LLC
406-861-6393
2705 Westfork Ln
Billings, MT 59106


mailto:lwappraising@gmail.com
mailto:jconnelly@hardinmt.com

[5 Outlook

Fwd: Fw: Zoning

From joe newcombe <joenewcombe94@gmail.com>
Date Tue 9/23/2025 7:06 PM
To  Forrest Mandeville <Forrest@forrestmandevilleconsulting.com>

—————————— Forwarded message ---------

From: Thomas Hocking <thocking@emortgagecapital.com>
Date: Tue, Sep 23, 2025 at 10:00 AM

Subject: Fw: Zoning

To: joe newcombe <joenewcombe94@gmail.com>

Get Outlook for Android

From: Cali Mailloux <lwappraising@gmail.com>

Sent: Tuesday, September 23, 2025 9:36:48 AM

To: Thomas Hocking <thocking@emortgagecapital.com>
Subject: Fwd: Zoning

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: Cali Mailloux <|wappraising@gmail.com>
Date: July 26, 2025 at 7:42:26 AM MDT

To: Joe Connelly <jconnelly@hardinmt.com>
Subject: Re: Zoning

Thank you so much Joe! | really appreciate your help. Have a wonderful weekend.

On Thu, Jul 24, 2025 at 3:03 PM Joe Connelly <jconnelly@hardinmt.com> wrote:
Hi Cal,


mailto:thocking@emortgagecapital.com
mailto:joenewcombe94@gmail.com
https://aka.ms/AAb9ysg
mailto:lwappraising@gmail.com
mailto:thocking@emortgagecapital.com
mailto:lwappraising@gmail.com
mailto:jconnelly@hardinmt.com
mailto:jconnelly@hardinmt.com

To the best of my knowledge, they do not. They are still allowed to be there since they
were built in the 50's. If the either house is destroyed or torn down only 1 house will be
allowed to remain.

Joe Connely
Building Inspector
City of Hardin

From: Cali Mailloux <lwappraising@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, July 24, 2025 2:30 PM

To: Joe Connelly <jconnelly@hardinmt.com>
Subject: Zoning

Hi Joe,

Thanks so much for getting back to me! Just to confirm the property at 210 E 7th St is
permitted as a legal nonconforming use. However, if it were to be razed it could not be
rebuilt as is. So the homeowners do not have to get any special permits at this time?

| really appreciate your help!!

Thank you,

Cali Mailloux

L.W. Appraisals, LLC
406-861-6393

2705 Westfork Ln
Billings, MT 59106

Cali Mailloux

L.W. Appraisals, LLC
406-861-6393
2705 Westfork Ln
Billings, MT 59106


mailto:lwappraising@gmail.com
mailto:jconnelly@hardinmt.com

Big Horn County
Detention Center Update

Audience: Hardin City Council & Community

Presenter: Big Horn County



Amroey 939708qO OFesun Ut 00e[dIY .
AIrqer] 9sea109(J o

SIYSII [EUONMIISUOD DBWUT 10910TJ o
SIOOIJFO VOTIUAIIP 10910TJ

Aoyes onqnd 109101 J

ANTI0®,] UOTIUI(T MIN]
e prng Isnjy A3unon) IO 31g AYA\




SPIEPUEIS [EUONIIIIOD UIIPOW JOJ PAUSISIP FOAIN]

9SNOYIINO)
£ unon) uIof] 31 93 JO IUIWISE] Y3 UT PIIJLDO|

soyeWUT ¢ :A310eded USISo(T
000°001 #2d 7t 21e3 WD JUS[OTA IPIMIEIS $Z0T o
000°001 #2d 64T 23e3 WD JUS[OTA IPIMIIEIS (L6] o
O0LG6T UMY

ACPOT, 97y 9\ 2FY M\



s130d ouIIPOW JO POOJ ON
SYOO0[ JOOP JTUOTIIAA ON] o
sAeM[[eY MOITEN] 29 STOUTOD PUT o
yutod A71U9 9IND3S ON]
SNOJISUE(T
vorssarddns o1 ON]
93UBYIXD JTE OPISINO ON] o
X1J 03 2AISUdXD ‘prepueisqns SUIqUWN[J e

surre] .

ACPOT, 97y 9\ 2FY M\



Uedson
9JES $11 POPIIIXI Sy ALY SIY T,




nouing JI213JO pue
‘sysme] ‘uorsTazadns paonpai ‘9dudfoIA apn[oul s1oedw]

SUOTIINJOS WI-3u0] pade[dar sax1j Arezodwia],
A1oededsano o/,Ge-(g SUNT A[oUNNoy

UONTPUOD Sunerddo [BWIOU B ST SUIPMOIIIIA()
SITWIT] USTSOP SPa2dxa Ajounnos vonemndog

soyewWur ,¢ :A310eden)

SUTPMOIDIIA() JTUOIY)



qurrdioog ojesun owes ‘9O[doad IO

9INIINIISLIFUT JO SUIJFEIS UT ISLITOUT ON
90€ds JUWAOW PIJONPIF PUE INITUING PISLITOU]

9381007 o1ENnbs 91enbopeur-Apeaife paonpay

SOTOC 243 Ul popper Sjunq [eUORIPPY

ISIOA\
SUORIPUOD) IPEI\ SIXL] Pry-pueq



‘orn[rey £o170d € 10U ‘QIn[rey SuIprNg € ST STY T,

SeoJE
UONBIIISSE[D JO “YI[LIY [LIVIW TedIPIW UFIPOW ON]

90eds 9S1019X9 JO UONEITIAT AJTEp ON]
orewruT 3od 298e1003 o38nbs ojenbopeu]

JYSTAEp TeInieu ON

SPIEPULIQ [IB[ 199N J0UUE) ANTIOE,]



ST [N
JJEIS [BUONDIIITOD U0 Newul ()7-G Aorewnxordde 1uasard-0z0z e

SBWIUT 9973 JO 2dBISd PUE 101 ()07 e

:2owodIN ()

SOTIET 9)eWUT-03-JIOIJJO 3enbopeuy
uvonendod [e70U93 UT Pasnoy $BWUT YSTI-USIE]

SUTPMOIITIAO FIAIG

B9y 21V S2ouanbasuon) A3o3eg



A1[IqeI] 9S€IIOUT PUE
SUOTITPUOD SUIYIOM 9JesUN 91BIID SSUIP[ING 9Jesu)

J3e3S SuTUTEIOT PUE SUNINIIAT ATNOTIJI(
SOTIN[UT PUE SI[NESSE PISELITIU]
syutod [0FIVOD PUE SOUTPYSIS PATWT |

7921330 39d sojewuT AUBW OO,

Uonua1aYy 2 A1938Q 190133



wondo 2A1sUadX9 Jsow 9 ST SUNPOU JUTO(]

$1S0D
JDUBINSUT PISLITIUT PUL rnsodxa AIqer] SursTy

$1500 J1edo1 AdUdSIowy
YSIF JUAWI2I0JUd (O

SIINSME[ SIYSTI [TAT)

STy [EIOULUL] 29 [6597]



2ouedwod
-UOU JTWIISAS st $9dedsd pue SJ0TI 18a7 supne (O

orqnd oy3 PUE ‘S91eTWUT ‘STIDJJO OF ISTT IBIPIW W]
so1ewIuT 9933 JO 2dedst]

A31rov3 9 9pTSuT 30Ty

SIN[TE]
ouedwon) v :2dedst 29 101y 0707



Aepo3 JU9sa1d UTEWOT 3SOW PUE ()7 () UT 3U2sa3d o3om [TV

SUOTIEITWI] SUIPYSIS Pue UOISTATIANG
SOTOUIDIJOP ONeT SUIJJEIQ

SOIN[TEJ VOTIEITJISSE[D ICWU]
SUTPMOIITIAQ)

So1ou21013op Jue[d Ted1SAYJ

payRuap] sasne)) 300y Ipny (O



'SPI2U [EDTPIW SUISII PUE ‘S98e1I0YS SUTJJels AIIoE]
€ JO YOB[ JO SINI[IOE] SUISE ‘SUIPMOIDIIAO D] [V

£unon) 197eM[Ng
Aunon) voqien)

funon) uIrol] srg

wo[qoIJ [eUOISY V



'SOUO SUITE] 29I} JO PEIISUT AN[IOEF 9FeS dU()

uvonedrdnp pue swn 130dsuen paonpay
$1500 Suneiado pue UONINIISUOD PAONPIY
SONUNOT) JIIELM[[IS PUE UOQIE") [HIM SN Pareyq

%ﬁﬁu&w aonualop upolr MaN

uonn[og [BUOISY V



souedwod wirl-3uo]

SEQTE UI[EIY-TLIUIW PUE [EDTPIN
90eds uonea1d93 91enbopy
WYSTAep TernieN

UONEBDIJISSE[D 9ewul 19doI ]
SOTIET SUTJIEIS FOJEQ

£333es 1901330 UONIIIION)

SOPIAOIJ [Fe[ MIN] © FeUA\



3TUNWWoD 19Jes € suvow [rel 1o5es v

[OTIVOD 3SOD WIN-SUO |
Airqess qof

s370dsuer) AOUDSIOWD JOMI,]
st 9dedso paonpoy

K193es onqnd paaorduy

STUOPISIY UIPFEE] O3 SIJoUd(g



Juowode[dor sormbox souedwod-uou [BInIoNyg

SQUIPYSTS 2a03dwr 01 Aem ON
20eds uoneredas J0 UONEIIDIT ON]
9381007 97ENnbS PIxI,]

UOTBIO[ JUIWISEE]

JUQIOTING JON] ST UONBAOUIY AUA\



Amqrsuodsas
eosy “3ozes “Oouerdwod — Lioey MoN iz vond()

S[STI puUe
souerdwoo-uou ponunuod — onb smeig :1 vondo .

SPEOISSOIT) [BS9] s, A1UN07) Ay T,



Ss1I spunodwod Aepa(

UonNOs WiId}-3UO[ TNFME[ € 03 JWWO )
UOTBIOQE[[OD BUOIZT 95EINOJUT]
A110€] UONU2IOP UIOPOW B JO UORINTSUO0D 170ddng

Juerdwod
-UOU PUE d9Jesun ST AJIOBJ JUIIIND Y3 IFPI[MOUNIY

uondYy 01 [[E)



‘Apoisno 1no ur a7doad o3 pue ‘SIIIIFO
SUONDIIIOD I} DATIS oM AJTUNWWOD Y3 399303d
01 AIrqrsuodsar [e89] JNO 199U [[IA OM JOUIIYM ST o

el mou e
syuem £)Unon) UIOL] JIg FOUIdYM 10U ST uonsonb oy

WYSnoy T, [eUL]



Sober Beds

Jail Diversion



TUOTIEDTXOIUT JO [OAI] FIOY}
0} Pa1e[23 APOITP PUE JOUTW A[9ATNL[T 9TE SISUIJJO
asoym 97doad pajedTx0IuT J0J 90€[d PaInionms € PaaN] e

1S91J€ 01 WOy U0sIad ParedIxolur 93 93e) 0)
o[qrsuodsas & SUNEI0[ WOIJ 95ULI SUONN[OS JUIIINT)

Aronwwod
O3 WOIJ PIAOWAT 9 O} PIJU S[ENPIAIPUT PIIBIIXOIUT o

ugonenig 1uo1Jn’)



U0sI39d PI3LITXOIUT 0F STF £JOJES SISLITII(
9OUEBSINU SISEITII(
STENPIATPUT Pa1EITX0IUT $31do00y

werdord Arerunjop

JATIBUIIIY

























































RESOLUTION NO. 2429

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF HARDIN, MONTANA, ADOPTING THE
PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING REPORT EVALUATING THE WATER SYSTEM FOR
THE CITY OF HARDIN

WHEREAS, the City of Hardin procured the services of Stahly Engineering and
Associates, Inc. to evaluate the City’s water systems options and prepare a Preliminary
Engineering Report according to the standards set forth by the State of Montana;

WHEREAS, the City of Hardin has the legal jurisdiction and authority to
construct, finance, operate, and maintain the wastewater system per Mont. Code Ann. §
7-13-4301 (2025) et seq.;

WHEREAS, the City of Hardin has held a public meeting on the issues evident in
addressing the City’s water system, the alternatives for remedy, the selection of the
preferred alternative, and the opinion of probable costs associated with improving the
system; and

WHEREAS, the City of Hardin has received the Preliminary Engineering Report
and finds it satisfactory.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF HARDIN, MONTANA:

The City Council of the City of Hardin accepts the Water Systems Preliminary
Engineering Report as submitted by Stahly Engineering and Associates, Inc. and
formally adopts it as a planning document for its water system whereby Capital
Improvement decisions will be made;

That the City of Hardin agrees to comply with all State laws and regulations and
the requirements of any funding programs assisting with the project; and

That Riley Ramsey, Mayor of the City of Hardin is authorized to act on behalf of
the City of Hardin and to provide such additional information as may be required, in
accordance with the Preliminary Engineering Report.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Hardin, Montana, and
APPROVED this day of January, 2026.

YEA VOTES NAY VOTES

1of2



CITY OF HARDIN

BY: ATTEST:

Mayor City Clerk

20f2









|||||||||||||||||
rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr

HARDIN VISITOR
INFORMATION CENTER



















RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

@ b. Highlight experience with cost estimating, site layout, and infrastructure assessment.

We are one of the few Construction Managers
that work tirelessly to prepare a budget and
will carry that effort through completion

of the project.

To prepare an estimate, we will spend considerable time
with the Design Team and Owner on constructability issues,
existing conditions, and reviewing the project programming to
understand exactly what the project intent is and to have a clear
understanding of project goals.

Estimates are typically generated at schematic design, 100%
design development, and 50% construction document stages (at
a minimum) to ensure that once plans are complete, the project
represents a scope of work and related estimate on which the
Owner can rely. We may ask key subcontractors to review the
plans and provide their input on budgets for their scope of work.
We work with a number of subcontractors both locally and across
the state on many projects during budget phases, valuing their
input and expertise, to help us with achieving project cost goals.
We perform our own takeoff of all materials using BlueBeam
Software, and contact suppliers to provide pricing for comparison
against a subcontractor that may have reviewed this scope of
work and prepared their own budget. This helps us to better
understand the overall budget, ask questions, and forecast the
most realistic cost of the project. Langlas will repeat this exercise
as many times as necessary through the pre-construction phase

to ensure all cost items and potential construction issues have
been addressed for the most accurate budget possible.

When project estimates are over the project budget, we are
diligent in establishing alternative options that do not sacrifice
the design intent and function of the building, also known as
Value Engineering. When presenting options, we are also careful
to review the life span, replacement value, and maintenance
requirements of any alternative products. In addition to product,
we will review more efficient and cost effective ways to assemble
and build the project and coordinate those efforts with the Design
Team. This process will start in pre-construction but will carry over
into construction as we are continually looking for value for the
City of Hardin.

Langlas will take the time during the pre-construction and
bidding phases of the project to identify all areas of concern to
eliminate surprises during construction. This early effort helps
us to understand the project and create a plan that is realistic
and achievable. We prepare complete and thorough scopes of
work that bidders use to bid the project, taking into account the
schedule, time of year for construction, local climate, local work
force and local jurisdiction requirements. During construction
we are the Owner’s advocate, ensuring that the subcontractors
follow their scopes of work, construction plans, and specifications
in order to eliminate or minimize change orders or unforeseen
costs. We are not a change order oriented company and seek
to avoid them as much as possible through effective budgeting,
detailed bid packages, and tight subcontracts.

Below are examples of our cost estimating success.

Lockwood High School $48,504,786 $43,590,452 N/A $46,130,390
Gallatin High School $83,595,068 $77,992,664 $76,623,840 $76,280,662
Rocky Vista Veterinary School $29,071,074 $31,140,717 $29,576,950 $31,131,388
Bridger School $8,689,142 $7,809,792 $8,043,985 $8,594,615
Laurel Elementary School N/A $20,825,014 $20,589,443 $20,157176
Rankin Elementary School N/A $13,981,937 $13,272,553 $13,022,939
Amend Park Rec Campus $19,543,500 $19,470,500 N/A $18,750,000
Ben Steele Middle School $29,745,861 $26,637,701 $24,597,224 $22,207,931
MSU College of Nursing $18,806,666 $15,535,721 $16,359,665 $13,459,386
Billings Catholic School $18,027,273 $18,265,417 $16,940,180 $14,924,625
Laurel Intermediate School N/A $20,825,014 $20,589,443 $20,157176

LANGLAS.COWM

HARDIN VISITOR INFORMATION CENTER // 5





















PROJECT CAPACITY

@ a. Statement of the firm’s current workfoad and ability to assume this project within the proposed timeline.

Langlas Workload - Billings

Project Stage Start Date End Date
Roosevelt Center Remodel - Red Lodge Preconstruction 1172025 3/1/2026
Intermountain Health Precast Grouting Preconstruction 12/1/2025 9/1/2026
Stock Office Building - Helena Preconstruction 3/1/2026 1172027
Yellowstone Valley Animal Shelter Preconstruction 4/1/2026 8/1/12027
Aeries Tower - St. Johns Preconstruction 6/1/2026 12/1/2028
Eagle Seeker Pharmacy Remodel Under Construction 1111/2025 12/1/2025
Eagle Seeker Clinic Under Construction 11115/2025 5/1/2027
Windstone Patio Homes Under Construction 10/15/2025 10/15/2026
Mercedes Benz - Interior Remodel Under Construction 6/2/2025 1115/2026
Cheba Hut - Remodel / Tenant Finish Under Construction 9/22/2025 1115/2025
Panera Bread - Great Falls Under Construction 7/1/2025 11112026
Hannah House - CLDI Under Construction 4/15/2025 1115/2026
Billings Clinic ICC Restrooms Under Construction 8/1/2025 2/1/2026
MSU - College of Nursing Under Construction 8/1/2025 4/1/2026
Rocky Vista University Vet Training Under Construction 10/1/2024 4/1/2026
Graff Fields - Laurel Public Schools Under Construction 8/4/2025 4/15/2026
HBA Career Center House Under Construction 9/15/2025 6/15/2026
Amend Park Recreation Campus Under Construction 6/1/2025 7/1/2026
Billings Residential Home Under Construction 10/1/2025 10/1/2026
Malta Vehicle Maintenance Shop Under Construction 71172025 10/1/2026

Langlas as the capacity for both pre-construction and construction for this project, and we would
be able to dedicate the time this project needs and deserves.

LANGLAS.COWM HARDIN VISITOR INFORMATION CENTER / 12



PROPOSED SCOPE OF WORK

a. A narrative describing how the GC/CM will approach
and fulfill the services outlined in Section 3.

Langlas strongly believes that the success
: : : _ of a project’s success is
of a project is won or lost during the Pre I B L SIS (o (e
Construction phase, which is why we take construction phase
these services so seriously.

Our pre-construction efforts typically include:
)8( COORDINATION/
PHASING PLANS
BUDGETING
:@}j VALUE
'@'{E} ENGINEERING
SCHEDULING
BID PACKAGE
@ DEVELOPMENT
CONSTRUCTABILITY
REVIEWS
GENERATING LOCAL
. . . . SUBCONTRACTOR
Our success on multiple projects can be directly contributed to INTEREST

our pre-construction efforts on these projects. From day one,
we will integrate ourselves within the team with a willingness to
do whatever it takes to ensure this project will be a success. We
have the ability to react to the fluid environment that is the pre- ~ With a strong foundation in technology, our staff is able to work
construction process and provide team members with real time ~ with the Design Team’s established drawing and modeling
budgeting information, material suggestions, and contractibility =~ Pprograms to help create coordinated building models across
assessments. all disciplines to avoid conflicts before construction begins. We

also use software designed as a collaboration tool to better
Assisting the balance of the Project Team in making key decisions facilitate coordination between design disciplines, our staff, our
as a result of our pre-construction efforts, helps to create the subcontractors, and the Owner for the clearest communication

platform for project success. possible.

At Langlas we take great pride in completing projects on-time and on budget.

We seek to understand the needs of Owners and integrate their needs into the schedule for a smooth
transition from start to finish. Langlas understands that the project does not end at the completion of

construction. In addition to required close-out documents we also provide extensive training on the new facility
and are available when questions or potential issues arise. Langlas is available long after the work
is complete. We find that our commitment to a strong finish translates to customer satisfaction.

LANGLAS.COWM HARDIN VISITOR INFORMATION CENTER // 13






DELIVERABLES, TIMELINE,
AND BUDGET

@ a. A detailed list of deliverables.

PRECONSTRUCTION SERVICES DELIVERABLES

EXTENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES

1.

The Construction Manager shall exercise reasonable care in performing Preconstruction Services. The Construction Manager,
however, does not warrant or guarantee estimates and schedules, except as may be included as part of the final contract. The
Construction Manager is not required to ascertain that the Drawings and Specifications are in accordance with applicable laws,
statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities. However, the Construction Manager shall
promptly report to the Architect and Owner any nonconformity discovered by or made known to the Construction Manager.

The Construction Manager shall provide a preliminary evaluation of the Owner’s program, schedule, and construction budget
requirements, each in terms of the other.

LOGISTICS AND/OR PHASE PLAN DEVELOPMENT

1.

The Construction Manager shall advise the Owner and Architect on proposed site use and improvements in terms of construction
constraints.

The Construction Manager shall also provide recommendations to the Owner and Architect, consistent with the Project requirements,
on constructability, availability of materials and labor, time requirements for procurement, installation and construction, prefabrication;
and factors related to construction cost including, but not limited to, costs of alternative designs or materials, preliminary budgets,
life-cycle data, and possible cost reductions.

COST ESTIMATES

1.

Based on the preliminary design and other design criteria prepared by the Architect, the Construction Manager shall prepare, for
the Architect’s review and the Owner’s approval, preliminary estimates of the Cost of the Work or the cost of program requirements
using area, volume, or similar conceptual estimating techniques. If the Architect or Construction Manager suggests alternative
materials and systems, the Construction Manager shall provide cost evaluations of those alternative materials and systems.

As the Architect progresses with the preparation of the Schematic Design Documents (SD), Design Development Documents
(DD), and Construction Documents (CD), the Construction Manager shall prepare and update estimates of the Cost of the Work
with increasing detail and refinement. The Construction Manager shall include in the estimate those costs to allow for the further
development of the design, price escalation, and market conditions, until such time as the Owner and Construction Manager agree
on a price for the Work.

Cost of Work budgets to be provided:
SD budget
DD budget
100% CD bidding amount

Update any of the above budgets at program changes of significant variation, significant material changes, or means and methods
changes.

As the Architect progresses with the preparation of the Schematic Design Documents (SD), Design Development Documents (DD),
and Construction Documents (CD), the Construction Manager shall consult with the Owner and Architect and make recommendations
regarding constructability and schedules.

LANGLAS.COWM HARDIN VISITOR INFORMATION CENTER // 15



DELIVERABLES, TIMELINE,
AND BUDGET

PRECONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE

1.

The Construction Manager shall assist in the development of a Preconstruction Schedule beginning with the Schematic Design
phase and continuing through Project completion. The Preconstruction Schedule will place significant emphasis on the phasing,
logistics planning, budgeting, and value engineering of the project.

The Preconstruction Schedule will identify the responsibilities among the members of the Project Team. Key milestones will include
design phases, budget delivery dates, and review dates, release of documents for bidding, and tentative bid dates will be identified.

Additionally, the Preconstruction Schedule shall identify long lead items that may require pre-procurement during the Project.

The Preconstruction Schedule shall identify when architecturally significant Owner-furnished equipment should be delivered to the
Project.

The Construction Manager shall assist in developing an overall master project schedule so that realistic dates can be set and
achieved. The Preconstruction Schedule and master project schedule will be distributed to all members of the Project team and
monitored on a regular basis during the Design/Preconstruction Services review meetings. The importance of this schedule will be
continually emphasized to all members of the Project team as the key element in ensuring a timely design phase of the Project and
allowing for a prompt construction start date.

Concurrent with submission of each cost estimate, the Construction Manager will prepare and submit to the Project team revised
schedule to the Project team for the Construction Phase of the Project. This schedule shall be updated with each cost estimate,
along with corresponding explanations for any significant changes, which affect the construction duration.

DOCUMENT REVIEW

1.

Preconstruction Services review meetings during the Design Development phase and periodically, as required, during the
Construction Drawings phase. Construction Manager to attend project A&E meetings and any ad hoc meetings commencing with
Design Development through completion of Construction Documents and preconstruction bidding. Meetings shall be held virtually
by web meetings or in person as requested or required by Owner or as otherwise necessary for proper facilitation of the Project.

The Construction Manager will develop and maintain a Request for Information (RFI) Log and/or an Issues and Answers Log to
aid in the prompt transfer of information between all members of the Project team. The log will be monitored and updated on a
continual basis and addressed at the review meetings. Unresolved issues shall be identified in each review meeting with follow-up
responsibilities and response dates being assigned to the appropriate team members, including the Construction Manager.

The Construction Manager shall provide continual input to the Project team addressing constructability, availability of materials,
maintainability review and qualified trades for specialized systems. The Construction Manager shall also provide comparative cost/
benefit analyses for various building systems, budget/schedule impact, and concerns as specific phases of the overall design are
developed to ensure the development and completion of Contract Documents within the budget and schedule limitations.

If necessary, for the Construction Manager to provide accurate information, the Construction Manager may involve the services
of outside consultants and/or subcontractors in the review and budgeting of specialized systems such as structural, specialty
equipment, furnishings, folding partitions, plumbing, mechanical, electrical, and life safety. The outside consultants may incur
additional fees, which will be approved by the Owner prior to involving outside consultants.

VALUE ENGINEERING

1.

Concurrent with the submission of each cost estimate, the Construction Manager shall submit a detailed list of Value Engineering
options including associated estimated costs and scheduling. The Construction Manager shall meet and work with the Project team
in the evaluation of the various options and incorporate selected options into the cost estimates. The Construction Manager shall
participate as a Project team member in maximizing the Project value for the Owner.

LANGLAS.COWM HARDIN VISITOR INFORMATION CENTER // 16



DELIVERABLES, TIMELINE,
AND BUDGET

SUBCONTRACTOR/VENDOR SOLICITATION AND PREQUALIFICATION

1. The Construction Manager will promote and generate interest of local and regional bidders and assist the Project team in developing
a master list of Vendors and Subcontractors which have shown interest in submitting bid proposals for the Project. This list shall
include vendors and Subcontractors for all categories of work included in the total Project.

BIDDING AND CONSTRUCTION PHASE

1. Bid Packages for Bidding
a. The Construction Manager shall develop bid package recommendations and create a bid package bidding schedule and
procedure.
b. The Construction Manager shall analyze the bid market, notify potential bidders, and distribute all relevant bidding
documentation.

2. Bidding — The Construction Manager shall:

a. Manage, facilitate, and coordinate the bid phase.

b. Assemble and distribute contract document bid packages for bidding, and to the best of the Construction Managers ability
confirm that all requirements have been made and all scope items covered.

c.  Receive bids, analyze and reconcile, and present bid results

d. Receive and log all insurance certificates, performance and payment bonds, and other required start-up documents. Certificate
of Insurance (COI) filed in the amounts requested by the Owner for Workman’s Comprehensive, General Liability, Bodily Injury,
Property Damage, etc. The Owner shall be named “additional insured” on all COI’s.
Establish and conduct pre-award meetings and pre-construction meetings.

. Establish an agreed GMP or contract amount.

LANGLAS.COWM HARDIN VISITOR INFORMATION CENTER // 17









DELIVERABLES, TIMELINE,
AND BUDGET

c. A preconstruction budget proposal that includes:
i. Personnel by name and level of effort (hours or % FTE)

Personnel Anticipated Hrs Rate Total
Jason Hubbard, Senior PM 72 100 $7,200.00
Branden Morley, PM 72 90 $6,480.00
Brian Dillon, Superintendent 48 90 $4,320.00

@ ii. Direct costs (e.g., travel, printing, materials)

Direct Cost Quantity Unit Total
Printing 1 Each $100.00
Advertising 1 Each $200.00
Technology 1 Each $199.21
Misc. Expenses 1 Each $200.00
Travel 4 Trips $1,222.00
Total Expected Cost $19,921.21

@ iii. Subconsultant costs, if applicable

Subconsultants will not be required.

@ iv. Total not-to-exceed amount

TOTAL NOT-TO-EXCEED PRE-CONSTRUCTION AMOUNT = $12,000.00

LANGLAS.COWM HARDIN VISITOR INFORMATION CENTER / 20















CITY OF HARDIN
VISITOR
INFORMATION
CENTER

GENERAL CONTRACTOR/
CONSTRUCTION
MANAGER SERVICES

REQUEST FOR
QUALIFICATION

DECEMBER 23, 2025
JACKSON CONTRACTOR GROUP



December 23, 2025

RE: Request for Qualification, GC/CM Services Visitor Information Center - New Construction

Dear Andrew Lehr,

Jackson Contractor Group is honored to submit our proposal for the City of Hardin’s Visitor Information Center
project. This transformational project represents an extraordinary opportunity to create a lasting landmark
that will serve as the gateway to your community for generations to come.

COMMITMENT TO CRAFTSMANSHIP | Quality control is a core element of our business and woven
through our vision, mission, and core values. As masters of their craft, Jackson employees take their work
seriously—every project matters. We command respect from ourselves first, and from everyone else, including
peers, clients, design partners, subcontractors and suppliers. Our reputation depends on it. Quality isn’t just

in the materials and craft, it’s also sharing relevant knowledge and expertise before construction begins, to
ensure our clients realize the highest value. “Good” isn’t good enough. Jackson strives for excellence.

COMMUNITY VALUES AT OUR CORE | Jackson employees and their families cultivate roots and serve in
their local communities, which is a fundamental part of our core values. We measure our success not just by
buildings completed, but by relationships built and communities served. Building the communities where we
live and work is part of Jackson’s mission statement. We recognize that the Visitor Center will serve as more
than just a building—it will be a symbol of community pride and a catalyst for economic development. Our
deep connections with Montana communities drive us to contribute meaningfully to their growth and well-
being.

PRECONSTRUCTION EXPERTISE | We believe the foundation of every successful project is built during
preconstruction. Our approach is rooted in collaboration, transparency, and a commitment to maximizing value
from day one. We work closely with owners, architects, and stakeholders to provide detailed cost estimates
thorough constructability reviews, and proactive risk management. By leveraging over 25 years of experience
and industry-leading tools, we ensure that every decision made in the early stages sets the project up for
success—delivering accurate budgets, efficient schedules, and solutions tailored to your unique goals. Our
dedication to preconstruction means you can trust that your investment is optimized and your vision is realized
with confidence.

We are excited about the opportunity to partner with you in creating a Visitor Center that will foster
community pride, drive economic vitality, and deliver enduring value for the Hardin community. Thank you for
considering our proposal. We look forward to discussing how Jackson can help bring this important vision to
life through our unwavering commitment to craftsmanship, community values, and preconstruction.

We acknowledge the receipt of Addendum No 1 and No 2, issued on December 19, 2025.

Sincerely,

e O

Charlie Lohof, Division Manager

15 North 6th St, Miles City, MT 59301

O | 406-234-5565 C | 406-546-0843

E | charliel@jacksoncontractorgroup.com



RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

EARLY DESIGN DEVELOPMENT | Jackson’s
experience with early design development centers
on collaboration, proactive problem-solving, and
maximizing value from the very beginning. The team
gets involved early with owners, architects, and key
stakeholders to ensure every idea and possibility is
explored. By participating in design development
coordination meetings, Jackson brings the entire
team together to discuss details, propose alternate
methodologies, and keep everyone up to date on the
project’s status. This approach allows field issues to
be eliminated before construction begins, creates
buy-in from all parties, and drives down costs by
selecting budget-friendly materials and builder-
friendly details.

Jackson’s team dives into the details, mentally
building the project before boots are on the ground,
and works closely with the design team to review
options and ensure efficient, resourceful budgeting.
Early involvement means Jackson can provide
constructability and maintainability reviews, offer
recommendations on material selection, and tailor
bid packages to emphasize key quality features.

By understanding the intent of the designers and
the owner, Jackson thoroughly evaluates value
engineering options and ensures the project’s goals
are always at the forefront. This collaborative, hands-
on approach during early design development sets
the stage for a smooth construction process and a
successful project outcome.

CORE VALUES | At Jackson, our core values are not
just words —they are ingrained in our organizational
fabric, shaping our mindset, directing our actions,
and inspiring us as we navigate our path towards
success. We take immense pride in our core values,

which include building relationships, operating
with integrity, sparking passion, chasing the hard
stuff, and pursuing greatness. These values are our
guide, enabling us to pair expertise with ethics, and
carving our position as industry leaders.




RELEVANT EXPERIENCE

Jackson brings a wealth of experience in cost
estimating, site layout, and infrastructure
assessment, especially when a project design
includes multiple options for scope. The team

excels at providing detailed, accurate cost estimates
for each design alternative, allowing owners and
stakeholders to make informed decisions early in the
process. Jackson’s approach includes comprehensive
quantity takeoffs, real-time market pricing, and
value-driven recommendations that help identify the
most cost-effective solutions without compromising
quality.

When it comes to site layout, Jackson collaborates
closely with design teams to evaluate each option’s
constructability, access, and logistics. The team
reviews site constraints, utility locations, and phasing
requirements to ensure that every layout supports
efficient construction and long-term functionality.
Jackson’s expertise in infrastructure assessment
means the team thoroughly analyzes existing
conditions, utility capacities, and potential impacts
for each design scenario. This proactive evaluation
helps identify risks, uncover opportunities for savings,
and streamline the path to a successful project.

By leveraging this expertise, Jackson empowers
clients to compare options side by side, understand
the implications of each choice, and select the best
path forward for their unique goals.




BIGHORN VALLEY HEALTH CENTER

HARDIN, MONTANA
$3.6M | GC/CM

CLIENT ORGANIZATION & CONTACT: One Health, David Mark, CEO, 406-665-4103, david.mark@onechc.org

* PHASED
* NEW CONSTRUCTION

* PRECONSTRUCTION

One Health Bighorn Valley Health
Center in Hardin, MT is a community
based, outpatient primary health
center designed to serve the whole
communities of Big Horn and
Rosebud Counties.

During preconstruction, our team
identified several opportunities to
enhance value and efficiency:

e We replaced the original full
curtain wall entry with a structural
steel and storefront system,
reducing both cost and schedule.

e Instead of exposed CLT roof
panels, we used open web
joists and exposed sheathing,
preserving the design vision while
saving money.

e By grinding and polishing floors
before wall framing, we used
larger equipment and cut labor
costs.

e Applying a grout coat after the
initial grind eliminated the need
for ongoing floor protection,
ensuring a clean finish at turnover
and further reducing expenses.






BOZEMAN SWIM CENTER

BOZEMAN, MONTANA
$5.4M | GC/CM

CLIENT ORGANIZATION & CONTACT: The City of Bozeman, Mitch Overton 406-582-3222,

moverton@bozeman.net & Max Ziegler 406-595-8470 wziegler@bozeman.net

PHASED
RENOVATION
PRECONSTRUCTION
CUSHING TERRELL

Jackson worked with the City of
Bozeman and Cushing Terrell on

a project recently to renovate the
Bozeman Swim Center. The project
was an existing aquatics facility that
was in need of a new envelope,
mechanical system, pool deck, locker
rooms, & pool rehabilitation.

The City had limited funds from a
previous bond so Jackson worked
with the team to come up with
products and construction methods
to increase the value while getting
the City of Bozeman the most scope
as possible. One item in particular
was the existing acoustical ceiling
tile needed to be replaced, and the
city originally was going to have this
scope done by scaffolding over the
pool to replace close to 20,000sf of
ceiling tile, which was going to cost
the city ~$180,000 just in scaffolding.
Through preconstruction and phasing
ideas, Jackson was able to phase this
work while the pool was drained
during the plaster rehabilitation and
utilize specialized lifts to achieve the
same outcome and saved the city a
significant amount of tax payer dollars
which was then applied to other
scopes for work to maximize the
scope and value of the project.






FIRST INTERSTATE BANK HARDIN
HARDIN, MONTANA
$4.5M | GC/CM

CLIENT ORGANIZATION & CONTACT: First Interstate Bank, Seth Morgan 370-254-1695, seth.morgan@fib.com
e HEAVY SITE WORK
e PRECONSTRUCTION
e CUSHING TERRELL

This project involved constructing a
new First Interstate Bank branch in
Hardin, MT. The building featured a
wood framed structure with a stone
veneer and composite metal panel
exterior. Inside, it housed office
spaces with high-quality finishes.
The exterior work included full

site development, incorporating a
drive-through canopy, parking lot,
hardscapes, and landscaping.

During preconstruction, our team
identified several opportunities to
enhance value and efficiency:

e Jackson used insulated concrete
form (ICF) foundations with heavy
duty wood framed sub-floor in
place of traditional foundations
and slab-on-deck, delivering
cost and schedule savings while
maintaining a commercial-grade
floor system.

e Jackson took the lead in securing
permanent power, internet, gas,
phone services, security systems,
and banking equipment—services
typically provided by the owner—
streamlining the process and
ensuring a seamless project
delivery.




BIGHORN COUNTY MUSEUM &

COURTHOUSE
HARDIN, MONTANA
$3.4M | GC/CM

PUBLIC
RURAL
MUSEUM
CIVIC
CULTURAL

COURTHOUSE | The Bighorn
County Courthouse renovation
project addressed critical
infrastructure issues through
complete basement reconstruction
due to water infiltration problems,
while building back with new
offices, breakroom, and ADA
compliant restrooms. The project
includes construction of a new ADA
accessible entry on the east side with
backup generator installation, and
replacement of the main entry stairs
to improve safety and accessibility.

MUSEUM | The new 13,700 SF
Museum Building project features
comprehensive museum facilities
including new office space, gift shop,
exhibit space, storage and archives.
The building utilizes SIPS (Structural
Insulated Panel) construction with

a steel structure, providing an
energy-efficient and durable building
envelope suitable for museum
environmental controls and long-term
preservation of collections.



CHARLIE LOHOF
DIVISION MANAGER

RESPONSIBILITIES

Project oversight
e Oversee and assist project team during
construction

e Ensure proper resources are allocated to the

project
e Lead on preconstruction efforts
e Lead on budgeting and estimates

Charlie will be available as needed in the
preconstruction and construction phases.

10 YEARS WITH JACKSON
11 YEARS INDUSTRY EXPERIENCE

EDUCATION

Montana Tech

BS — Mechanical Engineering

CREDENTIALS & CERTIFICATIONS

American Society for Healthcare Engineering in
Construction

SWPPP Administrator
OSHA 30
First Aid & CPR

USACE Construction Quality Management

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
MILLIGAN BUILDING| Miles City, Montana

26,700 SF | $15M | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION |
CRITICAL TIMELINE | HISTORIC | PUBLIC

HOLY ROSARY HEALTHCARE | Miles City, Montana

Multiple Projects | $23M |GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION
| CRITICAL TIMELINE | PHASED | OCCUPIED | SIMILAR
SCALE

CUSTER COUNTY SENIOR CENTER | Miles City, Montana

8,360 SF | $4.2M | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION |
CRITICAL TIMELINE | PHASED| SIMILAR SCALE

REYNOLDS MARKET | Glasgow, Montana

25,000 SF | $3.1M | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION |
CRITICAL TIMELINE | PHASED | OCCUPIED

MILES CITY FIRE HALL| Miles City, Montana

18,000 SF | $5M | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION |
CRITICAL TIMELINE |PUBLIC/CITY PROJECT




AMY LESH

PROJECT MANAGER

RESPONSIBILITIES

Preconstruction assistance
e Identify Owner milestone

e Manage trend estimates and project budget

e Document control
e Design review and coordination

e (Clear communication with Owner and Design

Team

Amy is ready to begin preconstruction immediately!

She will be 100% committed to this project.

6 YEARS WITH JACKSON
6 YEARS INDUSTRY EXPERIENCE

EDUCATION

Montana State University

BS — Construction Engineering Technology

CREDENTIALS & CERTIFICATIONS

American Society for Healthcare Engineering
in Construction

SWPPP Administrator
OSHA 30
Fall Protection

First Aid & CPR

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
CUSTER COUNTY FIRE HALL | Miles City, Montana

7,600 SF | $1,775,762 | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION |
CRITICAL TIMELINE | PHASED

HOLY ROSARY HEALTHCARE | Miles City, Montana

Multiple Projects | $9,128,105 |GC/CM |
PRECONSTRUCTION | CRITICAL TIMELINE | PHASED |
OCCUPIED | SIMILAR SCALE

DNRC - EASTERN LAND OFFICE | Miles City, Montana

6,000 SF | $4,613,324 | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION |
CRITICAL TIMELINE | PHASED | SIMILAR SCALE

MILES CITY FIRE HALL| Miles City, Montana

18,000 SF | $5M | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION |
CRITICAL TIMELINE | PUBLIC/CITY PROJECT




KEN STENERSON

PROJECT SUPERINTENDENT
RESPONSIBILITIES

Conduct constructability reviews

e Trend estimating assistance

e Labor and equipment allocation

o Site logistics

e Identify, plan, and sequence work

* Project scheudling - preconstruction and
construction

e Overall safety and quality program lead

Ken is ready to begin preconstruction immediately!
He will be 100% committed to this project.

10 YEARS WITH JACKSON

20 YEARS INDUSTRY
EXPERIENCE

CREDENTIALS & CERTIFICATIONS

USACE Construction Quality Management
Fall Protection

First Aid & CPR

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
HOLY ROSARY HEALTHCARE | Miles City, Montana

Multiple Projects | $9,128,105 |GC/CM |
PRECONSTRUCTION | CRITICAL TIMELINE | PHASED |
OCCUPIED | SIMILAR SCALE

CUSTER COUNTY FIRE HALL | Miles City, Montana

7,600 SF | $1,775,762 | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION |
CRITICAL TIMELINE | PHASED

DNRC - EASTERN LAND OFFICE | Miles City, Montana

6,000 SF | $4,613,324 | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION |
CRITICAL TIMELINE | PHASED| SIMILAR SCALE

CUSTER HIGH SCHOOL GYMNASIUM |[Custer, Montana

14,070 SF | $2,692,657 | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION
| CRITICAL TIMELINE

REYNOLDS MARKET | Glendive, Montana

28,431 SF | $2,224,697 | GC/CM | PRECONSTRUCTION|
CRITICAL TIMELINE




PROJECT CAPACITY

TIMING

The timing of the Hardin Visitor Information Center fits perfectly for our 2026 goals as
well as our project team members. Our proposed team will be coming off of the Miles
City Fire Station project which completes in June. Our team is excited to bring their
collaborative experience of construction to a community landmark in Hardin.

The proposed project team and the Miles City Division have the capacity, capabilities,
and knowledge to ensure the Yellowstone County Courthouse Renovation is a success
for the City of Hardin. The current workload of the Miles City Division Office and

proposed project staff includes:

2026 2027
JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Miles City Fire Hall ~———

HRH RTU 11 E—

HRH Business Office =

Connors Stadium —

Wolf Point Lift
Station



PROPOSED SCOPE OF WORK

Jackson Contractor Group delivers over 80% of our work using the GC/CM delivery method, which is our
preferred approach. This method allows the entire project team to benefit from shared knowledge across
multiple disciplines, bringing the whole picture into focus through collaborative designs, construction
techniques, cost analysis, logistics, and schedules.

Jackson’s approach to preconstruction is built on proactive collaboration, transparency, and early decision-
making to maximize value while maintaining budget control. Our methodology centers on preventing costly
surprises through comprehensive planning and continuous cost tracking.

PRECONSTRUCTION SERVICES APPROACH

Our preconstruction services begin with deep stakeholder engagement to fully understand project goals and
priorities. We conduct thorough site investigations and existing conditions assessments to identify potential
challenges early. Our team provides detailed constructability reviews throughout the design process, offering
practical recommendations to improve buildability, enhance safety, and streamline field execution. This
proactive involvement helps the design team refine details early, reduces the risk of project changes, and
ensures projects proceed into construction with confidence and clarity.

PROJECT ESTIMATES & COST MANAGEMENT

We utilize Timberline software for detailed estimating and cost reporting, providing consistent and
comprehensive budget presentations. Our estimating process includes milestone estimates at predetermined
intervals—typically during schematic design, design development, and 50% construction documents. Each
estimate is accompanied by an Executive Summary that clearly outlines schedule considerations, project risks,
and key budget assumptions, followed by a line-by-line detailed cost breakdown.

Our estimating team leverages extensive historical data, current market conditions, and strong relationships
with local subcontractors to ensure accuracy. We maintain an “open book” philosophy where all cost data,
backup documentation, and project change assessments are shared transparently with the owner and design
team.

TREND ESTIMATING - OUR SECRET WEAPON

Between milestone estimates, we employ our proprietary Trend Estimating process—a tracking tool that
captures design options, needs, and wants in a comprehensive Trend Estimate Log. This allows the project
team to make informed decisions, prioritize additional scope, and know exactly where the budget sits at
all times. Trend estimates examine alternatives and costs of any option presented from any team member,
providing real-time cost feedback without waiting for formal milestone estimates.

All trend estimates are tracked and summarized on Jackson’s Trend Estimate Log, reviewed and reported
weekly with the entire project team. This transparent process ensures no surprises on bid day and enables
strategic decision-making throughout design development.

CASE STUDY | MILES CITY FIRE STATION

During the initial design development estimate for the Miles
City Fire Station, it was found that the design of the project
exceeded the overall public budget by 1.5 times. Through
upfront and early coordination and trend estimating the team
(including owner and designers) was able to make changes

ahead of the issuance of the 100% construction documents
that still met the initial design intent without giving up the
quality of the project. These efforts ahead of the GMP allowed
for the project to come in below the original owner budget.




TREND ESTIMATING | INFORMATION IS POWER

We have extensive experience investigating and pricing work without full design, with complete coordination
of subcontractors, collaboration, communication, and open-book transparency.

We use our trend estimating to track options for the project in real-time; tracking requirements and “wish list,”
or betterments, all the way through final bidding and GMP utilizing bidding alternates to get competitive bid
day pricing and maximize every dollar for the final GMP!

1. IDENTIFY 4. VALIDATE
The first step in our trend estimating process is In the validation step, we work with the design team
identification. We use a trend log to capture every and trade partners to make sure proposed changes
design change or cost-saving idea as it comes up. This are practical, fit the project schedule, and won’t
lets us immediately see how each item could affect the ~ create unexpected problems. We also consider long-
design or budget, helping us keep an up-to-date picture term costs and performance, ensuring any savings
of the projected cost. today don’t lead to higher expenses or reduced value
2. EVALUATE over time.

5. RECOMMEND

In the recommendation step, approved changes

are immediately reflected in our cost model and
integrated into the design drawings. This keeps
budgets, schedules, and plans up to date, ensuring
all stakeholders have a clear, consistent view of the
project.

In the evaluation step, we review each idea to
understand its real impact — not just its immediate cost,
but how it affects function, appearance, efficiency, and
long-term maintenance. By looking at it from all angles,
we make sure any change truly adds value and supports
the project’s overall goals.

3. TRACK

In the tracking step, we record every cost option, its
financial impact, the reasoning behind it, and the
Owner’s decisions in a dedicated trend log. This keeps
a clear, up-to-date record of all value
engineering discussions, ensuring
everyone stays informed and aligned
on budget and scope decisions.




Our company mission, above, is fundamentally
based in community. Jackson is proud to build
the communities in which we live, work, and play.

Jackson understands the importance of a strong
partner who can deliver a straightforward process
and superior end product for Custer County and the
Miles City community.

Jackson has extensive experience working with
public jurisdictions, from the Federal Government
to local jurisdictions like the Vaughn Water District.
Below is a selection of projects we have proudly and
successfully completed for city and county entities.

CITY & COUNTY
EXPERIENCE

CITY PROJECTS

BILLINGS PUBLIC LIBRARY City of Billings

CHINOOK WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT
IMPROVEMENTS City of Chinook

GRANT CREEK PEDESTRIAN TRAIL City of Missoula
HAMILTON JUSTICE CENTER City of Hamilton
POLICE EVIDENCE FACILITY City of Missoula

FORT MISSOULA REGIONAL PARK (CITY & COUNTY)

e Phase 1 and 2: 156 acre park with 17 fields, 5
miles of trails, 4 playgrounds, picnic shelters,
large pavillion, tennis courts, dog park, and pond

e Waterline Work

SOUTH RESERVE STREET PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE City of
Missoula

WESTSIDE PARK City of Missoula

VAUGHN WATER SYSTEM IMPROVEMENT Vaughn
Water District

MILES CITY FIRE & RESCUE

RIVERSIDE PARK IMPROVEMENTS City of Miles
City

COUNTY PROJECTS

BIG HORN COUNTY COURTHOUSE

BIG HORN COUNTY HISTORICAL MUSEUM
CUSTER COUNTY EVENT CENTER

CUSTER COUNTY FIRE HALL

CUSTER COUNTY SENIOR CENTER
MISSOULA COUNTY FAIRGROUNDS

e Building 36 Deconstruction

Building 35 Improvements

e Commercial and Culinary Building Renovations
e Commuter Trails

e Concessions

e Historic Plaza

e Maintenance Building

e Rocky Mountain Gardens and Exploration Center
e Site Grading and Utilities

e South Avenue Fencing Improvements
MISSOULA COUNTY COURTHOUSE

e Phase 1: County Attorney Office

e Phase 2 and 3: Office Remodels

e Phase 4: Asbestos Mitigation

e Phase 5: Courthouse and County Annex
Buildings Renovation

MISSOULA COUNTY ELECTIONS CENTER
MISSOULA AIRPORT RENTAL QTA



“Jackson’s true team approach, attention to detail and great work ethic make them
recognizable as a leader in their field.”
-Kent Bray, Retired Cushing Terrell Architect

CUSHING TERRELL EXPERIENCE

Jackson and Cushing Terrell have collaborated on over 25 projects
together since 2005, and we are currently working together on several
projects. There are no introductions needed, the communication lines
have been established, all our systems are known, and there are no
egos, only project goals.

e First Interstate Bank—Hardin

e Farmers State Bank, Lolo Branch

e BPA Kalispell Control House

e University of Montana Helena College Improvements

e Billings-Logan International Airport Quick Rental Car Turn Around
e Old Faithful Haynes Photo Shop Renovation

e Lamar Bison Ranch Power System

e St. Patrick’s House Improvements

* Fresenius Medical Care

e UM Champions Center

e First Interstate Bank—Miiles City

e The Springs at Grand Park

e Holy Rosary Healthcare - 30+ Projects

e MAFB Community Activity Center

e MAFB Youth Activity Center Upgrades

e Cushing-Terrell Missoula Office Renovation

e Deer Lodge Medical Center

e First United Methodist Church

* Florence-Carlton School Improvements

e Big Sky High School Renovations

e Missoula County Public Schools Administration Building

e MSU Wellness Center

e City of Bozeman Swim Center

e Jones College of Nursing

e First Interstate Bank North Reserve

e Florence Primary Care

e Missoula City-County Animal Control Shelter

CUSHING TERRELL MISSOULA OFFICE RENOVATION CASE STUDY

Renovation | 10,300 SF | 5 Month Duration

In 2018, Cushing Terrell (then CTA) trusted Jackson with their Missoula office renovation. The project was
broken up into three phases to ensure functionality of the office was not interrupted. The work modernized
the work space and let more natural light into the office. Scopes included interior wall reconfiguration,
finish updating including flooring, casework, and countertops, mechanical and electrical upgrades were also

included.

To help minimize the disruption to the occupied office, Jackson performed any noisy work before the work day
started and coordinated with occupants so meetings and guests were not impacted. As areas finished, Jackson
helped to move desks, files, and furniture before starting on the next phase of the project.




DELIVERABLES, TIMELINE, AND BUDGET
PROJECT DELIVERABLES

WTECTPIVA I Schematic Design Drawings

3/9/2026 , ]
3/13/2026 Bid Package Creation
Issuance of Preconstruction Service
2/3/2026 Contract
3/17/2026 ) .
4/3/2026 Project out to Bid
2/3/2026 Design Issue Design Development
Documents
4/3/2026 Bids Due - Owner to Collect and
Open
2/9/2026 DD Estimate and Executive
Summary
4/3/2026 Contractor to Review Bids for
4/10/2026 Completeness
. . :
2/11/2026 Design Issue 50% Construction
Documents
Contractor to Provide Owner with
4/10/2026 GMP Recommendation
0, . °
2/16/2026 It
Executive Summary
4/13/2026  PEVIFNTIEIE]
» . :
2/20/2026 Design Issue 95% Construction
documents
4/13/2026 QATEIEREYIS
95% CD Design Estimate and
2/26/2026 Executive Summary
. . :
3/9/2026 Design Issue 100% Construction
Documents

At every project milestone, Jackson will deliver comprehensive cost estimates, updated trend estimate logs,
and thorough constructability reviews. Jackson also provide procurement tracking to monitor materials and

equipment, and actively involve trade partners to ensure accurate pricing and informed decision-making
throughout the project.




DELIVERABLES, TIMELINE, AND BUDGET

PRECONSTRUCTION BUDGET

i. PERSONNEL BY NAME AND LEVEL OF EFFORT
e Charlie Lohof, Division Manager, 100% Committed to Project

e Amy Lesh, Project Manager, 100% FTE
e Ken Stennerson, Superintendent, 50% FTE

ii. DIRECT COST
PERSONEL QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE GMC
Charlie Lohof 40 Hrs $105 $4,200
Amy Lesh 40 Hrs S95 53,800
Kenny Stenerson 16 Hrs $100 $1,600
Stephen Thomas 10 Hrs $105 $1,050
Direct Cost Included in rates above
Subconsultants Not Applicable

Subtotal $10,650
iii. SUBCONSULTANT COSTS

Not Applicable

iv. TOTAL NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT

Jackson is proposing a ‘Not to Exceed’ maximum of $10,650 for Preconstruction Services.




REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS ~ FOR GENERAL CONTRACTOR / CONSTRUCTION MANAGER

ATTACHMENT A - Proposer Information
Proposer’s Information Form

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The undersigned declares that she or he:

e Has carefully examined the RFQ specifications

e |s thoroughly familiar with its content

e Is authorized to represent the proposing firm; and

e Agrees to perform the work as set forth in the specifications of this request for
qualifications.

PROPOSER (please print):

Firm Name: Jackson Contractor Group, Inc

Address: 19 N 6th Street, Miles City MT 59301

Telephone: 406-234-5565

Email(s):
charliel@jacksonconractorgroup.com

Contact person, title, email, and telephone: _Charlie Lohof, Division Manager

charliel@jacksoncontractorgroup.com, 406-234-5565

Proposer, if selected, intends to carry on the business as (check one):

|:| Individual (sole proprietor)
|:| Partnership
Corporation
When incorporated? _ 2000
In which state? _Montana
|:| Other (explain):

Page 15 of 16






RESOLUTION NO. 2428

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF HARDIN, MONTANA ADOPTING THE CITY OF
HARDIN SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS, JANUARY 2026

WHEREAS, the City Council (hereinafter “Council”) of the City of Hardin,
Montana (hereinafter “City”), has received a draft of proposed subdivision regulations
from the City County Planning Board;

WHEREAS, the City is authorized to adopt local subdivision regulations, per
Mont. Code Ann. 8§ 76-3-501 (2025);

WHEREAS, the City gave public notice of the intent to adopt the proposed
subdivision regulations, per 8 76-3-503;

WHEREAS, the City held a public hearing on the proposed subdivision
regulations, per § 76-3-503, on January 6, 2026 at 6:00 p.m., at the City Council
Chambers.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council that the City hereby
adopts the proposed subdivision regulations submitted by the City County Planning
Board and that the regulations shall be entitled City of Hardin Subdivision Regulations,
January 2026, attached as Exhibit A.

The Council further resolves that City officers and employees of the City shall
have the authority to make any actions necessary to effectively execute this resolution,
for the resolution to have full effect.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Hardin, Montana, and

APPROVED this day of January, 2026.

YEA VOTES NAY VOTES

CITY OF HARDIN

BY: ATTEST:
Mayor City Clerk

Page 1 of 2



EXHIBIT A

Page 2 of 2



RESOLUTION NO. 2430

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF HARDIN, MONTANA AUTHORIZING THE
SUBMISSION OF MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE COAL BOARD
APPLICATION IN SUPPORT OF THE PURCHASE OF A DUMP TRUCK.

WHEREAS, the City of Hardin desires to apply for a Montana Department of
Commerce Coal Board Grant in order to purchase a dump truck; and

WHEREAS, the City of Hardin has the authority to purchase equipment, subject
to the bidding requirements of Mont. Code Ann. 8§ 7-5-4302 (2025).

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
HARDIN, MONTANA:

That the City Council of the City of Hardin does hereby authorize Mayor Riley
Ramsey to submit an application to the Montana Department of Commerce Coal Board,
on behalf of City of Hardin, in order to seek grant funds to assist with the purchase of a
dump truck, and to provide such additional information to the Montana Department of
Commerce Coal Board, as may be required.

The City of Hardin agrees to comply with all Federal and State laws and
regulations and the requirements described in the Montana Department of Commerce
Coal Board Application and all other requirements.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Hardin, Montana, and

APPROVED this day of January, 2026.

YEA VOTES NAY VOTES

CITY OF HARDIN

BY: ATTEST:
Mayor City Clerk

Page 1 of 1



	Detention City Council presentation(1).pdf
	Big Horn County �Detention Center Update
	Why Big Horn County Must Build a New Detention Facility
	Where We Are Today
	Where We Are Today
	�This facility has exceeded its safe lifespan.��
	Chronic Overcrowding
	Band-Aid Fixes Made Conditions Worse
	Facility Cannot Meet Jail Standards
	Safety Consequences Are Real
	Officer Safety & Retention
	Legal & Financial Risk
	2020 Riot & Escape: A Compliance Failure
	DOJ Audit Root Causes Identified
	A Regional Problem
	A Regional Solution
	What a New Jail Provides
	Benefits to Hardin Residents
	Why Renovation Is Not Sufficient
	The County’s Legal Crossroads
	Call to Action
	Final Thought
	Sober Beds
	Current Situation 
	Alternative




